Carnegie Mellon University

CARNEGIE INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

THESIS

SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF Doctor of Philosophy

TITLE	Analysis of health and environmental risks as	ssociated with
	Marcellus Shale development	
PRESENTED BY	Austin L. Mitchell	
ACCEPTED BY TH	IE DEPARTMENT OF	
	Engineering and Public Policy	
	ADVISOR, MAJOR PROFESSOR	DATE
	DEPARTMENT HEAD	DATE
APPROVED BY TH	E COLLEGE COUNCIL	DAIL

DEAN

DATE

Analysis of health and environmental risks associated with Marcellus Shale development

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for

the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Engineering and Public Policy

Austin L. Mitchell

B.S., Mechanical Engineering, University of Dayton M.S., Engineering and Public Policy, Carnegie Mellon University

Carnegie Mellon University

Pittsburgh, PA

December, 2013

© Austin L. Mitchell

Analysis of health and environmental risks associated with Marcellus Shale development by Austin L. Mitchell is licensed under a <u>Creative</u> <u>Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 United States License</u>.

Abstract

The rapid growth of the shale gas industry has inspired questions concerning attendant apparent and potential short- and long-term health and environmental risks. My research examined three potential environmental and health risks.

(1) For the last half-century the Northeast natural gas market was supplied from major producing areas in Texas, the Gulf Coast, and Canada. Because radon has a short half-life of 3.8 days, the time required to transport the natural gas from these areas to the Northeast resulted in a low-radon product being delivered to homes. As the Northeast gas market transitions to locally-produced natural gas the potential for radioactive decay will diminish and the natural gas being delivered to homes will contain radon at higher levels. I assess the lung cancer risk for people living in homes with unvented gas cooking (approximately half of the homes in the Northeast) and heating appliances, which are in fewer homes. Data on the locally-produced natural gas radon concentration are limited, but for the modeling assumptions considered the radon exposure is predicted to be small compared to typical residential exposures, and additional annual population-level risk will likely be much less than the error in the estimate of annual radon-induced lung cancers. An excess lifetime lung cancer risk >10⁻⁴ is possible for high gas usage in poorly ventilated settings.

(2) High volume and locally-concentrated surface water withdrawals for Marcellus Shale development may pose a risk to water quality, aquatic and riparian ecosystems, and other uses of water resources. State environmental and interstate water authorities take different approaches to managing these water withdrawals. In the Upper Ohio River Basin, which covers the western third of Pennsylvania, the Department of Environmental Protection requires that all water used

iii

for shale gas development be covered by a water management plan. These plans stipulate the amount and timing of surface water withdrawals from each source as a function of annual stream flow statistics. Neighboring regulatory authorities and some environmental groups favor the use of monthly flow statistics instead, but implementation of these statistics in western Pennsylvania would require more data than are currently available. Because hydrologic data in the Upper Ohio River Basin are sparse, the use of the annual flow statistics is more likely than use of monthly flow statistics to prevent water withdrawals when aquatic ecosystems are under the greatest stress. The annual flow statistic might also result in fewer and smaller occurrences of computed ecodeficits under scenarios of development-related water demands in the future.

(3) Improperly abandoned and orphan gas wells threaten human health and safety as well as pollute the air and water. Pennsylvania currently requires production companies to post a bond to ensure environmental reclamation of non-productive well sites, but the cost of plugging horizontally drilled wells and reclaiming well pads is estimated to be at least a factor of 10 greater than the current well bonds. The economics of shale gas development favor transfer of assets from large entities to smaller ones. With the assets go the liabilities, and without a mechanism to prevent the new owners from assuming reclamation bilgations. In addition to increasing the bond amounts, individual well trust accounts are proposed based on a model from the coal industry. Pre- and delayed-funding options (a fee and severance tax, respectively) to pay for future reclamation are examined from the perspective of the taxpayer. The exposure of the taxpayer to these financial liabilities and to a future orphan well problem can be minimized with minimal impacts to the profitability of gas production regardless of which funding option is used.

Ph.D. Thesis Committee

Elizabeth A. Casman, Ph.D. Committee Chair Associate Research Professor, Department of Engineering & Public Policy Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

W. Michael Griffin, Ph.D. Associate Research Professor, Department of Engineering & Public Policy; Associate Research Professor, Tepper School of Business Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

M. Granger Morgan, Ph.D. University and Lord Chair Professor of Engineering; Department Head and Professor, Engineering & Public Policy; Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering and Heinz College; Director, Center for Climate and Energy Decision Making; Deputy Director, Carnegie Mellon Electricity Industry Center Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Andrew G. Place Corporate Director, Energy & Environmental Policy EQT Corporation 625 Liberty Avenue, Suite 1700 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15222-3111

Jeanne VanBriesen, Ph.D., P.E. Professor, Department of Civil & Environmental Engineering; Director, Center for Water Quality in Urban Environmental Systems (Water QUEST) Carnegie Mellon University Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to my thesis adviser and committee chair Elizabeth (Liz) Casman for her commitment to my success. Her patience and enthusiasm for teaching has helped me to develop as a researcher and communicator. Liz reassured me when I was overwhelmed, challenged my conclusions when they needed more support, and always opened the door to her office with a smile. I thank her for the countless times she set other duties aside to help me find an answer or to review a paper (too often minutes before a deadline). I am grateful for my time with Liz and for the positive influence she has been on my life.

I am fortunate to have worked closely with Mike Griffin, Mitch Small, and Jeanne VanBriesen. My earliest memory of Mike is when he helped me find my way around campus on the first time I visited. That day, like the last four years, has been a whirlwind and I am grateful for his continued guidance and support of my academic pursuits. I thank Mitch for his careful explanations and contributions to my research. His sense of humor and ability to engage a difficult statistical problem are remarkable to me. I learned something new every conversation I had with Jeanne. I thank Jeanne for supporting my research and being such a great teacher and mentor.

Granger Morgan's support was instrumental to me and my research. I could always depend on kind words via email or financial assistance to attend a conference. I also praise Granger for his leadership of the Department of Engineering and Public policy; I am a proud alumnus.

Carnegie Mellon is a special place because of the open-door policies and broad interests of its faculty. I am grateful to those who helped me find answers to questions, forwarded relevant articles, and created or shared opportunities. I recognize Jay Apt, Inês Azevedo, Lee Branstetter, David Dzombak, Chris Hendrickson, Paulina Jaramillo, Fran McMichael, Richard Stafford, and Joel Tarr as exemplary. Outside of Carnegie Mellon I also recognize Richard Sextro and Radisav Vidic for informative discussions and helpful input to my research.

My success at Carnegie Mellon began at the University of Dayton. I thank my friends, the faculty and, and the staff at the University of Dayton for the opportunities to develop personally and professionally. I thank David Herrelko and Donald Vince for their guidance and mentorship. I credit Kevin Hallinan with sparking my interest in the Department of Engineering and Public Policy and for connecting me to Matt Kocoloski, who ultimately sold me on the program. I thank Kevin, Robert Brecha, and Kelly Kissock for involving me in their research on energy efficiency, for their mentorship, and for their continuing interest in my success. I also remember David Larabee, my math and physics teacher at Ottawa Hills High School, for his inspirational lectures that led me to engineering..

At times it has seemed like information was the real commodity to extract and not the natural gas. I thank Andrew Place for participating on my committee and for creating opportunities that helped me understand the industry. I also thank Terry Durham and other people in the natural gas industry who were willing to share their experience and knowledge.

The Engineering and Public Policy administrators provide unmatched support to the students. My sincere thanks go to and Barb Bugosh, Patti Steranchak, Vicki Finney for their guidance and the support necessary to succeed in this Doctoral program. I also thank newcomers to the Department, Adam Loucks and Jaime Montgomery, who I have come to learn are always willing to help.

I thank Susan Ghoweri of the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection for explaining the well bonding program, Kristin Carter of the Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources for her help accessing well record and completion reports and Mohan Jiang and Stacie Lackler for their help digitizing them. I appreciate the guidance given to me by employees of the U.S. Geologic Survey and the assistance of staff at the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection's western regional offices accessing water management plans. I also thank the staff of the Inter-Library Loan office at Carnegie Mellon for fulfilling all of my requests in a timely manner.

I am grateful for my fellow graduate students for enriching this Department with diverse perspectives, positive attitudes, and their dedication to a brighter future. On numerous occasions I have been humbled by the support of my friends in the Department. My sincere thanks go to those that have helped me through academic and personal challenges, but have also been there to celebrate my successes.

I am fortunate in that I have always had a strong and loving family backing me. I thank my family for the gift of faith and for their constant encouragement. I am grateful to my mom and dad for teaching me the virtue of hard work and for expecting nothing less, and my older sisters, Lisa and Sarah, for being excellent role models. I also thank Keith Roberts, Laura Jamieson, Kent Creager, and Adam Scott for the joy they've brought into my family's lives, and for the interest in mine. I am grateful for the love and support of my in-laws, Daniel and Cindy Gresh. I thank them, and Holly, Haley, and Hunter for welcoming me to the family.

I admire and am in awe of my best friend and wife, Heather, who has been my selfless supporter. She has sacrificed so much for my success, and I am so happy to share with her this moment, and the opportunities it will bring. I thank Heather for being my partner, my motivation, and my redeemer. In the past four years I have learned many things, but what I will cherish most is the knowledge that I am married to a woman with boundless love and strength. Heather was my refuge in times of stress, and I appreciate all of the small things she did to make my days brighter and easier. I praise Heather's passion for life and for helping others. She is the greatest blessing in my life, and I am excited about our future because I know that whatever might come (Amazing Race?), there is nobody else I would rather be with. *I love you.*

My work was funded by the Climate Decision Making Center (SES-3045798) and by the Center for Climate and Energy Decision Making (SES-0949710), both through cooperative agreements between the National Science Foundation and Carnegie Mellon University; and by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation (Award Number 1625) in support of the Carnegie Energy Research Initiative. Additional support is from the John and Claire Bertucci Fellowship and the Department of Engineering and Public Policy.

Contents

Acknowledgements	vi
List of Figures	xii
List of Tables	xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Potential health and environmental risks	2
Focus of this thesis	7
Chapter 2: Locally-supplied gas for the Northeast: Is radon a concern?	
Introduction	
Background	11
Radon exposure and lung cancer	
Origins of radon in natural gas	
Measurements of radon in natural gas	
Exposure to radon from natural gas	
Assessment goals	
Radon in the Northeast residential gas supply	
Relevant radon concentration data	
Supply mixing and radioactive decay	
Model for average annual radon exposure	21
Unvented cooking and heating	
Dilution volume and air exchange rate	
Population-weighted exposure	
Cancer risk due to radon in natural gas	
Sensitivity analysis	
How "hot" does the gas have to be to exceed 10-4 lung cancer risk?	
What is the exposure under a worst case scenario?	
Discussion	41
Conclusion	43
Abbreviations	
Appendix	45
Assumptions for cooking estimate A	45
Assumptions for cooking estimate B	45

Assumptions for heating estimate B	47
Chapter 3: Performance of alternative regulatory approaches for hydraulic fracturing surface water	
withdrawals	48
Introduction	48
Background	49
Current approaches for managing surface water withdrawals	52
Estimating stream statistics at ungaged withdrawal locations	54
Streamgage data requirements for USGS Streamstats regression models	56
Analysis	59
Sensitivity of 10% Q7-10 estimates to number of years in the flow record	59
Sensitivity of passby flow to number of years in the flow record	60
Ecodeficit from underestimated passby flows	64
Discussion	67
Conclusions	68
Abbreviations	70
Appendix	71
Water use data and estimation methods	71
Surface water withdrawals in the Ohio River Basin	72
WMP surface water sources	73
Water demand for hydraulic fracturing in the ORB	74
Low-flow regions in Pennsylvania	74
Streamgages used in this study	75
Instantaneous flow measurement errors	79
Ecodeficit calculations	81
Chapter 4: Economic regulatory incentives for plugging and abandonment of shale gas wells	83
Introduction	83
The Saudi Arabia of natural gas and the Swiss cheese of Appalachia	86
Costs of site restoration and shale gas well closure	88
Pennsylvania bonding requirements on private lands do not incentivize reclamation	89
Transferring assets shifts environmental liability	92
Regulatory policy and financial assurance options	96
Alternatives to bonds	97
The impact of these regulatory options on the industry bottom line	102

Risks to the State	
Disaggregating environmental accidents from well site restoration and closure	
Conclusions	
Abbreviations	
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
References	

List of Figures

Figure 1: The sum of gross gas production from Maryland, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia (1967-2012)
Figure 2: Northeast average, minimum, and maximum monthly consumption between 2002 and 2011
Figure 3: Distribution of cooking times comparing cooking estimates A and B
Figure 4: Distribution of the unvented heating population as a function of modeled heat output for a "generic" unvented heating appliance
Figure 5: Distribution of the daily unvented heating (hours per winter day over a 150 day heating season) with the "generic" appliance for estimate B
Figure 6: Range of excess population-weighted exposure associated for unvented cooking and heating gas usage models
Figure 7: Range of lifetime (70-yr) excess lung cancer risk for the population-weighted exposures associated for the unvented cooking and heating gas usage models
Figure 8: Sensitivity of lifetime excess lung cancer risk to model parameters
Figure 9: Distribution of annual average exposure for the 100% use of unvented heating scenario
Figure 10: Distribution of homes for which <i>Qother</i> could only be attributed to cooking
Figure 11: The 25% average daily flow (ADF) and monthly Q75/60 compared to the daily discharge value for Laurel Hill Creek
Figure 12: Locations of the 63 continuous record streamgages used by USGS StreamStats 57
Figure 13: Water management plans for surface water sources as of July 2012
Figure 14: Uncertainty in estimated Q ₇₋₁₀ statistics
Figure 15: The sensitivity of passby flows to of the number of years in the flow record length 63
Figure 16: The average monthly low flow ecodeficits estimated for the 14 USGS streamgages for monthly water demands of 150, 1,000, and 2,000 m^3/km^2

Figure 17: Approved surface water withdrawal rates for hydraulic fracturing
Figure 18: Highest 30-day water demand estimated for Hydrologic Unit Code (HUC) 10 Ohio River sub-basins in 2011
Figure 19: Low-flow regions in Pennsylvania for Q7-10 regressions
Figure 20: Data coverage of the minimally-impacted flow records
Figure 21: Graphical illustration of the concept of ecodeficit
Figure 22: The average monthly typical flow ecodeficits estimated for the 14 USGS streamgages for monthly water demands of 150, 1,000, and 2,000 m^3/km^2
Figure 23: Simple representation of a vertical shale gas well's anatomy
Figure 24: Expected gas production rate and cumulative production curve
Figure 25: Comparison of financial assurance mechanisms for funding a reclamation liability costing \$100,000 at time zero
Figure 26: Reported cumulative production of 294 individual horizontal Marcellus Shale gas wells that began producing after 1/1/2010

List of Tables

Table 1: Natural gas radon concentration data from Spectra Energy 18
Table 2: Assumed travel time by month of gas in pipelines
Table 3: The fraction of homes that cook with natural gas by RECS survey domains
Table 4: Types of homes that cook with natural gas by RECS housing unit type
Table 5: RECS weighted housing units that heat by unvented gas appliances
Table 6: Summary of parameters used in the population-weighted exposure model
Table 7: Required radon concentration (Bq/m ³) at the burner tip to exceed 10 ⁻⁴ lung cancer risk over a 70-year period. 38
Table 8: Parameter assumptions for the heavy use of unvented heating scenario
Table 9: Imputed "meals per day" for respondent-reported frequencies of oven use and <i>hot</i> meals.45
Table 10: Imputed "washing loads per week"
Table 11: Imputed "fraction of washing loads that dryer was used"
Table 12: Characteristics of water use by well type 51
Table 13: 2005 Estimated water withdrawals in the Ohio River Basin portion ¹ of Pennsylvania 72
Table 14: Select basin characteristics for the 63 USGS streamgages used by the USGS
Table 15: The percentage of daily discharges in the USGS approved record that were later marked estimated or corrected 80
Table 16: Gross revenue internal rate of returns incorporating financial assurance mechanisms

Chapter 1: Introduction

Distributed within the pore spaces of Devonian and Ordovician shale in the eastern U.S. are enormous quantities of hydrocarbons that can now be extracted by the use of unconventional drilling and completion technologies. With estimated technically-recoverable natural gas reserves from 2.4 to 5.9 trillion $m^3(1, 2)$, the Marcellus Shale ranks among the world's largest continuous gas fields.

Development of the Marcellus Shale has proceeded rapidly. Pennsylvania is now the sixth largest gas producer in the U.S., and production in West Virginia and Ohio is also growing (*3*). The movement of people, equipment and money to Appalachia and the extraction of gas from shale are having a profound impact on the region, particularly on the people and places closest to development.

The shale gas industry was booming in Pennsylvania when work on this thesis commenced in the fall of 2009. Media commentators described the flux of "landmen," geologists, and drilling crews to the Pennsylvania countryside as a "modern day gold rush." Development proceeded at a rapid pace despite unanswered questions about the health and environmental risks, and a regulatory framework unprepared to deal with them. Figure 1 illustrates the dramatic increase in regional production, particularly in Pennsylvania. It also explains some of the difficulties faced by regulators, whose regulatory capacities had languished in the preceding decades of low production and public interest.



Figure 1: The sum of gross gas production from Maryland, New York, Ohio, Pennsylvania and West Virginia (1967-2012) (4-8).

This chapter will provide some context of potential challenges associated with this development. The thesis will then focus on evaluation of three potential environmental concerns associated with shale development in Pennsylvania

Potential health and environmental risks

Discussions of the sometimes unintended and sometimes unavoidable costs of developing the unconventional gas resources of Appalachia provide the necessary background for this thesis. These are the negative impacts or risks to the land, water, and air that might occur and those that will occur in order to extract methane gas and liquid hydrocarbons from the Marcellus Shale and other unconventional reservoirs. What follows is a summary of potential impacts and risks that have been associated with shale gas development in Appalachia.

The establishment of well pads, pipeline right-of-ways, access roads, and other infrastructure required for developing and producing shale gas involves clearing and grading a minimum of around 1 hectare for the well pad but the total disturbance associated with each well pad (including pipelines and access roads) may sum to 3.6 hectares or more if "edge effects" are considered (*9-12*). Around 38-54% of well pads have been established in forest land (*11*), where known problems are forest fragmentation and habitat loss, particularly from pipelines (*13, 14*). With forest fragmentation, species of interior forest ecosystems will decline, while those that live in high grass and the forest's edges (e.g., white-tail deer) will benefit (*15-17*). Clearing and grading land also creates opportunities for environmental damage from topsoil loss and stream siltation because of Appalachia's topography and climate (*10, 13, 18*). Minimizing these costs requires effective storm water and erosion controls.

Contamination of drinking water aquifers is a risk from well drilling, casing and cementing, and hydraulic fracturing operations (19, 20). The quality of the bond formed by the cement to the wellbore and to the casing is a significant risk factor for the migration of fluids in the wellbore to underground sources of drinking water (21). Updates to well construction and casing standards in Ohio (22), Pennsylvania (23), and West Virginia (24) require the use of modern methods and materials. However, protection of drinking water aquifers requires keeping them isolated from brine- and hydrocarbon-bearing formations over the lifetime of a well, which requires not only successful installation, but also diligent monitoring and maintenance (21). Questions remain about the causes of elevated methane in private drinking water wells close to development. This association has been reported in studies conducted by Duke University in

3

2011 and 2013, which included 60 and 141 water wells, respectively (25, 26). A report conducted in 2012 by The Pennsylvania State University, reported no association in 233 water wells (27). A study by GSI Environmental and Cabot Oil & Gas published in 2013 found that methane to be common in pre-drilling tests of 1,701 private water wells, and thus finding other explanations for the occurrence of methane (28).

Additional concerns for drinking water aquifers center on the possibility that hydraulic fracturing in the vicinity of existing hydraulic connections (i.e., natural fractures in the overlying geologic strata or an existing oil/gas well) may provide additional pathways for contamination. Warner et al. (2013) suggested the existence of conductive pathways between deep formations and drinking water aquifers from relationships in the geochemical data from 426 shallow water wells in northeastern Pennsylvania and 83 northern Appalachian brine samples. In a letter response, Engelder asserted that capillary tension and subsequent imbibition of liquids to the shale made hydraulic fracturing an unlikely source for contamination on "human time scales" (29). Warner et al. presented contrasting data in their reply to Engelder and suggest this remain an open question (30). In southwestern Pennsylvania, the National Energy Technology Laboratory (part of the Department of Energy) mixed perfluorocarbon tracers with the hydraulic fracturing fluid being injected into the Marcellus Shale. In eight months of observation, the produced gas from two conventional gas wells (producing from reservoirs above the Marcellus) showed none of the tracers (31). Study limitations are that only one site was examined and the tracers were not injected in the beginning hydraulic fracturing stages.

There is also potential for contamination of drinking water supplies when hydraulic fracturing interacts with existing wellbores, which has already occurred on multiple occasions (*32, 33*). These interactions amount to a short-circuiting of the "frac" barriers, which are the

overlying geologic strata that limit the propagation of fractures during the hydraulic fracturing process. With hundreds of thousands of wells in Pennsylvania, most of which are unknown in location and depth, the opportunities are abundant. Vertical separation between the horizontal wellbore and the bottom-hole of nearby conventional wells is a key risk factor (*21*). However, thousands of wells have been drilled to the Oriskany formation, which is below the Marcellus Shale (*34*). Worth noting is a trend towards hydraulic fracturing in shallower (non-Marcellus) formations, where the vertical separation to Pennsylvania's shallow conventional wells will be much less or zero (*35*).

For each well that is hydraulically-fractured, the production, handling, and disposal of wastewater will be a potential issue until a well is permanently plugged and abandoned (*36*). Though leaks and spills are unavoidable, steps can be taken to minimize the frequency of spills and their impact (*12*, *13*, *37*, *38*). After two attempts, first at municipal treatment plants and later at industrial treatment facilities, we now know that the metal-rich radioactive brine generated from well completion and gas production cannot be safely discharged to rivers with only partial treatment (*18*, *39-43*). In Pennsylvania, new effluent standards for total dissolved solids (*44*) and voluntary restrictions accepted by the largest gas industry players (*45*) spurred the high rates of wastewater reuse (>90%) in the field today (*20*) and interest in advanced treatment technologies (*46*). This has been a positive development by reducing how much wastewater is generated and how much freshwater is consumed for hydraulic fracturing. Deep well injection of industry-generated waste can be a means for permanent geologic sequestration. However, recent earthquakes caused by an injection site in Ohio demonstrate the potential for geologic instability if injection locations and pumping rates are not carefully controlled (*47*, *48*).

There are potential health and environmental risks associated with the generation and disposal of radioactive waste, particularly that which has been concentrated, known as technically-enhanced naturally occurring radioactive material. Radium can occur in elevated concentrations in drill cuttings, and is dissolved in produced water and in the sludge of metals that settle from it (49-51). Disposal of drill cuttings and sludge now accounts for 10% of all radiation alarms at Pennsylvania landfills (52), but for individual landfills the frequency can be much higher (53). The highest radium concentrations have been found in the dewatered sludge cakes generated by industrial water treatment facilities; in some cases at levels requiring U.S. Department of Transportation Hazardous Materials Regulations (52). Elevated radium was also found in the streambed downstream of a facility that accepted and only partially treated wastewater (54). Radioactive lead and polonium will also be present, usually as a film, on the interior surfaces of pipes, valves, and compressors, etc. used to move natural gas due to the decay of radon mixed with the gas (55, 56). The Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection is engaged in measurement of radioactivity generated throughout the gas production and transmission processes (57).

Air pollutants such as fine particulate matter, sulfur oxides, nitrous oxides, carbon dioxide, and volatile organic compounds come from fossil fuel combustion, including the engines of vehicles, generators, pumps, compressors used by the industry. A majority of the emissions come from ongoing gas production and compression activities, which are expected to be long-term sources (*58*). Emissions of volatile organic compounds and nitrous oxides lead to the formation of ozone, which is a hazard to human health. Roy *et al.*(2013) projected that Marcellus Shale development might be responsible for 12% of these ozone-forming emissions in 2020, but this did not account for likely changes to the emissions in other sectors where the use

6

of natural gas lowers these emissions i.e. coal power generation (59). A positive trend in the industry is the use natural gas as the combustion fuel in place of diesel (60). Volatile organic compounds, hazardous air pollutants, and methane emissions during well completion are the target of new EPA rules for production wells that require "reduced emissions completions" beginning in 2015 (61, 62). Flaring is allowed in the interim. Additional emissions sources for volatile organic compounds during production are the processes to separate methane from produced water and hydrocarbon liquids (condensate), and the off-gas from the storage of these fluids (63). Hazardous air pollutants, such as benzene, are also present in the off-gas. Greenhouse gas emissions will also result from the production, processing, transport, and consumption of natural gas (64). Because the climate implications could be substantial, the quantification (and uncertainty) of greenhouse gas emissions associated with shale gas development an important subject area (65-68). Recent results from an ongoing study of methane emissions in the natural gas industry measured upstream emissions much lower than previously cited estimates (69).

Focus of this thesis

The efforts just described have improved our understanding of the most salient health and environmental risks associated with shale gas development in Appalachia. There have also been beneficial changes to the regulatory framework, and new financial and informational resources have been made available to state agencies and to the public. The analyses that comprise the body of this thesis address potential risks that have not yet been observed at a large scale but that could manifest in the future. These are the lung cancer risks due to radon in natural gas, water resources risks from surface water withdrawals, and the risks of underfunding future reclamation liabilities.

In the first analysis, the question of whether radon in natural gas will pose a health risk is raised. Though trace levels of radon are common in natural gas, the emergence of shale gas in Appalachia has changed underlying assumptions upon which past assessments this risk were based. Concerns that radioactive gas will be delivered to homes in dangerous quantities have contributed to protests and social media efforts against the construction of new pipelines. In the last year, three advocatory reports have been published on the radiation risks from Marcellus gas to consumers in New York, but each leaves many questions unanswered. A potential future scenario where locally-produced shale gas dominates the Northeast gas market is used to assess the lung cancer risk associated with unvented cooking and space heating.

The second analysis investigates the adequacy of regulatory program covering water withdrawals for unconventional gas development in the Upper Ohio River Basin of Pennsylvania. The industry extracts large amounts of water from local rivers and streams to support drilling and hydraulic fracturing. Reports that streams were being "pumped dry" by gas companies led to concerns that drinking water quality and aquatic ecosystems were not adequately protected (70). In 2008, the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection implemented a program to manage this industry's withdrawals in western Pennsylvania. In this thesis the methods for allocating water withdrawals being used in the Upper Ohio River Basin are contrasted to methods advocated by other regulatory agencies in the region. The objective is to examine the adequacy of regulatory protections for water resources and aquatic ecosystems, given the state of the hydrologic data upon which they are based.

8

The third analysis examines the potential for a future orphan well problem, and the health and environmental risks that might result. Pennsylvania's financial assurance (well bonding) program for the reclamation of oil and gas wells, was enacted in 1984 and updated in 2012. The program is designed to incentivize regulatory compliance by requiring a bond (or surety, cash, proof of credit, etc.) from the well's owners that can only be released after a well has been satisfactorily decommissioned, referred to as "plugging and abandonment" by the industry. The economics of Marcellus Shale gas production and issues with the current program, such as regular non-compliance in the conventional gas industry, are examined. Alternative approaches that would enhance environmental protections and minimize the financial exposure of taxpayers to socialized environmental costs are advanced.

Chapter 2: Locally-supplied gas for the Northeast: Is radon a concern?

Introduction

Most natural gas has some level of radioactivity from the radon that exists naturally in the subsurface. Several authors have analyzed the health risks of radon from the use of unvented gas appliances in U.S. homes (71-77). Nearly all of the available information on natural gas radon concentrations comes from conventional gas reservoirs in southern and western states. Though it is not known if the radon concentration of natural gas produced from shale formations is higher than what has been measured in conventional sources, the proximity of produced Marcellus Shale gas to Northeast U.S. consumers means there will be less time for radioactive decay to occur in transit. For this assessment, the radon-related health risks for a scenario when nearly all of the natural gas consumed by the Northeast U.S. will be from local supplies is analyzed.

Radon is a noble gas. It cannot be destroyed by combustion and it does not chemically react. Radon-222 is also radioactive and when it decays, its radioactive progeny, lead-214 and polonium-218, can deposit on epithelial cells of the lung and produce a DNA-damaging alpha radiation that is associated with the development of lung cancer (78). The International Agency for Research on Cancer classified radon as a human carcinogen in 1988 (79). Furthermore, it has been established that lung cancer risk is in constant proportion to the dose (a linear doseresponse model), so doubling the dose doubles the risk, and so on (78, 80, 81). Other confounding factors to consider include gender and lifestyle variables, particularly cigarette smoking. The linear dose-response model for radon assumes no low threshold, meaning that there is no safe level of exposure. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recommends mitigation if radon levels are higher than 148 Bq/m³ (4 pCi/L) in indoor air, which is associated with a 7 in 1,000 (7x10⁻³) lifetime lung cancer risk (82). The outdoors, 14.8 Bq/m³ (0.4 pCi/L), and indoors, 48.1 Bq/m³ (1.3 pCi/L) radon concentration averages would therefore be associated with a 7x10⁻⁴ and 2x10⁻³ lifetime lung cancer risk, respectively.

Whether or not people use natural gas, they are exposed to radon at varying levels every day. Naturally occurring radioactive materials, such as radon, are present in the environment. Radon is constantly emanating from rocks and soils that contain the parent radionuclides. Most of the population receives their highest daily radiation dose from radon, and these radon-related doses are usually highest in homes. The major routes of radon entry to homes are cracks and joints in home basements or foundations. Other potential and often much smaller sources are building materials and well water (*83, 84*). Reducing background exposure and entry to homes is a national public health priority as radon is the second leading cause of lung cancer death after smoking (*78, 80*).

Background

Radon exposure and lung cancer

Initial understanding about the health risks from exposure to radon came from studying cohorts of people who worked in underground mines and, by the nature of their work, were exposed to radon levels well above background levels. The National Research Council and the U.S. EPA relied on data from 11 mining cohorts and laboratory animal studies (*78, 80*). These studies established radon as a risk factor at exposure levels more than 10 times typical residential exposures (*85*). Due to the lack of epidemiological evidence showing harm at typical residential

exposures, the theory of beneficial radon exposure (radiation hormesis) coexisted in epidemiological discourse (*86*, *87*). Nonrespiratory mortality risk due to radon have been investigated and determined to be insignificant (*88*, *89*).

In the last 10 years there have been numerous studies of residential exposure to radon and lung cancer risk. Krewski *et al.* combined data from seven case-control studies in North America and estimated a lung cancer risk of 11% (95% CI, 0-26%) per 100 Bq/m³. The excess relative risk was 21% (95% CI, 3-52%) for a subset of this population with well-defined exposure data (90, 91). Turner *et al.* (2011) used county-level radon data from the EPA (92) to study a cohort of over 800,000 people and 3,493 lung cancer deaths. A significant (p = 0.02) linear trend in lung cancer risk was found, indicating that exposure per 100 Bq/m³ leads to a 15% (95% CI, 1-31%) lung cancer risk nationwide. Turner *et al.* re-examined the data by geographic area, and for the Northeast (the only region with a significant result), the lung cancer hazard ratio was 1.31 (95% CI, 1.12-1.53) per 100 Bq/m³ exposure (81). (A hazard ratio is similar to relative risk, but hazard ratios represent the risk for a defined time period and relative risk is cumulative over a whole study. They both are ratios of disease occurrence in an exposed and a control population.)

Origins of radon in natural gas

Burial of organic matter, plus heat, pressure, and time describe the process by which methane and other hydrocarbons are produced (*56*). The Marcellus Shale has marine origins. The natural gas being produced today is derived from organic material deposited on the floor of an epicontinental sea between the Acadian Mountains and the Cincinnati Arch during the Devonian geologic period around 400 million years ago (*93*). Adsorption to organic material settling to the seafloor is the primary removal process for uranium in seawater (*94, 95*). Globally, seawater

12

sediments are the largest sink for uranium in the environment (*96*). The amount of uranium delivered to the ocean, sedimentation rate and organic matter production and preservation vary regionally (*97*). Favorable conditions for uranium enrichment existed at the time Marcellus Shale was deposited (*98*). The ²³⁸U concentration in the Marcellus Shale ranges from 10 to 100 parts per million (ppm) (*50*, *74*), in contrast to the global average concentration of uranium in shale of around 3.7 ppm (*99*).

The close association of uranium and organic matter means that methane-filled pore spaces in the Marcellus Shale also contain uranium progeny, including radon (*100-102*). Therefore, producing gas also means producing radon. Radon's longest-lived isotope, ²²²Rn (half-life 3.8 days), occurs after ²²⁶Ra in the ²³⁸U decay series. ²²⁶Ra is abundant in the shale matrix, and is also found dissolved in the produced water of a hydraulically-fractured well (*51*). If ²²⁶Ra is in solution, emanating ²²²Rn will partition to the gas phase (*103*). ²²²Rn emanating from ²²⁶Ra in the shale matrix could also enter the produced gas stream (*104-107*).

Measurements of radon in natural gas

Radon concentrations in natural gas produced from approximately 2,100 conventional gas wells in western and southern U.S. states across nine studies between 1952 and 1973 averaged concentration of 1,369 Bq/m³ (37 pCi/L) with a range of 7 to 54,000 Bq/m³ (71). Measurements of radon in natural gas produced from upper Devonian shale (non-Marcellus) were conducted for Eastern Gas Shale Project (EGSP) in 1980 by the Department of Energy (*108*). The eight producing wells near the border of West Virginia and Kentucky that were sampled had a production-weighted average radon concentration of 5,587 Bq/m³ with a range from 962 to 9,139 Bq/m³.

Rowan and Kraemer analyzed gas from 19 wells producing Devonian age gas in southwestern Pennsylvania; 10 of these were recent Marcellus Shale wells (*103*). The average radon concentration was 1,282 Bq/m³ with a range from 37 to 2,923 Bq/m³. For the subset of Marcellus Shale wells, the average radon concentration was 1,145 Bq/m³, but little can be said about the representativeness of these data for the >7,000 wells producing gas from the Marcellus Shale.

Wellhead radon concentration is only part of the story, as radon decays in transit from well to consumer. Radon concentrations in transmission and distribution systems serving Chicago, Denver, New York City, and the Southwest U.S. were studied in 1973 (*72*). A total of 48 gas samples, some duplicates, were collected and the radon concentration ranged from 18.5 to 4,400 Bq/m³. Radon activity was highest near Denver and lowest in New York City, where the highest radon concentration did not exceed 141 Bq/m³ across 18 samples. In 2012, the radon concentration of natural gas at eight locations leading to and on Spectra Energy's Texas Eastern transmission line was measured (*77*). The Texas Eastern line runs through Pennsylvania to New Jersey where it connects with the Algonquin transmission line that carries gas to Massachusetts. The highest radon concentration, 1,628 Bq/m³, was reported in southwestern Pennsylvania for gas entering the transmission line and the lowest, 629 Bq/m³, was reported for a mixed supply of gas in the main transmission line in northern New Jersey.

The most detailed studies of radon in transmission and distribution systems were conducted abroad. This included measurements to characterize the radon concentration in natural gas produced from North Seas basins (*109, 110*). Natural gas samples were taken from onshore transmission lines and radon concentrations differed across basins, from <50 Bq/m³ to 600 Bq/m³. Wojcik performed daily measurements of radon activity (average 235 Bq/m³) in a

natural gas distribution system in Poland and reported significant daily and seasonal variations, varying by as much as a factor of 2.4 (*111*). The natural gas radon concentration was measured at various points between production and consumption in British Columbia, Canada. The radon levels measured in 15 gathering systems covering an area <40,000 km² varied by wide margins (range 7-921 Bq/m³) (55).

Exposure to radon from natural gas

Any radon present in natural gas will also be present in its combustion gases. Unvented heating and cooking appliances release combustion gases into the living space. Natural gas ranges may be equipped with overhead mechanical systems that provide ventilation and/or filtration, but capture efficiency may be low (*112*). Even if exhaust gas is captured, systems that provide exterior ventilation are less common than those that simply recirculate the combustion gas through an activated carbon filter (to remove odors, smoke, grease, and steam) and discharge to the home (*113*). Some radon may be absorbed onto these filters, but research in this area is very limited (*114*).

Vent-free space heaters (e.g., gas hearths, gas logs, etc.) come in many shapes and sizes, but all are designed to keep the exhaust gases in the living space to provide supplemental or zonal heating (*115*). A small and decreasing number of homes may also have gas appliances with pilot lights that continually burn and do not vent to the atmosphere. Use of gas ranges for space heating has also been documented (*116-118*).

Johnson and Barton *et al.* estimated potential population doses from unvented cooking and heating using U.S. wellhead and distribution measurements in 1973, respectively (*71, 72*). Both concluded that the potential risk from exposure was small compared to background. Johnson

also calculated the cost associated with mitigating the risk, which he assumed would be through additional above-ground gas storage. The cost per life saved he estimated was more than \$100 million (71). Gogolak repeated these calculations in 1980 using radon concentration data from Devonian shale wells and estimated that radon concentrations in natural gas would need to be higher than 37,000 Bq/m³ for annual average exposure >12 Bq/m³ (74).

Three non-peer reviewed reports have been published in the last year on the potential health effects to people who cook with natural gas in New York. Resnikoff used a theoretical model to estimate a range of wellhead radon concentrations of 155-95,000 Bq/m³ and projected <20 to >30,000 lung cancer deaths in New York City over a 30 year period (75). In response, Anspaugh (77) and Krewski (76), published tandem reports in 2012 in support of Spectra Energy's plans for constructing a gas a pipeline to ConEdison customers in New York City (*119*). Anspaugh computed a 30-year lung cancer risk of 10⁻⁵ using the same dilution factors as Resnikoff, but using the natural gas radon concentration of 629 Bq/m³ measured on Spectra Energy's transmission pipeline. This concentration was also used by Krewski to calculate a lifetime (70-yr) risk of $1.96x10^{-5}$ for New York residents. A sensitivity analysis was performed that included radon concentration, size of residence, air exchange rate (AER), and occupancy fraction (time spent at home). The highest natural gas radon concentration examined was 740 Bq/m³ and the "plausible maximal exposure" calculated from it was associated with a lifetime lung cancer risk of $8.95x10^{-5}$. None of the three reports considered exposure from unvented space heating.

Assessment goals

Recent studies in this area present limited and conflicting views of the health risk associated with radon in natural gas. Resnikoff's report provided insufficient documentation of the methodology used to estimate the high wellhead radon concentrations analyzed, while the Anspaugh and Krewski reports were narrowly scoped and the radon concentration data they use to calculate risk should not be considered representative of future Northeast gas supplies due to ongoing infrastructure changes and growing local supply. The goal of this study is to assess the lung cancer risk due to unvented cooking and space heating with locally-supplied natural gas in Northeast U.S. homes.

There are four primary tasks:

- Establish estimates for the average natural gas radon concentration at the burner-tip of Northeast U.S. homes from information related to the radioactivity of locally-produced gas, supply mixing, and transit time.
- Model population-weighted radon exposure for unvented cooking and space heating based on realistic and, to the extent possible, representative appliance use and settings in the Northeast.
- 3) Assess the lung cancer risk and public health implications from radon in natural gas.
- Examine model sensitivity to uncertain parameters, and perform an analysis for subsets of the population that might face elevated risk.

Radon in the Northeast residential gas supply

The system of pipes, processing facilities, compressor stations, etc. used to deliver natural gas to Northeast consumers is complex and changing. For the producers and shippers of natural gas, keeping Marcellus Shale production local has favorable economics; however, reorienting the natural gas system to make this a reality will be a decades-long process as some of the largest infrastructure projects are still in the permitting phase (*120, 121*). ICF International estimates that almost 89% of New York City's gas supply will originate from the Marcellus Shale by 2030 (*120*). It is this future gas supply, rather than current conditions, that is relevant to this study. Below are found the assumptions used to represent this scenario in the subsequent risk analysis.

Relevant radon concentration data

A bounding analysis was performed to understand maximum and minimum population-level excess exposures and lung cancer risks. As a lower bound for the natural gas radon concentration, 884 Bq/m³ was selected, which is the lowest radon concentration reported from six locations where gas was being injected into Spectra Energy's transmission line (77), Table 1.

Location	Description ¹	Date	Rn conc. (Bq/m ³)
Chambersburg, PA	Dry, unprocessed	6/27/2012	1,021
Chambersburg, PA	Dry, unprocessed	6/27/2012	884
Holbrook, PA	Dry, processed	7/1/2012	1,217
Fort Beeler, WV	Dry, processed	7/1/2012	1,447
Holbrook, PA	Dry, processed	7/2/2012	969
Waynesburg, PA	Dry, unprocessed	7/2/2012	1,632

Table 1: Natural gas radon concentration data for six injection points to
the Texas Eastern transmission system (77).

¹Processed gas has been through a thermal separation process that can affect the natural gas radon concentration. "Dry" gas does not contain large amounts of heavier hydrocarbons (e.g., propane, butane, ethane) (73). The Spectra Energy samples were taken from locations where locally-produced gas is mixed (reducing the effect of well-to-well variability), but likely had not yet been mixed with non-local supplies. A shortcoming of these data is the limited geographical coverage of the sampling locations.

A radon concentration of 4,440 Bq/m³ was selected as the upper bound for the average natural gas radon concentration input to the transmission system. This concentration was the highest recorded value from the 1973 study of natural gas radon concentrations in U.S. transmission and distribution systems (72). The sampled gas stream originated from production fields in the Texas panhandle, west Oklahoma, and west Kansas and is higher than any measurement currently in the public record of radon in Marcellus gas.

Supply mixing and radioactive decay

The mixing of locally-produced gas with low-radon supplies (e.g., stored gas) and radioactive decay during transit lower the radon concentration in the natural gas delivered to homes relative to concentrations at the compressor station. Figure 2 compares average monthly consumption (2002-2011) (*122*) with the most recent estimate for Marcellus Shale production in Pennsylvania (*123*). Annual production is fast-approaching the average Northeast natural gas consumption, around 48 billion m³ (1.7 trillion ft³), but the months with highest consumption (January, February, March, and December) might continue to exceed local production levels. Two alternative scenarios to make up the difference in supply and demand in Marcellus dominant future scenario are (1) assume that local production matches monthly consumption, and (2) assume that natural gas with zero radon content is drawn from storage (or imported) and

mixed with local Marcellus Shale production, reducing the average natural gas radon concentration in these winter months.



Figure 2: Northeast average, minimum, and maximum monthly consumption between 2002 and 2011. The solid line represents average annual consumption in the Northeast (*122*). The dashed line is the average Marcellus Shale production in Pennsylvania from January to June 2013 (dashed line) (*123*).

The time elapsed between production and consumption determines how much radioactive decay occurs in transit. Because pipelines are operated within narrow pressure and temperature ranges, the velocity of the gas (and thus the transit time) will be proportional to the throughput (*110, 111, 124*), which is equal to the consumption rate. Figure 2 shows that average monthly consumption in the winter can be twice the rate in summer. For February, the month with the largest average consumption, a range for pipeline transit time of zero hours (worst case) to 2 days was chosen, based on reported transmission velocities of 16 to 32 km/hr (*55, 74, 125*). Ranges for transit time were computed for all other months assuming proportionality to demand,

so transit time in summer months is roughly twice that of winter months, Table 2. Decay is estimated from the half-life of radon-222, which is 3.8 days.

 Table 2: Assumed travel times (days) by month for gas entering the transmission pipelines until use in the home.

	Modeled days between production and consumption											
Month	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Lower bound	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Upper bound	2.1	2.0	2.4	3.2	4.2	4.4	4.0	4.1	4.5	4.2	3.2	2.4

Model for average annual radon exposure

Exposure is the integral of indoor air concentration over time spent indoors. To estimate the average annual radon exposure from unvented cooking and space heating, the average indoor radon concentration was computed from the mass-balance (Equation 1):

$$C_{ia} = \frac{C_{gas}Q_{UV}}{V \cdot AER} \tag{1}$$

where C_{ia} is the indoor air radon concentration (Bq/m^3) , C_{gas} is the natural gas radon concentration (Bq/m^3) , Q_{UV} is the unvented gas use rate (m^3/hr) , V is the volume of all freelyconnected living spaces in the home (m^3) , and *AER* is the air exchange rate (1/hr) (126).

Equation 1 represents uniform and instantaneous mixing of radon in the freely-connected (i.e., a single compartment) living space. In reality, radon concentration (and exposure) will be higher closer to the source and lower in areas to which the flow of air is restricted, but, for the purpose of calculating average exposures in a connected space and across the population, this assumption is adequate (*126-129*).
The following subsections detail the parameterization of the exposure model from data collected in the Residential Energy Consumption Survey (RECS), which included a total of 2,066 mobile homes, single family (attached / detached) homes, and apartments in the Northeast U.S. RECS collects data on appliances and their use, home characteristics, and energy consumption (obtained from utilities). A representative sample of homes was selected by RECS through a statistical process and the results for Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, and Pennsylvania were individually representative, while remaining Northeast states (Connecticut, Maine, New Hampshire, Rhode Island, and Vermont) were grouped in a single domain. Each of the surveyed homes was assigned a weight based on the number of non-survey homes it represents (*130*).

RECS also calculated a non-linear multivariate regression of residential energy end-uses. For natural gas, the RECS end-use model is based on consumption information and survey data for gas appliances and usage. The 2009 consumption data were separated into space heating (SPH), water heating (WTH), and *other* components, Equation 2:

$$Q_{Total,2009} = Q_{SPH} + Q_{WTH} + Q_{Other}$$
⁽²⁾

where the main components of Q_{other} in Equation 2 include natural gas used for cooking, clothes drying, and/or pool or hot tub heating.

Unvented cooking and heating

The Q_{UV} term in Equation 1 is the quantity of gas consumed in a home that is not directly vented to the outside. For the exposure model this is the annual quantity of natural gas used for unvented cooking and heating.

Cooking

.

How much radon enters the home due to cooking with a natural gas range is estimated in this section. Natural gas cooking was reported by 47% of RECS housing units (130). Summary data for cooking are included in Table 3 and Table 4.

Table 3: The fraction of homes that cook with natural gas by RECS survey domains. "Gas-consuming" housing units are all homes that reported using natural gas in 2009.

	CT, ME, NH, RI, VT	MA	NJ	NY	PA	Northeast
# housing units (surveyed) that cook with NG	87	213	508	149	87	1044
Housing units (weighted) that cook with NG (1000's)	581	1060	4347	2279	1457	9723
% of "gas-consuming" housing units	51%	62%	76%	80%	62%	71%
% of all housing units	19%	43%	60%	72%	30%	47%

Table 4: Types of homes that cook with natural gas by RECS housing unit type. Single-family homes are considered detached when they do not share a common wall with another home.

RECS housing unit	# housing units (surveyed) that cook with NG	Housing units (weighted) that cook with NG (1000's)	% of "gas- consuming" housing units	% of all housing units
Mobile Home	6	87	86%	17%
Single-Family Detached	445	4240	69%	39%
Single-Family Attached	125	974	74%	54%
Apt. Building 2 - 4 Units	202	1764	70%	56%
Apt. Building 5+ Units	266	2658	72%	60%

The volume of gas consumed annually for cooking was estimated two different ways. Estimate A was based on reported frequencies for natural gas oven use and for *hot meals* cooked in RECS. For both categories respondents chose from a range of 3+ per day to less than once a week (conversion of qualitative frequencies to "meals per day" is documented in Appendix <u>Assumptions for cooking estimate A</u>). Since oven use could have been interpreted to include stovetop burners, and *hot meals* could have been interpreted to include microwaving, grilling, etc. (*131*), the maximum "meals per day" was chosen and 10,000 Btu for each meal was assumed. Gas ovens (and broilers) typically consume 10,000-20,000 Btu/hr while individual stovetop burners consume 4,000-12,000 Btu/hr. Natural gas volume was determined from the energy content of natural gas assumed by RECS: 36 Btu/L (1,025 Btu/ft³).

Estimate B for natural gas cooking consumption was derived from Q_{other} , an output of the RECS end-use model intended to capture all *other* uses of natural gas besides water and space heating uses. In 59% of the homes all of Q_{other} was attributed to cooking because the only *other* use could have been a natural gas oven and/or stove based on the set of appliances recorded in the RECS survey. About 3% of homes reported heating pools and hot tubs with natural gas, which consume a lot of energy when used, but since information about their use was not available, cooking consumption for these homes (35 total) was set to the estimates from A. For 30% of the homes Q_{other} could only be attributed to cooking and clothes drying, so natural gas consumption for clothes drying was estimated by a similar approach as in A (Appendix <u>Assumptions for cooking estimate B</u>), and subtracted it from Q_{other} to arrive at estimate B for cooking. Out of 309 homes with both appliances, the survey-based estimate for dry use was greater than Q_{other} in 46 cases and the estimates from A were used instead.

An upper limit for cooking consumption of 25,000 Btu per person per day was established (Appendix Assumptions for heating estimate B). The cooking consumption limit for estimate B effected 56 (5%) of the homes that cook with gas. Figure 3 compares the distribution of daily

cooking hours, incorporating each home's weight and occupants, normalized to 10,000 Btu/hr, for estimates A and B. Estimate B predicts more cooking in the population.



Figure 3: Distribution of cooking times comparing cooking estimates A and B, given as the percent of the population living in homes normalized to daily cooking hours at 10,000 Btu.

Unvented heating

A small fraction of Northeast homes use gas ranges or *vent-free* (room-vented) gas appliances for heating. RECS data for both are given in Table 5. Note that RECS does not distinguish vented gas room heaters from unvented versions, so Table 5 includes both.

Table 5: RECS weighted housing units (1,000's) for primary and secondary heating by unvented ga
appliances. The number of surveyed homes is given in parenthesis. The Room heater category may
include vented appliances, but all Fireplaces are vent-free ("flueless").

	Primary		Secondary			_
RECS housing unit	Cooking stove	Room heater (all)	Cooking stove	Room heater (all)	Fireplace (flueless)	Total
Mobile Home	-	-	-	-	-	-
Single-Family Detached	-	60 (6)	-	75 (9)	127 (8)	261
Single-Family Attached	-	18 (3)	3 (1)	4 (1)	-	25
Apt. Building 2 - 4 Units	5 (1)	47 (9)	12 (1)	-	-	64
Apt. Building 5+ Units	-	53 (7)	35 (4)	-	26 (2)	114
Housing units (weighted) that cook with NG (1000's)	5	177	50	79	153	465
% of all housing units	0.03%	0.9%	0.2%	0.4%	0.7%	2.2%

The data on unvented space heating are insufficient to be used as representative of the Northeast. Compared to the population-level consumption estimate for natural gas cooking, it cannot be assumed that the homes in Table 5 and related survey data are a valid representation of where and how unvented heating occurs.

Instead of analyzing the small number of homes in Table 5, the use of a single unvented gas appliance for heating was modeled in 1,074 RECS apartments and single-family housing units that used natural gas for >95% of the total heating load, but do not currently use natural gas for secondary heating. The assumption here is that all homes that heat with gas are equally likely to heat with unvented gas appliances, though local laws and building codes (*132, 133*), weather, and economic factors play a role (*118*). The 1,074 RECS apartments and single-family housing units that are used in this model represent over 10 million Northeast U.S. homes.

The output of a "generic" unvented heating appliance (btu/hr) was calculated from the volume of the space in which the heater will be operated. Guidelines published for New York by the *vent-free* industry recommend sizing vent-free heaters to approximately $140 \frac{Btu}{hr \cdot m^3}$ in "average" construction homes (*134*). The total volume of the heated space (m^3) was estimated by multiplying floor area of the heated space (from RECS) by 2.5 m (3.5 m if high/cathedral ceilings were indicated). The volume of the space where the heater will be operated was assumed to be 1/5 of the total heated space (see the Hearth, Patio & Barbecue Association's "Fuel Efficiency Calculator for Zone Heating"). For 15 housing units the output was capped at 40,000 Btu/hr because larger vent-free heaters are not allowed in residential settings (*133*). The distribution of modeled outputs relative to the population is shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Distribution of the unvented heating population as a function of modeled heat output for a "generic" unvented heating appliance. For 78% of people in the Northeast the estimated output is less than 20,000 Btu/hr. The average outputs for single-family homes and apartments were 16,000 and 10,500 Btu/hr, respectively.

As before, gas consumption for unvented space heating was estimated two ways. Estimate A is intended to represent intermittent use of unvented heating over a 150 day heating season. This

assumes the unvented heating appliance is used 52 days a year for 2.6 hours, which were the average values for gas fireplace use in a 2011 survey of U.S. homes (*115*).

Francisco and Gordon evaluated air quality in 30 Chicago-area homes (29 single-family and one condominium) that used *vent-free* gas fireplaces (*128*). For one home it was the sole heating source. Over a 3-4 day period, fourteen of the homes ran their fireplaces for at least 2 hours continuously and five were used for at least 4 hours continuously. Important findings are that unvented heating appliances were not being used according to manufacturers' guidelines and that locating an unvented heating appliance in the same room as the thermostat for a primary heating device leads to greater unvented appliance use (by preventing the primary heater from running).

Data related to unvented heating with cooking stoves are sparse. Fifty percent of respondents in a 1981 survey of 118 New York City apartments (90 rent-subsidized) reported using their natural gas ranges for heating, of which 46% reported "frequent" to "constant" use in the winter (*116*). Out of 79 homes surveyed in three Boston housing projects, 27% reported heating with a gas range, but usage information was not collected (*117*).

Estimate B is a model of supplemental or zonal heating using an unvented gas appliance. In general, supplemental heating involves targeting heat delivery to the most-used portion of the living space (e.g., family room). This allows for the output of the primary heating system to be reduced, and presumably lowers the heating bill. Marketing materials from the manufacturers of *vent-free* gas heaters claim a 10 to 40% savings in primary energy consumption (*135, 136*).

The supplemental heating energy use for estimate B was based on this claim of 40% savings of primary energy to simulate regular wintertime use of unvented space heating appliances. The annual Btu consumed by the "generic" unvented appliance for estimate B was determined by Equation 3. This simplistic approach assumes that 1/5 of the heating energy saved, after adjusting for primary appliance efficiency, will need to be replaced by the "generic" unvented appliance:

$$Q_{UV} = \frac{\frac{1}{5}(40\% \, Q_{SPH} \cdot \eta_P)}{\eta_{UV}} \tag{3}$$

where Q_{SPH} is the RECS end-use estimate for natural gas space heating in 2009 in Btu/yr, η_P is the efficiency of the primary natural gas heating appliance (AFUE 0.7-0.95 depending on equipment age, Appendix <u>Assumptions for heating estimate B</u>), and η_{UV} is the efficiency of the "generic" unvented appliance, assumed to be 99%.

In estimate B, the average runtime of a "generic" unvented heater would be 3.4 hours per day over a 150 day heating season, Figure 5. Average runtime over the heating season for estimate A is less than 1 hour per day, which is nearly equivalent to a 10% reduction in primary heating under Equation 3.



Figure 5: Distribution of the daily unvented heating (hours per winter day over a 150 day heating season) with the "generic" appliance for estimate B. As modeled, more than half of the population lives in homes with less than 2.5 hours of daily unvented heating.

Dilution volume and air exchange rate

The denominator in Equation 1 describes the dilution of radon in a freely-connected space. The *V* term is the volume of the space in which dilution occurs and was calculated from the product of total floor area (from RECS) and an average ceiling height of 2.5 m (3.5 m for high/cathedral ceilings). For unvented gas heating, the floor area of the heated space was used instead of the total.

Two cases for dilution volume were analyzed. The first assumed dilution over the whole volume of the freely-connected space. The second represented restricted air flow to some of the interior space in single-family homes because dilution of radon over the whole (or heated) house volume can be a poor assumption (137). The closure of interior doors and vertical temperature differences ("stack effect") in multi-story homes impede air movement (138-140). Therefore, in single family homes exposure from cooking was calculated as if dilution only occurred on a single level of the home (V divided by number of stories). For exposure from unvented heating, V was assumed to be 1/5 of the heated volume to simulate zonal heating. No changes to the V term were modeled for apartments.

The *AER* term in Equation 1 is the air exchange rate. It describes the rate at which air inside the home is replaced with air from outside of the home. AER depends on weather, home characteristics (e.g., leaky windows), and the behavior of occupants, all of which vary in time and space (*141-144*). The portion of AER due to infiltration, air leaking into and out of a home through cracks and gaps in its exterior, was included in the exposure model. The *AER* term did not include natural ventilation (e.g., opening a window) or mechanical ventilation (e.g., attic fan).

Empirical AER distributions developed by Murray and Burmaster (1995) in the exposure model were used (145). Separate empirical distributions exist for specific climate regions and seasons. The bounds chosen were the average annual AER \pm 1 standard deviation for cooking, and the average winter (Dec-Feb) AER \pm 1 standard deviation for unvented gas heating. Note that in order to use the empirical distributions, which are developed for climate regions, it was assumed that all RECS housing units in the New York State were in Murray and Burmaster "Region 2," while "Region 1" was assumed for all RECS housing units in the multi-state domain that included CT, MA, ME, NH, RI, and VT.

Population-weighted exposure

For each home in RECS with modeled gas usage (either unvented cooking or heating), Equation 1 was used to estimate the average indoor air radon concentration and exposure. From the previous sections, the uncertain variables are natural gas radon concentration, supply mixing, transit time, gas usage for unvented cooking and heating, and the air exchange rate. Table 6 summarizes the ranges that were assumed for each of the uncertain parameters.

Parameter	low estimate	high estimate	notes
Radon concentration (Bq/m ³)	884	4,440	Anspaugh, 2012; Barton <i>et al</i> ., 1973
Transit time (days)	1	3	For baseline month, February
Supply mixing	Yes	No	Binary variable
Gas usage (M Btu/yr)			
Cooking	А	В	4.3-8.3% 2009 NE consumption
Heating	А	В	1.8-4.1% 2009 NE consumption
Dilution volume (m ³)			
Cooking	whole house	whole house / # stories	Only whole house used for apartments
Heating	whole house	1 / 5 house volume	Only whole house used for apartments
Air exchange rate (1/hr)	0.12-0.23	0.64-0.88	± 1 std. dev. from Murray and Burmaster, 1995
Occupancy fraction	100%	100%	Occupancy likely for cooking / space heating

Table 6: Summary of parameters used in the population-weighted exposure model.

While there is not enough information to do a Monte Carlo analysis, there is sufficient information to do a bounding analysis. In this bounding analysis, the effects of the uncertain parameters on the population-weighted exposure are examined. There are $64 (2^6)$ unique combinations of parameters in Table 6 for each gas usage model. Thus 64 unique estimates for exposure were obtained for each of the RECS homes with modeled gas usage (Respondents to survey for cooking: 1,044, heating: 1,074). Each of these estimates was then multiplied by the reported number of occupants in the housing unit and its home-specific weight (assigned by RECS). The estimate for population-weighted exposure is the sum of the product of people and exposure for each home divided by the total number of people. This calculation was done for each of the unique parameter combinations. The range for excess population-weighted exposure for each gas usage model is given in Figure 6.



Figure 6: Range of excess population-weighted exposure associated for unvented cooking and heating gas usage models.

Figure 6 shows that the maximum population-weighted exposure from radon in natural gas is less than 2% of the U.S. EPA action level of 148 Bq/m³ (4 pCi/L) for indoor air.

The exposure estimates in Figure 6 do not use the 70% occupancy factor typically applied when calculating exposure at home (80). For the case of radon exposure from natural gas, assuming 100% occupancy was the conservative assumption because a majority of exposure to combustion byproducts occurs during and immediately after the use of unvented gas appliances (126, 127, 146). Moreover, both cooking and supplemental heating are associated with occupancy, and at least one person is near source during cooking and probably more in an unvented space heating scenario. A related issue is that people near the source (e.g., the person cooking) will likely see higher exposures compared to people in another part of the house. The mass balance, instantaneous mixing approach underestimates this maximum exposure, particularly during combustion (126-128, 147). In a test house, Traynor *et al.* found that

maximum exposure to combustion byproducts from a gas range were underestimated by around 20% (127). However, higher exposure for the people near source was not incorporated into the exposure model because the lung cancer model is intended to be used for population-level exposure (81)

Cancer risk due to radon in natural gas

In 2009, 41,169 lung cancer cases were reported in the Northeast for a population of 55.2 million people. This gives an incidence rate of 65 per 100,000 (*148*). Using the 95% confidence interval Turner *et al.* (2011) calculated for the Northeast U.S. radon hazard ratio (HR) 1.12-1.53 per 100 Bq/m³, the lifetime excess lung cancer risk is computed for the minimum and maximum population-weighted exposures determined previously. Note that Turner *et al.*'s HR model accounted for interactions such as smoking. Minimum and maximum cancer risk estimates for each of the gas usage scenarios are given in Figure 7.



Figure 7: Range of lifetime (70-yr) excess lung cancer risk for the population-weighted exposures associated for the unvented cooking and heating gas usage models.

Figure 7 shows a wide range for the lifetime lung cancer risk for the Northeast population. The maximum lifetime excess lung cancer risks for unvented cooking and heating are 6.6×10^{-4} and 6.4×10^{-4} , respectively. This population-level risk is calculated for uniform average conditions over an entire population. However, the data show that a confluence of high use in small spaces with low air exchange rate is required in order to exceed a 10^{-4} population risk. It would be unlikely that such parameter combinations describe population-level risk (e.g., not every home that uses natural gas has low AER), so these exposure and lung cancer risk estimates are conservative.

With the highest population-weighted exposure modeled for cooking and an HR of 1.53 per 100 Bq/m^3 , <240 additional annual lung cancer incidences are estimated for cooking-related exposure. Therefore, it is not likely that radon in natural gas used for cooking will have a measurable effect on lung cancer incidence in the Northeast, where there were approximately

4,200-6,200 radon induced cancers in 2009, assuming 10-15% of all lung cancers are due to radon (78). A mortality estimate for heating is not possible because the actual population using unvented gas appliances for heating is unknown.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis of the ranges of parameters in the exposure model (natural gas radon concentration, supply mixing, transit, unvented gas usage, air exchange rate, and dilution volume) as well as the 95% CI for the Northeast hazard ratio was conducted. Lifetime excess lung cancer risk was calculated for the range of each parameter while the remaining parameters were set to mean values (gas usage, Rn conc., transit time, hazard ratio) and median values (AER) under the assumption of no supply mixing or dilution volume adjustment. Shown in Figure 8 (a) and (b) are the results for unvented cooking and heating, respectively.



Figure 8: Sensitivity of lifetime excess lung cancer risk to assumed ranges of model parameters. (a) unvented cooking (b) unvented heating.

The most sensitive parameters in the cancer risk model for cooking are the radon concentration and AER. Uncertainty associated with HR is also significant to the model. Supply mixing has the smallest effect on the exposure model for cooking. Dilution volume is the most sensitive parameter in the model for unvented space heating. This analysis shows that intentionally restricting interior air flow, as is required for zonal heating, significantly increases the lung cancer risk, in relative terms. The radon concentration required at the "burner tip" to exceed 10^{-4} lung cancer risk based on population-weighted exposures over a 70-year period was estimated. Table 7 gives the required radon concentration (Bq/m³) for each of the unvented cooking and heating models for two levels of in-house dilution using the mean and 95% CI Northeast HR from Turner *et al.* 2011 (*81*).

Table 7: Required radon concentration (Bq/m³) at the burner tip to exceed 10⁻⁴ lung cancer risk over a 70year period. The average HR for the northeast US is 1.31 and the 95th percent confidence range around that estimate is 1.12, 1.53). Two assumptions for dilution volume are contrasted, whole-house and 1/5 house (partial). A low bound for the air exchange rate is assumed in each case.

Hazard ratio	Dilution	Cooking		Heating		
(per 100 Bq/m ³)	volume	А	В	А	В	
1.12	whole	8,000	4,000	23,300	9,300	
	partial	6,400	3,000	7,600	3,100	
1.31	whole	3,100	1,600	9,100	3,600	
	partial	2,500	1,100	2,900	1,200	
1.53	whole	1,800	900	5,300	2,100	
	partial	1,400	700	1,700	700	

The required radon concentration is higher than recent measurements of gas entering the transmission system (77) for all of the cases using the low bound HR. With high gas usage, and low dilution pipeline radon concentrations above 700 Bq/m³ could result in a $>10^{-4}$ lung cancer risk, a level observed for gas entering Spectra Energy's transmission line.

What is the exposure under a worst case scenario?

Though not well-documented, there are people who use unvented gas appliances as primary heating (*116, 128*). If all the Northeast apartments in the RECS survey (484 total) are modeled such that 100% of their 2009 natural gas consumption for heating (Q_{SPH} from Equation 2) was by unvented gas appliances and all other model parameters were chosen to maximize radon concentration indoors (Table 8), then the exposure distribution would resemble that in Figure 9. (This is in contrast to the maximum amount of unvented heating in the population-level exposure model (Figure 5) for which 8% of total heating energy use came from unvented appliances.)

Table 8: Parameter assumptions used to model exposure in apartments forthe heavy use of unvented heating scenario. Radon concentration isassumed to be at the burner tip.

Radon concentration (Bq/m3)	4,440
Air exchange rate (1/hr)	0.12-0.23
Dilution volume (m ³)	entire heated volume
Occupancy fraction	100%

The resulting distribution of annual average exposure for all Northeast apartments in the RECS survey is given in Figure 9.



Figure 9: Distribution of annual average exposure for all Northeast apartments in RECS for the 100% use of unvented heating scenario. The results for three apartments were deemed outliers due to anomalously high gas consumption for heating (red bar to the right), which would only be possible if air exchange rates were significantly higher than what was modeled.

Figure 9 is skewed towards high exposure due to the fact that only a low AER was modeled. In reality, gas consumption for heating is positively correlated to AER (*149*). Even with this bias, the potential excess radon exposure in 70% of Northeast apartments surveyed would be less than 10% of the EPA's 148 Bq/m³ action level. It is important to note that exposure to other combustion byproducts (e.g., nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide) would likely be the greater concern with this level of unvented gas combustion and minimal air exchange (e.g., *113, 117, 126, 128*).

Discussion

Estimated excess population-weighted lung cancer risk due to residential unvented natural gas combustion in the Northeast is probably low, even when using the upper bound HR of 1.53 per 100 Bq/m³. As modeled, it is essentially smaller than the noise in the estimate of annual lung cancer incidence in the case of cooking, and presumably for unvented heating. The magnitude of the potential risk to human health calculated in this study is larger than what was found by Krewski and Anspaugh. The main reasons for this result include the use of higher radon concentration assumption of natural gas in the residential supply and the use of a Northeast-specific lung cancer model. At this time there is no support for the high mortality case considered possible by Resnikoff. Based on current information, it is unlikely that elevated radon in Marcellus Shale gas supplied to Northeast U.S. homes will rise to the level of a major public health threat. On the other hand, this analysis shows that radon concentrations known to exist in locally-produced gas are high enough to be a concern to the people who consume significant quantities of natural gas in small spaces with low air exchange rates. It is currently unclear how many people fall into this category.

In addition to the population level assessment, an extreme scenario of exposure was modeled: apartment dwellers who do all of their heating through unvented gas appliances. Even in these cases, potential excess exposure will be <10% of the EPA's action level (148 Bq/m³) for most apartments.

The potential excess exposures to radon in natural gas modeled in this study are very small compared to typical background levels in homes and outdoors. This result is important from a public policy perspective, particularly if the questions relate to the allocation of money for radiation protection. The individual perspective, however, could be very different especially for a person whose background exposure is low. The actual level of radon in natural gas pipelines is not public information. Without a thorough understanding of the concentration and variability of the natural gas radon concentration it is difficult to dismiss public concerns and to devise a measured regulatory approach to this issue. Concerned members of the public can take simple steps to mitigate the risk. For example, opening windows can increase the air exchange rate by orders of magnitude (*138, 150*), which would dramatically reduce any potential radon exposure.

There are numerous limitations to note regarding this analysis, but only those that might lead to higher exposure are worth mentioning because the lower bound for lung cancer risk is already approaching zero. The assumptions for the plausible range of radon concentration of natural gas delivered to the transmission system are based on insufficient information. With current information, the existence of radon "hot" spots cannot be ruled out. Also, while RECS is a useful source of data on Northeast homes and energy consumption, the data represent a small sample of around 20 million homes in the Northeast and certain features of the data are less representative than others. Whether the weighted value of individual homes and home occupancy rates are appropriate inputs to derive population-weighted exposure is unknown. Errors in the RECS survey and end-use model could also impact these results.

AER models, including the one used in this study to calculate population-weighted exposure, have shortcomings (*141*). The upper and lower bounds for AER fail to capture house-level variability and could underestimate exposure in homes that are very tight.

42

Finally, the excess lung cancer risk estimates in this study are sensitive to the HR. Thus, the main limitations given in Turner *et al.* also apply to this study, namely that their study was based on mean county-level radon data as opposed to more direct measurements in homes.

Conclusion

Natural gas being supplied to Northeast U.S. residential consumers will contain higher levels of radon compared to conventional and geographically-distant supplies that have sustained this region for decades. Even with more radioactive gas, the lung cancer risk is unlikely to be significant at the population-level in almost all of the gas usage and housing stock configurations examined for this study. Segments of the population, small as they might be, that operate unvented gas appliances in poorly ventilated spaces are likely to exceed a 10⁻⁴ excess lifetime lung cancer risk if the natural gas radon concentration is at levels already measured for Marcellus Shale gas. More measurements of the natural gas radon concentration are needed to rule out the possibility that it could be higher, which would have wider health implications.

Abbreviations

AER – Air exchange rate AFUE - Annual fuel utilization efficiency Bq - Becquerel Btu – British Thermal Unit EPA – Environmental Protection Agency HR – Hazard Ratio pCi - picoCurie RECS – Residential Energy Consumption Survey

Appendix

Assumptions for cooking estimate A

Documentation for the conversion of qualitative frequencies associated with natural gas cooking to "meals per day."

Table 9: Imputed "meals per day" for respondent-reported frequencies of oven use and hot meals.

Qualitative frequencies from RECS	Reporting homes: oven	Reporting homes: <i>hot meal</i>	Imputed meals per day
Not used (if volunteered)	78	-	-
Three or more times a day	44	90	3.00
Two times a day	75	232	2.00
Once a day	165	405	1.00
A few times a week	320	235	0.50
About once a week	143	33	0.14
Less than once a week	172	38	0.10

Assumptions for cooking estimate B

Documentation for the conversion of qualitative frequencies associated with clothes washing and drying to "dryer loads per day." The frequency of dryer use is estimated from the frequency of clothes washing. Consumption of 30,000 Btu is assumed for each time the dryer is used.

Frequency clothes washer used	Reporting homes	Imputed number of loads per week
1 load or less each week	27	1
2 to 4 loads each week	121	3
5 to 9 loads each week	109	7
10 to 15 loads each week	30	12.5
More than 15 loads each week	5	15

Table 10: Imputed "washing loads per week"

	Reporting	Imputed fraction of washing
Frequency clothes dryer used	homes	loads that dryer was also used
Use it every time you wash clothes	301	1
Use it for some, but not all, loads of wash	63	0.5
Use it infrequently	8	0.33

Table 11: Imputed "fraction of washing loads that dryer was used"

An upper limit for cooking consumption of 25,000 Btu per person per day was established because the result was an impractical amount of cooking. The data used to establish this limit are given in Figure 10.



Figure 10: Distribution of homes for which Q_{other} could only be attributed to cooking. Cooking "only" includes homes with natural gas space or water heating appliances. The other category for cooking includes homes without any other natural gas appliances besides a cooking range. The total number (n) for each category is given. The number of housing units that are apartments are in the parenthesis. The upper limit of 25,000 Btu per day per occupant represents the 95th percentile. The mean is 12,000 Btu per day per occupant.

Assumptions for heating estimate B

An AFUE was assumed for primary heating appliances depending on the appliance's reported age in RECS. The AFUE for appliances less than 10 years old was assumed to be 0.95, for 10-20 years old 0.85 was assumed, and for >20 years old 0.7 was assumed.

Chapter 3: Performance of alternative regulatory approaches for hydraulic fracturing surface water withdrawals¹

Introduction

There are numerous concerns about the impacts to regional water resources from developing the Marcellus Shale (20, 37). Surface water sedimentation due to erosion of well pads, access roads, pipeline easements, etc. may cause ecological harm (10, 18, 151). Groundwater contamination from methane may occur if well casing is not properly installed and/or maintained to prevent fluid migration (25-28). The potential for groundwater contamination by the hydraulic fracturing process from natural or induced hydraulic connections in the geologic strata overlying the producing reservoir has also been investigated (29, 152, 153). Though the risk of contamination via this mechanism is theoretically low with deep reservoirs like the Marcellus Shale (154), previously drilled oil and gas wells, which are common in this region, may short-circuit the geologic "frac" barriers (155, 156). The wastewater generated in large volumes immediately after the hydraulic fracturing process and in smaller volumes over a well's productive life may contain chemicals used in hydraulic fracturing as well as high concentrations of dissolved salts and heavy metals, including naturally-occurring radioactive material (20, 157). There are risks to ecosystems and drinking water quality from unintentional releases of this wastewater to the environment (e.g., leaks and spills) (18, 37), from illicit dumping (158), and ineffective treatment of wastewater prior to disposal (39, 159).

This paper focuses on the environmental impacts of water withdrawals for shale gas development and what is being done to manage them. Reductions to instream flows can adversely affect aquatic, riparian, and floodplain habitats and the biota dependent on them.

¹Austin L. Mitchell, Elizabeth A Casman, Mitchell Small, Performance of alternative regulatory approaches for hydraulic fracturing surface water withdrawals, accepted for publication in Environmental Science & Technology on September 16, 2013

Water withdrawals during low flow and drought conditions carry the most risk, but maintaining the stream's natural seasonal variability is also important for healthy aquatic ecosystems. (*160, 161*). Potential effects include the disruption of important stream features such as pools and riffles and diminished connectivity within basins. Withdrawal-induced temperature changes can also alter water quality and chemistry (*160-164*). Water withdrawals from degraded sources may be beneficial to water quality downstream (*165, 166*), but withdrawals from high quality surface waters can cause downstream functions to be impaired by reducing dilution capacity (*167*).

Water withdrawals are regulated differently in each of Pennsylvania's four major river basins. The Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (PADEP) has regulatory authority over Pennsylvania's portion of the Ohio River Basin (ORB) (*168*). The ORB covers most of western Pennsylvania except for the northwest corner near Lake Erie, which is part of the Great Lakes Basin Compact. The Delaware River Basin Commission and Susquehanna River Basin Commission (SRBC) have authority to regulate water withdrawals in the eastern twothirds of the Commonwealth.

This study evaluates the impacts of different water withdrawal management options in the ORB, a watershed that covers 40,500 km² in western Pennsylvania, contains 22,000 kilometers of second-order and larger streams, and four major rivers (Allegheny, Monongahela, Youghiogheny, and Beaver) (*169*).

Background

In 2008, the PADEP began requiring shale gas drilling operators to submit water management plans (WMP) for each hydraulic fracturing water source. Water use data were digitized from 233 well record and completion reports (*170*) from early 2011 (all of those

available in March 2013) . These reports indicated that more than 70% of the water used for hydraulic fracturing of these wells was taken by operators directly from surface water in Pennsylvania. For the first half of 2011, the SRBC reported that 75% of water withdrawals for unconventional gas development were coming directly from surface water sources in their basin (*171*). Water purchased from public and bulk water suppliers was the second largest source. Since these entities obtain the majority of their water from river and reservoir intakes (*172*), it is likely that more than 85% of the shale gas industry's water use was taken directly or indirectly from surface water sources. The third largest source was reused water, known as "produced water" (waste brine) that returns to the surface within a few weeks after a well has been completed (hydraulically fractured). Reused water constituted an average of about 12% of the water used for hydraulic fracturing from the digitized well record and completion reports; on a per-well basis, some reported 25% reused water use and others reported zero.

Table 12 shows that the average water use for horizontal wells approximately doubled from 2008 to 2011, due primarily to the increased measured depth of wells (which includes vertical and horizontal sections). However, the water-use intensity (WUI) (*173*) for both vertical and horizontal wells decreased over the same period from 32 to 14 m³ of water per meter of hydraulically-fractured formation, possibly indicating more efficient use of water during the hydraulic fracturing process.

Table 12: Characteristics of water use by well type, both vertical and horizontal, and estimated annual water use in the Pennsylvania portion of the Ohio River Basin (ORB) for hydraulic fracturing (Appendix Water use data and estimation methods). Water use intensity (WUI) is calculated from statewide hydraulic fracturing water use data.

		V	ertical wells		Horizontal wells				Estimated water
Year	No. c wells	o f 1	Avg. water use (m ³)	WUI (m³/m)	No. c wells	of 1	Avg. water use (m ³)	WUI (m³/m)	use in ORB for hydraulic fracturing (m ³)
2008	141	42%	3,900	144	35	71%	11,000	28	930,000
2009	155	63%	5,000	164	114	83%	12,300	32	2,200,000
2010	107	54%	4,400	115	274	73%	17,000	16	5,100,000
2011	54	13%	8,700	62	612	56%	17,500	14	11,200,000
2012	42	-	1,500	-	579	-	16,400	-	9,600,000

¹Estimated number of wells (by type) hydraulically fractured each year and percent of wells for which water use data were reported, as of March 2013.

In 2011, approximately11.2 million m³ of water was used for hydraulic fracturing in Pennsylvania's ORB, which represents an 11-fold increase since 2008. Despite this dramatic growth, water use for natural gas development in Pennsylvania constitutes only a small fraction of surface water withdrawals within Pennsylvania's ORB (Appendix Surface water withdrawals in the Ohio River Basin). Basin-wide comparisons, however, do not address the potential for water withdrawals to have localized impacts on water quantity and quality.

Where to source water can be a complex decision for operators in the Marcellus Shale. Consideration will be given to the consistency and chemistry of the supply, regulatory aspects, potential environmental impacts, and cost (*12*). There is no fee or charge for taking water from rivers or streams in the Upper Ohio River Basin, but costs are incurred in transporting water (*37, 174, 175*). This provides incentive to source locally and results in small rivers, streams, and creeks being an important part of the industry's freshwater portfolio in the ORB. Of all surface water sources covered by WMPs on file with the PADEP as of July 2012, approximately 60% of withdrawal sites have upstream drainage areas smaller than 518 km² (200 mi²), while 40% are smaller than 259 km² (100 mi²) (*176*). Small streams are often essential to greater watershed and ecological health, and are important to regional tourism and recreation (*177*).

Current approaches for managing surface water withdrawals

Flow statistics used by PADEP

The Q_{7-10} is a statistical estimate of the average minimum streamflow that can be expected for 7 consecutive days once every 10 years (*178, 179*). The PADEP considers basin-wide water withdrawals summing to less than 10% of the Q_{7-10} flow to be *de minimis*, which means that withdrawals up to this amount could occur on a daily basis, including during declared droughts, presumably without significant ecological effects (*180, 181*). In intermediate to large streams and rivers (drainage areas >500 km²) in western Pennsylvania, 10% Q_{7-10} typically exceeds what a single operator would propose to withdraw on a daily basis (Appendix: Water use data and estimation methods).

When the volume of the proposed withdrawal (plus other upstream withdrawals) exceeds 10% Q_{7-10} , withdrawals are still possible, but are subjected to a "passby flow" condition, which means that they may only occur on days when the instantaneous flow exceeds the passby flow at the withdrawal location. In other words, the passby flow defines a minimum flow that must be maintained in the stream for ecological purposes (*162, 182, 183*). For compliance with the passby flow, the PADEP requires entities withdrawing water to verify sufficient streamflow prior to commencing withdrawals.

PADEP varies the passby flow with the quality and designated uses of the source water. For exceptional value and high quality streams (*184*) the passby flow is 25% of the average daily

52

flow (ADF). This means that water withdrawals are prohibited when the instantaneous flow is below 25% of the ADF at the withdrawal site. The passby flow for degraded streams, such as those impacted by acid mine drainage, is set at 15% ADF (*180, 185*).

Flow statistics used by other regulatory entities

In contrast to the PADEP, the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation's (NYSDEC) Supplemental Generic Environmental Impact Statement on the Oil, Gas and Solution Mining Regulatory Program (SGEIS) and the SRBC's new low flow protection policy rely on monthly flow duration curves (FDCs) to determine unique passby flows for each month. This approach reflects the desire to preserve the natural flow regimes with respect to magnitude and variability, which shape ecological patterns and lifecycles (*160*). The NYSDEC's SGEIS proposes setting the passby flow to a value that is exceeded 60% of the time (the Q60) in each of the driest months (July, August, September). For all other months the passby flow is set to the Q75. For drainage areas smaller than 129 km² (50 mi²), the Q60 is recommended for all months (*167*). The SRBC passby flow rules allow withdrawals 70-95% of the time depending on the size, quality, and other features of the watershed. (*186*) A monthly Q70, the most protective passby flow, is reserved for small, high-value streams. The SRBC reserves some flexibility in implementation at sensitive locations (*186*).

Figure 11 contrasts 25% ADF to a "monthly Q75/60" passby flow for the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) stream gage on Laurel Hill Creek at Ursina, PA, a high quality tributary of the Youghiogheny River used for fishing and recreation (*187*). Under the 25% ADF passby flow, withdrawals can occur more frequently during high seasonal flows (winter to spring) but are

more restricted during low seasonal flows (summer to fall). With the monthly Q75/60, water withdrawals are allowed more consistently throughout the year. Though different in how withdrawals are distributed, both passby flows would allow water withdrawals approximately the same number of days in a typical year at Laurel Hill Creek.



Figure 11: The 25% average daily flow (ADF) (dashed line) and monthly Q75/60 (solid red line) compared to the daily discharge values (blue) for Laurel Hill Creek (USGS 0308000) at Ursina,
Pennsylvania between 1/1/2001 and 12/31/2002. Both passby flows were calculated from the discharge data between climate year 1942 and 2002. Passby flow equal to 25% ADF prohibits more withdrawals during periods of low-flow and allows more withdrawals during periods of high-flow than does the monthly Q75/60.

Estimating stream statistics at ungaged withdrawal locations

Operators have flexibility in how they estimate Q_{7-10} or ADF in their WMPs when the proposed withdrawal location is ungaged. They may use values determined from flow records at a more-distant streamgage, scaled by drainage area, to estimate a Q_{7-10} or ADF statistic, provided that the following are true: (1) the upstream drainage areas of the index streamgage and the withdrawal point are within a factor of three of each other, (2) the two drainage areas share similar geomorphic and climatic traits, and (3) both flow regimes are minimally altered by upstream withdrawals, diversions, and mining (*180, 188*).

Scaling flow statistics from an index gage by applying the drainage area ratio (189) is the simplest approach to estimating statistics on an ungaged stream. A study of streamgages in Pennsylvania found that this method of estimating Q_{7-10} resulted in errors on the order of \pm 33% or less in 80% of the gage-to-gage comparisons examined (190). The accuracy of the index gage approach could be improved using transformation techniques, such as base-flow correlation (191) or maintenance of variation extension (192). However, these methods require a sufficient number of overlapping discharge measurements at the withdrawal location and in the index gage's discharge record. Eng *et al.* compare the bias in these transformation methods (193), and found less bias when the overlapping discharge measurements include a larger range of flows.

The most common method for estimating Q_{7-10} and ADF absent an appropriate index gage is a web application hosted by the USGS (PA StreamStats). This application allows operators to predict Q_{7-10} or ADF at any point along any perennial stream in Pennsylvania (*176*). Predictions are derived from a set of regression models published by Stuckey (2006) that predict flow statistics from basin characteristics (*194*). ADF was predicted using weighted least-squares from the input variables drainage area, mean elevation, annual precipitation, percent forested area, and percent urban area. Stuckey computed a standard error of 12% for the ADF predictions. Separate generalized least-squares regressions (*195*) were employed to predict Q_{7-10} in five low-flow regions (LFRs) in Pennsylvania. The ORB in Pennsylvania occupies LFR3 and LFR4 (Appendix Low-flow regions in Pennsylvania). The LFR3 model uses the variables, drainage area, mean elevation, and precipitation. The LFR4 model only uses drainage area and precipitation. The standard errors for the Q_{7-10} prediction for LFR3 and LFR4 are large, 54% and 66%, respectively (*194*).

Streamgage data requirements for USGS Streamstats regression models

Only continuous record streamgages in which the natural flow regime has been minimallyaltered by human activities (including underground mining, surface development, significant withdrawals, or significant upstream diversions or impoundments) are acceptable for use in the USGS regression models (*194*). The 2006 USGS regression models for Q₇₋₁₀ and ADF employed historical average daily discharge records from 63 continuous record streamgages in or near the Pennsylvania portion of the ORB, all of which contained at least nine years of average daily discharge records (*194*). Figure 12 shows the sites of these 63 stream gages (24 of which are currently active) and surface water withdrawal locations named in Marcellus Shale WMPs on file with the PADEP as of July 2012. (*194, 196*). Flow records from 33 of the gaging stations contain no discharge data more recent than 1983. (Appendix Streamgages used in this study)



Figure 12: Locations of the 63 continuous record streamgages used by USGS StreamStats and approved surface water sources for hydraulic fracturing as of July 2012 (197). The 14 streamgages with 60 or more years of continuous flow record between 1900 and 2002 are highlighted yellow. Most of the hydraulic fracturing withdrawals occur at ungaged surface water locations.

Because the USGS regression models are calibrated using the flow records of streamgages that had been minimally-altered by human activities, these models should only be used to predict flows for other locations that are minimally-altered. The USGS classifies minimally-altered streams as those without extensive mining or and little to none upstream regulation (*179*). In western Pennsylvania, whether this condition is satisfied may be difficult to determine. For example, Pennsylvania only requires reporting of withdrawals exceeding 38 m³ per day on average (10,000 gallons per day) (*198*). If there are many small, undocumented withdrawals, less water might be available than predicted. Topographic, geologic, or other changes due to
subsurface mining and land use also disrupt natural conditions, particularly for groundwaterdominated flows characteristic of smaller streams in dry months (*199*). Figure 13 shows the extent of past subsurface mining in southwestern Pennsylvania. The effects of mining on groundwater flow are long-lasting, difficult to predict (*179*), and may vary over time (*200, 201*).



Figure 13: Water management plans for surface water sources as of July 2012 (197) from the Ohio River Basin (202) in southwestern Pennsylvania. "Mined out" coal areas and active longwall mining panels are indicated (203, 204).

Neither the index gage method nor the USGS regressions are appropriate for estimating flow statistics at withdrawal locations with significantly altered flow. Unfortunately, this has not prevented their use in WMPs. Altered streams require case-by-case assessments, but the methods for establishing the appropriate withdrawal conditions are beyond the scope of this analysis.

Analysis

Sensitivity of 10% Q7-10 estimates to number of years in the flow record

In this section bootstrap re-sampling (205) is employed to show how Q_{7-10} estimates derived from the log-Pearson type III distribution are sensitive to the number of years in the flow record (178, 206). For each of the 63 ORB streamgages with \geq 9 years of continuous flow data, the lowest 7-day average flow was calculated for every climate year in the flow record. From the set of the lowest 7-day flows, random samples were drawn (with replacement) to generate 1,000 new sets of 7-day flows for each streamgage's flow record. From Riggs (1980), the log-Pearson type-III distribution was fit to each of the generated sets of 7-day flows and 1,000 estimates for Q_{7-10} were obtained (178). The means and standard deviations of the resultant Q_{7-10} 's were used to calculate the coefficient of variation (CV) of the Q_{7-10} for each streamgage. Figure 14 plots the calculated CV's against the years in the flow record for all 63 streamgages.



Figure 14: Uncertainty in estimated Q_{7-10} statistics as measured by the bootstrap coefficient of variation, as a function of the number of years in the flow record. Each triangle corresponds to one of the 63 USGS streamgages used in the 2006 regression.

The Q_{7-10} CV's tend to decrease as the number of years in the flow record increases. Thus longer flow records result in more confident Q_{7-10} estimates, but the CV's for some streamgages with short flow records were comparable. This means that the lowest average 7-day flows may not have varied much over the time interval considered, but it does not mean that the Q_{7-10} estimates from short flow records are accurate.

Sensitivity of passby flow to number of years in the flow record

In this section the passby flow is calculated by the two competing methods (25%ADF and monthly Q75/60) with streamflow records of varying length and observe their performance. The data from the 14 streamgages with at least 60 years of uninterrupted flow record were divided into segments ranging in length from 1 to 35 consecutive years of flow. The passby flow

statistics were calculated from all such segments, resulting in a collection of biased passby flow statistics, whose performance was compared to passby flow statistics calculated from the full flow record.

The 14 streamgages with at least 60 years of uninterrupted flow record are from small and large rivers: four had upstream drainage areas under 388 km² (150 mi²), the largest drainage area was 4,165 km² (1,608 mi²), and the average was 1,023 km² (395 mi²). (Appendix Streamgages used in this study, Table 14 and Figure 12) The set of biased passby flow statistics were used to compute the fraction of days in each month of the 60-year flow record that days withdrawal would be allowed. For the 25% ADF passby flow statistic, that meant the number of days in the record exceeding that 25% ADF. For the monthly Q75/60 statistics, each month would have its own passby flow, either Q75 (the flow exceeded by 75% of daily flows for that month) or Q60. As with 25% ADF, the number of days in the 60 year record that water could be withdrawn was calculated. This was repeated for all 14 gaged streams. The computed fractions were organized by flow record length (1-35 years) and fit to a beta distribution. The mean and 90% confidence interval (CI) for days withdrawal is allowed were computed. The averages of these values across all 14 streamgages are reported in Figure 15.





Figure 15: The sensitivity of passby flows to of the number of years in the flow record length. The solid line shows the average number of days withdrawal is allowed for (a) 25% average daily flow and (b) monthly Q75/60 passby flows, and the dashed lines indicate the 90% confidence intervals.

In Figure 15 (a) the width of the 90% confidence interval in most months is small, even when fewer than 10 years of data are used to calculate 25% ADF. One explanation for this is that daily streamflow in the highest (November to May) and lowest (August and September) flow months is typically well above or below 25% ADF, respectively.

The monthly Q75/60 passby flows have more uncertainty in the number of days withdrawal is allowed than the corresponding estimates for 25% ADF. For example, the July passby flow of Q60 is intended to allow water withdrawals 19days out of 31 (60%), but the 90% CI ranges from 12 to 25 days when Q60 is calculated from 10-year flow records (a typical regulatory

minimum). In months with higher average flows (January to May) the monthly Q75/60 could limit withdrawals to less than 60% of the days at the 90% CI. The wider confidence intervals with the monthly Q75/60 passby flow are due simply to the fact that approximately $^{1}/_{12}$ as many daily flow records are used to calculate individual passby flows compared to passby flow based on ADF, which uses all of the flow data in a year.

Ecodeficit from underestimated passby flows

From the biologist's perspective, this uncertainty is important to the decision-making process if it results in the approval of water withdrawals that might actually harm aquatic ecosystems and water quality. In this section how monthly flows could be altered by water withdrawals if the passby flows have been *grossly* underestimated because of data scarcity (allowing withdrawals to occur on more days than intended) is investigated. This involves using the concept of a computed "ecodeficit," which is a dimensionless metric used to provide a quantitative basis for assessing the effects of removing water from a stream (207-209). (Appendix Ecodeficit calculations) In practice, ecodeficit is used to analyze water withdrawal scenarios (*160, 186, 210*).

Monthly water demands were derived from reported 2011 hydraulic fracturing operations in the ORB (170, 211) to function as prospective water use scenarios (Appendix Water demand for hydraulic fracturing in the ORB, Figure 18). This involved multiplying the highest number of wells completed in any 30-day period in each Upper Ohio River (HUC-10) sub-basin by the average water use per well (m³) and dividing by sub-basin (drainage) area (km²). Three scenarios were selected: (1) 150 m³/km² which represents the average of the maximum monthly demand rate for all sub-basins with at least one hydraulically-fractured well in 2011; (2) 1,000 m³/km², representing the highest rate among sub-basins in 2011 (931 m³/km²); and (3) 2,000 m³/km², a plausible high estimate compensating for incomplete water use records and other unknowns.

To simultaneously contrast yearly versus monthly passby flows and show the effects of streamgage record length, three examples of underestimated passby flows for each of the 14 gages were selected, (1) the 5th percentile of all possible 25% ADFs calculated from only 5 years of data, (2) the 5th percentiles of the 12 monthly Q75/60 passby flows calculated from all subsets of 10 years of data, and (3) the 5th percentiles of the 12 monthly Q75/60 passby flows calculated from all subsets of 25 years of continuous record. The 5th percentile represents a *grossly* underestimated passby flow and, for the purposes of this study, it is useful bound for the potential magnitude the problem, but it is not a likely outcome.

For each streamgage, altered flow records were generated for every pairing of the three monthly water demand scenarios with the three biased passby flow rules and the average low-flow monthly ecodeficit was calculated (Figure 16). The Nature Conservancy recommends that for basins larger than $130 \text{ km}^2 (50 \text{ mi}^2)$ the low flow ecodeficit should not exceed 10% (0.1) (*160*). Typical flow monthly ecodeficits were also calculated for the 14 USGS streamgages (Appendix Ecodeficit calculations, Figure 22)



Figure 16: The average monthly low flow ecodeficits estimated for the 14 USGS streamgages for monthly water demands of 150, 1,000, and 2,000 m³/km² subject to underestimated (5th percentile) values of (a) the 5-year 25% average daily flow (ADF), (b) the 10-year Q75/60, and (c) the 20-year Q75/60. The Nature Conservancy threshold of 0.10 is indicated by the red-dashed line. Low flow ecodeficits plotting below this line are considered unacceptable. The passby flow equal to 25% ADF (a) provided the most protection for low flows (June to October) even though only 5 years of flow data were used in its calculation.

Figure 16 shows that monthly water demand equal to 150 m³/km², the 2011 average, does not result in ecodeficits even close to the 10% threshold. However, in areas where development activities are concentrated, this average could be easily surpassed.

Passby flow equal to 25% ADF is most protective of monthly low flows in summer and fall, even when calculated from only five years of data. The monthly Q75/60 passby flow is the least protective if calculated with only 10 years of flow data. Even when monthly Q75/60 passby flow is calculated from 20 years of data, two of the withdrawal scenarios produced unacceptable ecodeficits in October and November, which, for reasons unknown, are not protected to the same level as other "dry" months in NYSDEC's SGEIS.

Discussion

In this analysis the focus has been on a set of regulatory standards applied to water withdrawals for unconventional gas development, and the circumstances that might lead to their miscalculation and subsequent degradation of ecosystems and water quality in the streams to which the standards were applied. The finding that only five years of continuous discharge data are necessary to successfully implement a passby flow based on the average daily flow is important because it is less than the typical regulatory minimum of 10 years. The recommendation that Q_{7-10} should be derived from a minimum of 20 years of discharge data is not new (*212-214*). Neither is the finding that 30 to 35 years of flow record are needed to for reliable statistics based on the flow duration curve (*213, 214*), though the Nature Conservancy recommends a minimum of only 20 years (*160*).

The USGS regression model (PA StreamStats) for calculating Q_{7-10} and ADF estimates on WMPs is not a better option. Potential errors from the use (and misuse) of these models can be significant. The error in Q_{7-10} predictions in western Pennsylvania is large (> 50%) and whether WMPs based on StreamStats information provide adequate low-flow protections is unknown. Furthermore, instantaneous flow data are required for implementation of a passby flow standards in the field. The current approach to obtain these data involves observing water depth from a "staff gage" that is loosely calibrated to flow (Appendix: Instantaneous flow measurement errors).

The potential uncertainties presented in this study are not currently incorporated into the approval process for water management plans. Ignoring this uncertainty might result in a miscalculated standard that allows environmentally-damaging water withdrawals to occur. The

flip-side of this situation is when the errors are in the opposite direction. Such errors could prevent operators from taking water at times when they would not harm the environment. Thus, both industry and regulators have a stake in determining appropriate and reliable regulatory controls.

Conclusions

The preceding analysis led to the following conclusions. (1) Given the large coefficients of variation for estimating Q_{7-10} from short flow records, a minimum of 20 years of record is recommended for calculating this statistic. A third of the available flow records in western Pennsylvania do not meet this recommendation. (2) The current passby flow statistic used by the PADEP (15-25% average daily flow) can be reliably estimated with as few as five years of flow record. This statistic is not as sensitive to the potential biases of short-flow records as monthly passby flow statistics. (3) Severely under- or overestimated monthly Q75/60 passby flows may result from using less than 20 years of flow data, but 30 or more years may be necessary to achieve a level of confidence comparable to that of the 5-year ADF. There are only 24 active streamgages with 20 or more years of minimally-altered flow record to cover 22,000 km of streams in Pennsylvania's portion of the ORB. (4) Significant, though plausible, underestimates of the monthly Q75/60 passby flow might fail to prevent water withdrawals in the range of low flows during the driest months of the year. Intolerable low-flow ecodeficits resulted from withdrawal intensity at the level of the highest historical water demand estimates.

The main justification for monthly passby flow standards is to prevent water consumers from dampening seasonal flow variability. Aggregate water demands of the gas industry are typically a small fraction of streamflow during wet months, raising the question of whether PADEP would

68

have anything to gain from switching to a more complex monthly standard, as have neighboring water authorities.

Abbreviations

- Q_{7-10} 7-day, 10-year low flow
- Q60 flow exceeded 60% of the time
- Q75 flow exceeded 75% of the time
- ADF Average Daily Flow
- Bcf Billion cubic feet (of gas)
- CI Confidence Interval
- CV Coefficient of variation
- DRBC Delaware River Basin Commission
- FDC Flow duration curve
- HUC Hydrologic unit code
- LFR low flow region
- NYSDEC New York State Department of Environmental Conservation
- ORB Ohio River Basin
- PADEP Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection
- SGEIS Supplemental Generic Environmental Impact Statement
- SRBC Susquehanna River Basin Commission
- USGS U.S. Geological Survey
- WMP Water management plan
- WUI-Water-use intensity

Appendix

Water use data and estimation methods

Water use data were collected from two sources, PADEP Bureau of Oil and Gas Management well completion reports and from FracFocus.org, a "chemical disclosure registry" of self-reported information on unconventional well completions. Under Pennsylvania's Act 13, which became public law in 2012, submission of these data to FracFocus.org is mandatory (168). The beginning and end measured depth of the perforation interval (to estimate length of stimulation interval), the hydraulic fracturing date and water use volume were collected from 1,350 well completion reports (170). These data were input to Microsoft Excel from reports on file with the Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources as of March 2012. Reports for which the primary stimulation (fracturing) fluid was not water, including liquid petroleum gas, those listed as "completion pending," or reports that contained errors were omitted (approximately 4% of the well completion reports). Hydraulic Fracturing Fluid Product Component Information Disclosure forms were also downloaded from FracFocus.org in January 2013 (211), and the hydraulic fracturing ("job") date and "total water volume" entered into Microsoft Excel. These water use databases were joined using the unique American Petroleum Institute (API) numbers assigned to each well and checked for consistency. If the hydraulic fracturing date or the water use volumes disagreed, the manually-entered information from well record and completion reports was confirmed and used. The combined water use database was then joined with the Carnegie Museum of Natural History July 2012 well database (215). No water use data was available for a significant number of producing Marcellus Shale wells. Given these data gaps, the order-of-magnitude estimates of total water use in the basin reported in Table 12 were obtained by multiplying the number of producing wells without water use data by the basin-wide average for horizontal and vertical wells. Basin-wide averages were calculated annually and it was assumed that hydraulic fracturing (and thus water use) occurred in the same year the well was drilled, though this may not always be the case.

Surface water withdrawals in the Ohio River Basin

Table 13: 2005 Estimated water withdrawals in the Ohio River Basin portion¹ of Pennsylvania by USGS category (172).

USGS water use category	Estimated withdrawals (million m ³ /day)	% from surface water
Public supply	1,700,000	94%
Domestic use (self-supplied and public)	680,000	84%
Industrial	2,050,000	97%
Crop irrigation	10,000	67%
Golf course irrigation	10,000	69%
Mining	30,000	37%
Thermoelectric power	6,250,000	100%

¹From county-level data for Allegheny, Armstrong, Beaver, Butler, Cambria, Clarion, Crawford, Elk, Fayette, Forest, Greene, Indiana, Jefferson, Lawrence, McKean, Mercer, Somerset, Venango, Warren, Washington, and Westmoreland counties.

WMP surface water sources

Figure 17 shows the approved WMP direct surface water withdrawals from the Ohio River Basin and 10% Q_{7-10} calculated for 42 USGS gaging stations in the region with more than 20 years of daily discharge record. As USGS gaging stations are not co-located with the withdrawal sites, the regression line of 10% Q_{7-10} on drainage area provides a rough visual indication of which approved withdrawals would exceed 10% Q_{7-10} (those above the regression line). For such withdrawal sites, it is often the case that the volume of a single proposed withdrawal would exceed the *de minimis* volume, so these withdrawals would be calculated by the passby flow method.



Figure 17: Approved surface water withdrawal rates for hydraulic fracturing in the Ohio River Basin of Pennsylvania compared to 10% Q_{7-10} statistics for streams by drainage area (*176*). The inter-quartile range (IQR) of these withdrawals is 1,200 to 3,800 m³ per day (0.3-1 million gallons per day).

Water demand for hydraulic fracturing in the ORB



Figure 18: Highest 30-day water demand estimated for Hydrologic Unit Code (HUC) 10 Ohio River subbasins in 2011 and normalized by sub-basin area. The water use for individual wells is tied to the HUC-10 basin in which the well is located (216). County data from Environmental Systems Research Institute (217). Wells without a known hydraulic fracturing date were not included.

Low-flow regions in Pennsylvania



Figure 19: Low-flow regions in Pennsylvania for Q7-10 regressions reproduced from Stuckey (2006) (194).

Streamgages used in this study

Table 14: Select basin characteristics for the 63 USGS streamgages used by the USGS to develop low flow and average daily flow regressions for low-flow regions 3 and 4 (194). The fourteen highlighted stations were used for analysis of passby flow because they contained at least 60 years of continuous record.

U.S. Geological Survey gaging station	Location	Low flow region	Record Begin	Record End	Drainage area (km ²)	Mean elevation (meters)	Mean annual precipitation (centimeters)	
01541000	West Branch Susquehanna River at Bower, PA	3	1915	2002	816	524	113	
01541200	WB Susquehanna River near Curwensville, PA	3	1956	1965	951	519	112	
01541308	Bradley Run near Ashville, PA	3	1969	1979	18	669	121	
01541500	Clearfield Creek at Dimeling, PA	3	1915	1960	961	521	106	
01542500	WB Susquehanna River at Karthaus, PA	3	1941	1964	3787	522	106	
03007800	Allegheny River at Port Allegany, PA	3	1976	2002	642	628	103	
03009680	Potato Creek at Smethport, PA	3	1976	1995	414	605	113	
03010500	Allegheny River at Eldred, PA	3	1941	2002	1424	603	107	
03010655	Oswayo Creek at Shinglehouse, PA	3	1976	2002	256	620	99	
03011020	Allegheny River at Salamanca, NY	3	1905	2002	4165	582	106	
03011800	Kinzua Creek near Guffey, PA	3	1967	2002	100	625	114	
03013000	Conewago Creek at Waterboro, NY	3	1940	1993	751	469	111	
03015000	Conewango Creek at Russell, PA	3	1940	1949	2113	462	115	
03015280	Jackson Run near North Warren, PA	3	1964	1978	33	504	115	
03015500	Brokenstraw Creek at Youngsville, PA	3	1911	2002	831	487	119	
03017500	Tionesta Creek at Lynch, PA	3	1939	1979	603	537	112	
03019000	Tionesta Creek at Nebraska, PA	3	1911	1940	1215	515	111	
03020500	Oil Creek at Rouseville, PA	3	1934	2002	777	462	113	
03021350	French Creek near Wattsburg, PA	3	1976	2002	238	486	119	
03021410	West Branch French Creek near Lowville, PA	3	1976	1993	135	449	68	
03021500	French Creek at Carters Corners, PA	3	1911	1971	539	461	118	
03022500	French Creek at Saegerstown, PA	3	1923	1939	1629	434	116	

U.S.								
Geological	T (•	Low	Record	Record	Drainage	Mean	Mean annual	
Survey	Location	flow	Begin	End	$\frac{\text{area}}{(1-2)}$	elevation (motors)	precipitation	
gaging		region				(meters)	(centimeters)	
Station	Woodcock Creek							
03022540	at Blooming Valley, PA	3	1976	1995	81	443	114	
03023500	French Creek at Carlton, PA	3	1910	1925	2585	418	114	
03024000	French Creek at Utica, PA	3	1934	1970	2663	418	114	
03025000	Sugar Creek at Sugarcreek, PA	3	1934	1979	430	438	111	
03025200	Patchel Run near Franklin, PA	3	1966	1978	15	428	109	
03026500	Sevenmile Run near Rasselas, PA	3	1953	2002	20	631	114	
03028000	West Branch Clarion River at Wilcox, PA	3	1955	2002	163	596	114	
03029400	Toms Run at Cooksburg, PA	3	1961	1978	33	478	114	
03029500	Clarion River at Cooksburg, PA	3	1940	1952	2090	542	113	
03031950	Big Run nr Sprankle Mills, PA	3	1965	1981	19	461	114	
03032500	Redbank Creek at St. Charles, PA	3	1920	2002	1368	475	110	
03038000	Crooked Creek at Idaho, PA	3	1939	1967	495	388	113	
03039200	Clear Run near Buckstown, PA	3	1966	1978	10	822	108	
03039925	North Fork Bens Creek at North Fork Reservoir, PA	3	1989	1998	9	684	117	
03042200	Little Yellow Creek near Strongstown, PA	3	1962	1988	19	561	118	
03047500	Kiskiminetas River at Avonmore, PA	3	1909	1937	4463	534	114	
03049000	Buffalo Creek near Freeport, PA	4	1942	2002	355	381	104	
03049800	Little Pine Creek near Etna, PA	4	1964	2002	15	338	99	
03072590	Georges Creek at Smithfield, PA	4	1965	1978	42	424	112	
03072840	Tenmile Creek near Clarksville, PA	4	1970	1979	344	355	99	
03074300	Lick Run at Hopwood, PA	4	1968	1978	10	607	119	
03078000	Casselman River at Grantville, MD	4	1949	2002	162	787	107	
03079000	Casselman River at Markleton, PA	4	1922	2002	989	720	106	
03080000	Laurel Hill Creek at Ursina, PA	4	1920	2002	313	674	117	
03082200	Poplar Run near Normalville, PA	4	1963	1978	24	591	114	
03082500	Youghiogheny River at Connellsville, PA	4	1910	1925	3434	690	116	
03084000	Abers Creek near Murrysville, PA	4	1950	1993	11	353	99	

U.S. Geological Survey gaging station	Location	Low flow region	Record Begin	Record End	Drainage area (km ²)	Mean elevation (meters)	Mean annual precipitation (centimeters)	
03084500	Turtle Creek at Trafford, PA	4	1922	1952	145	343	99	
03093000	Eagle Creek at Phalanx Station, Ohio	4	1928	2002	253	319	98	
03100000	Shenango River near Turnersville, PA	4	1913	1922	394	331	106	
03102000	Shenango River near Jamestown, PA	4	1921	1934	469	334	105	
03102500	Little Shenango River at Greenville, PA	4	1915	2002	269	368	103	
03103000	Pymatuning Creek near Orangeville, PA	4	1915	1963	438	320	100	
03104000	Shenango River at Sharon, PA	4	1911	1938	1575	336	102	
03104760	Harthegig Run near Greenfield, PA	4	1970	1981	6	385	104	
03106000	Connoquenessing Creek near Zelienople, PA	4	1921	2002	922	363	99	
03106500	Slippery Rock Creek at Wurtemburg, PA	4	1913	1969	1031	398	103	
03108000	Raccoon Creek at Moffatts Mill, PA	4	1943	1956	461	339	96	
03109500	Little Beaver Creek near East Liverpool, OH	4	1917	2002	1285	345	94	
04213000	Conneaut Cr at Conneaut, OH	3	1924	2002	453	307	107	
04213075	Brandy Run near Girard, PA	3	1988	2002	12	274	109	



Figure 20: Data coverage of the minimally-impacted flow records corresponding to the 63 USGS streamgages used in this study between 1900 and 2002. Lighter blue bars indicate the existence of 60 or more years of uninterrupted stream flow data in the flow record.

Instantaneous flow measurement errors

The implementation of passby flow standards requires an operator to determine instantaneous flow at the point of withdrawal for comparison with the standard prior to taking water. Operators may use scaled index gage information, following the same criteria mentioned in the text. When an index gage is unavailable, the common practice is to have a staff gage installed at the point of withdrawal. This usually involves 3-5 field measurements to estimate the stage-discharge relationship relative to a graduated marker installed in the streambed from which instantaneous discharge can be approximated from a visual observation of water height. Large and unpredictable errors in the instantaneous discharge that operators use for compliance are expected for index gage scaling and staff gage methods for two reasons. First, the field measurements of stage and discharge are error prone; under non-ideal conditions, including low-flow, the error may approach 20% (*218*). This is especially true for shallow and low-velocity streams and creeks (*219*). The influence of field measurement error on the accuracy of the stage-discharge relationship can be large when there are few measurements.

The second cause of error in instantaneous discharge data is streambed instability. For alluvial streams, the stage-discharge relationship may shift frequently, and the shifts vary in direction, magnitude, rate of change, and duration (220, 221). Changes to the relationship between stage and discharge can occur by natural processes, such as the flushing of sediment out of the channel or the buildup of fallen foliage on the measurement control, as well as by human activity. For a particular streamgage, USGS technicians routinely use field observation and calibration measurements to identify these changes and then update the rating curve, which includes all segments and adjustments to the stage discharge relationship (222). From the rating curve, gage height measured at the streamgage is automatically converted to discharge. Despite

the continuous process of adjustments and corrections, the time between measurements is around seven weeks, and there is a lag in making needed corrections to the rating curve. This means that operators are likely to be using instantaneous flow data derived from an out-of-date rating curve.

A simple analysis, comparing provisional daily discharge data to the later approved records for eight months (October–May) of the discharge record at 29 active streamgages (Table 15) was conducted. The provisional record matched the approved record at two streamgages, but in others a persistent upward and downward biases was found in the provisional data. Daily discharge values in the approved record differed from those in the provisional record around 60% of the time, suggesting problems with use of instantaneous measurements in the field for evaluating stream flow. The stage-discharge relationship is commonly disrupted in January and February by the buildup of debris and ice, so a large portion of the discharge data during the winter months was marked as "estimated" (223). Instantaneous flow data from these periods may be unreliable.

	2009			2010				
	10	11	12	1	2	3	4	5
Estimated	2%	1%	17%	59%	78%	19%	1%	1%
Corrected	42%	48%	54%	67%	74%	57%	58%	62%

Table 15: The percentage of daily discharges in the USGS approved record that were later marked estimated or corrected, for 29 active streamgages used in this study.

The change between the provisional and approved records was usually within plus or minus 10%, but the provisional records examined here is only a snapshot in time, and the representativeness of these data cannot be assured.

Ecodeficit calculations

Figure 21 graphically illustrates the computation of ecodeficit for typical and low flows in the month of September at Laurel Hill Creek. It contrasts the original September flow duration curve with the FDC that would result from the 2000 m³/km² monthly water demand scenario and a passby flow equal to 5th percentile of 10-year Q60 sample set. The monthly ecodeficit is calculated as the area between the original and altered FDC divided by the total area under the original FDC. The ecodeficit was calculated for typical flows (between the 10% and 75% percentile) and for low flows, between 75% and 99% percentiles (*207-209*).



Figure 21: Graphical illustration of the concept of ecodeficit resulting from underestimation of Q60 for the month of September at the Laurel Hill Creek streamgage under a 2,000 m³/km² water demand scenario (which is approximately equivalent to removing 600,000 m³ or 160 million gallons over the month). The average 10-year September Q60 and the 5th and 95th percentile estimates are shown. Between the 75% and 99% exceedance probabilities, the difference in area under the original and altered FDCs divided by the total area under the original FDC is the low-flow ecodeficit (red).

Figure 22 shows the results of the three water withdrawal scenarios and the three cases of underestimated passby flow statistics for "typical" flows.



Figure 22: The average monthly typical flow ecodeficits estimated for the 14 USGS streamgages for monthly water demands of 150, 1,000, and 2,000 m³/km² subject to underestimated (5th percentile) values of (a) the 5-year 25% ADF, (b) the 10-year Q75/60, and (c) the 20-year Q75/60. The Nature Conservancy threshold of 0.20 (20%) is indicated by the red-dashed line.

Chapter 4: Economic regulatory incentives for plugging and abandonment of shale gas wells²

Introduction

Disturbance of the surface environment and subsurface geological strata is a necessary outcome of producing shale gas. Surface disturbance is caused by the construction of well pads, impoundments, access roads, and pipelines. Reclamation of the disturbed surface occurs in two stages. Shortly after a well (or multiple wells on a pad) begins production, the size of the well pad is reduced, and any impoundments for storing water or waste are removed. Full reclamation, known as plugging and abandonment, does not occur until after all wells on a pad are permanently taken out of production, because site access is necessary for routine maintenance and removing produced water (brine that comes up with gas).

If a well site is not properly reclaimed after abandonment, the well pad and access roads may cause permanent changes to the natural environment. The deterioration of erosion control features increases siltation, which results in the loss of nutrient-rich topsoil and increased sedimentation of nearby surface waters, impairing natural habitats of aquatic species (*224-226*). Compared to natural forest clearing occurrences (e.g. fire), the recruitment, growth, and mortality rate of native plant species at reclaimed oil and gas well sites in boreal forests was found to be significantly worse (*227*). Without restoration of topsoil and proper revegetation, the regeneration of natural habitat will be delayed and the environmental impacts of forest fragmentation, including loss of biodiversity and introduction of invasive species, will be

² Austin L. Mitchell and Elizabeth A. Casman, Economic Incentives and Regulatory Framework for Shale Gas Well Site Reclamation in Pennsylvania, Environmental Science & Technology 2011 45 (22), 9506-9514

exacerbated. The adverse effects of forest fragmentation on the nesting success of migratory birds have been documented (*228*), and the impacts extend to other plant and animal species dependent on shade, humidity, and tree canopy protection characteristic of deep forest environments in the region (*9, 229*). The construction of well pads, water impoundments, and access roads is projected to disturb 129,000 to 310,000 acres of forested land in Pennsylvania (*9*). In northern Pennsylvania forests, where largest blocks of public forests exist, the potential for lasting forest fragmentation and associated environmental impacts could negatively affect economic interests related to timber management, game, and tourism (*229*).

To reach the Marcellus Shale formations, wellbores usually transect more than two kilometers of geologic strata, including fresh and saline aquifers and shallow gas-bearing formations. Shale gas wells need to be plugged to prevent environmental damage caused by the disturbance of the subsurface, namely the movement of oil, gas, and brine to the surface and between geologic formations connected by the wellbore. General plugging procedures in most states, including Pennsylvania, begin with the removal of steel production casing that extends from the surface to producing formations for scrap value. Next, a series of cement plugs will be installed in the wellbore to isolate freshwater and saline aquifers and gas producing formations (Figure 23) (*230*).



Figure 23: Simple representation of a vertical shale gas well's anatomy. Layers of cement and steel casing are used to isolate production zones from freshwater aquifers. To properly close a shale gas well, the wellhead and steel production casing are removed and cement plugs are installed to prevent fluid movement in the wellbore and annulus. These steps also apply to horizontal shale gas wells. This diagram is not drawn to scale.

Unplugged wells may provide a direct pathway to the environment for fluids in the wellbore, (231) which results in ecological harm, property damage, and surface and ground water contamination. Additional pathways in the annulus (an industry term for the space between two concentric objects, such as between the wellbore and casing or between casing and tubing) may develop that would allow oil, gas, and brine to move vertically across geologic formations and contaminate groundwater. Substances dissolved in the brine include those that occur naturally in the shale formations (some radioactive), but the brine could also include chemicals used in the hydraulic fracturing process (some toxic). Also upwardly migrating gas, known as stray gas, represents an explosion hazard if not properly vented away from buildings and drinking water wells (*32, 232, 233*).

The risk that annular pathways will develop increases over time as chemical, mechanical, and thermal stresses causes deterioration of well structures and components. Failure modes of improperly abandoned wells (defined here as non-producing wells not in compliance with Pennsylvania plugging requirements or inactive status rules) include the formation of cracks in the cement casing or packers, corrosion of steel production casing, faulty valves, and leaking temporary plugs or surface caps (*231, 234-238*). Properly performed, the plugging process reinforces existing casing and seals and prevents fluid movement in the wellbore, which may retard the deterioration of vital well components and structures. Therefore, prompt plugging once a shale gas well becomes uneconomic may reduce the risk of negative environmental and human health impacts (*234, 235*), while also avoiding additional plugging costs that may be incurred if the mechanical integrity of a casing has been compromised (*239*). However, the risk of failures leading to fluid migration pathways still exists after a well has been plugged and increases with time (*231, 235-237*).

The impacts and remediation costs resulting from gas migration and groundwater contamination due to failures at unplugged and improperly abandoned gas wells is well documented in Pennsylvania and elsewhere (*32, 233, 240-242*). Property values can be negatively affected if gas wells contaminate groundwater used for drinking (*243-245*). Moreover, the presence of an improperly abandoned gas well may prevent landowners from using their property for other purposes (*246*). Stray gas, which is mostly methane, is also a potent source of greenhouse gas emissions (*247*).

The Saudi Arabia of natural gas and the Swiss cheese of Appalachia

Approximately 350,000 conventional oil and natural gas wells have been drilled in Pennsylvania since the 1859 discovery of oil in Titusville (*232*). Many of these legacy wells that are no longer producing oil or gas were never properly plugged. Some leak gas, oil, and/or brine into freshwater aquifers and the surface environment (32, 248). To address issues of pervasive non-compliance with plugging and abandonment requirements, a bonding requirement was established in Pennsylvania's Oil and Gas Act of 1984. All wells with oil or gas production after 1979 were covered. The legislative intent was for the bonding requirements to cover the full cost of plugging and abandonment so that the State could be made whole in the event of owner failure to perform the reclamation. In 1985, Pennsylvania started plugging oil and gas wells lacking a legally responsible owner, known as orphan wells, and supported these activities with fees on new oil and natural gas well permits (\$200 and \$50 per well for the Orphan Well Plugging Fund and Abandoned Well Plugging Fund, respectively), monies collected for regulatory violations, and grants distributed by Pennsylvania's taxpayer-funded Growing Greener program (249). From 2007 to 2008, the most recent years for which data are available, a total of \$1,066,000 in Growing Greener grants were awarded to reclaim orphan and abandoned wells (250, 251). Before the current shale gas boom, the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (PADEP) estimated that at 2004 funding rates it would take around 160 years to plug all the existing orphan wells in the Commonwealth (232). Additional funds are now being directed to well plugging activities with the passage of Act 13 (Omnibus Oil & Gas Legislation) in 2012, which established a grant-making entity (the Marcellus Legacy Fund) focused on issues associated with orphan wells (252).

Costs of site restoration and shale gas well closure

Pennsylvania's 1984 Oil and Gas Act defines a natural gas operator's drinking water, site restoration, and well closure responsibilities. Once a well is abandoned, the owner has 12 months to properly plug it and restore the well pad to its previous condition. Restoration of the production well pad (which typically covers more than 1 hectare (*9*, *11*, *253*)) may involve regrading of land, removing access roads and impoundments, restoring top soil, planting native flora, or other necessary restoration required for compliance with Pennsylvania's Clean Streams Law of 1937 (*254*). Operators must also remove all equipment used in the production of gas as part of the well abandonment process. This equipment includes the production casing (innermost steel casing that extends down to the production zone), Christmas tree (a grouping of pipes, valves and fittings used to control the flow of gas from a well), dehydrator, compressor, and tank battery.

The cost to plug a deep shale gas well has not been formally estimated by the PADEP, however, it is understood that the cost to plug a well depends primarily on its measured depth (full length of wellbore including horizontal portions). Plugging costs increase when the condition of the wellbore is poor or access to the site is difficult. For orphan oil and gas wells in southwestern Pennsylvania, the PADEP estimates the total cost to plug and restore the site of a well approximately 914 meters (3,000 feet) in depth averages \$60,000, but per well reclamation costs have also exceeded \$100,000 (*239*). Reclamation costs of wells drilled into the Devonian shale (Marcellus, Utica, and Upper Devonian), which range from 1,524 to 2,744 meters deep (*170*), will clearly be greater. Using reclamation data from 255 orphan wells in Wyoming, Andersen and Coupal (2009) estimated the relationship between reclamation costs and depth

88

(255). They estimated that total reclamation costs (well plugging, site restoration, and equipment removal) were approximately \$34.45 per meter (\$10.50 per foot). They also noted that economies of scale exist when more than one well is on each well pad, which is the norm for wells in the Marcellus Shale. However, if all wells on a pad are not decommissioned at the same time, opportunities for economies of scale would be limited to the eventual surface restoration. Summarizing data from approximately 1,000 individual well completion reports catalogued by the Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources (*170*), the average measured depth of hydraulically fractured shale gas wells completed in Pennsylvania during 2010 was approximately 3,254 meters (10,675 feet). Thus, for a single well, at \$34.45 per meter, the average reclamation cost for a well in the Marcellus Shale will be in the vicinity of \$100,000. However, in some cases the costs for plugging and abandonment of a shale gas well in Pennsylvania have been substantially higher. For instance, in 2010, Cabot Oil & Gas Corporation estimated that it spent \$2,190,000 to properly abandon three vertical Marcellus Shale gas wells in Susquehanna County, Pennsylvania – about \$700,000 per well (*256*).

Pennsylvania bonding requirements on private lands do not incentivize reclamation

Issues of operator insolvency due to the boom and bust cycles of oil and gas development complicate efforts to hold liable parties responsible and provide for timely environmental reclamation. In theory, requiring that operators post bonds prior to drilling bolsters traditional liability rules by incentivizing compliance (257). Pennsylvania only releases bonded monies one year after the PADEP deems regulatory requirements associated with reclamation have been satisfied. If the level of bonding is set less than the associated reclamation costs, companies could be tempted to pursue strategies that avoid their liabilities.

Oil and gas bonding requirements vary across states and on federal lands, but most have established minimum bonding levels (blanket or for individual wells) (246). In general, the dollar amount of state and federal bonds for oil and gas wells often do not reflect expected reclamation costs. The full effect of this imbalance has not yet been felt because oil and gas wells may have long life spans (up to 50 years, which can be prolonged further on paper via regulatory allowances), and bonding requirements are relatively new (257).

Pennsylvania's experience with bonding of coal mining sites may be indicative of what to expect. From 1985 to 1999, bonds for surface mining permits covering approximately 10% of total acreage were forfeited (*258*). Since the cost to reclaim a mine in most cases was higher than the amount bonded, funding to bring abandoned mine lands into compliance has generally been inadequate (*258-260*). In 1986, only 33% of acreage covered by forfeited bonds had been reclaimed, according to a U.S. General Accounting Office study. The discrepancy was attributed to inadequate funding from forfeited bonds and legal delays in bond forfeiture (*260*). Following a lawsuit and increased Federal scrutiny thereafter, Pennsylvania modified its regulatory framework related to the reclamation of abandoned mine lands (*259*). Pennsylvania now requires mine operators to perform site-specific estimation of reclamation liabilities to ensure posted bonds cover the full cost of reclamation (*261*).

Under Act 13, shale gas operators in Pennsylvania must post either a bond of \$10,000 for each well or a blanket bond of \$600,000 to cover all the wells they drill in the state. This represents a small increase from the dollar amount required in 1984 (\$2,500 and \$25,000 for individual and blanket bonds, respectively), which until 2012 had not been adjusted despite

90

statutory provisions that empower the Environmental Quality Board to adjust the level of bonding to match projected reclamation costs every two years. A bond of \$10,000 is inadequate to cover the costs to plug a deep shale gas well and restore the land (total cost to do this is between \$100,000 and \$700,000). The inadequacy of the blanket bond is even more pronounced, as many operators are expected to drill thousands of wells. For example, Chesapeake Energy, operating in a joint venture with Statoil, plans to drill up to 17,000 shale gas wells in Appalachia over the next 20 years (*262*).

The Oil and Gas Act prohibits private landowners from securing financial assurances from the operator independent of Pennsylvania regulations. The situation is different on Pennsylvania's state-owned land. Pennsylvania includes a condition in all of its lease agreements for drilling in state forests that requires operators to submit additional individual well bonds. The dollar amount required scales with the measured depth, so operators in state forests are required to post bonds of \$50,000 to \$100,000 per well drilled (*263*).

It is important to note that the substantial bonds required in drilling leases in state forests did not preclude a successful lease auction – proceeds of \$128 million far exceeded original expectations of \$60 million (*264*). This suggests that bonds in the \$100,000 range are not prohibitive for large exploration and production companies, though they may be an obstacle for smaller firms.

Transferring assets shifts environmental liability

To sustain current levels of production, the shale gas industry needs to constantly drill and complete new wells because gas production rapidly declines in the first few years of production. Figure 24 shows a type curve published by a Marcellus Shale operator, EQT Production (*265*). A type curve is a gas production curve modeled from initial and historic production data and reservoir characteristics. The precipitous decline in the production rate of gas is typical of deep shale gas wells in Pennsylvania and elsewhere. (Re-fracking is a process that can be used to increase production in a declining well. Because there are no reliable data published on this practice in Appalachia it is excluded from this analysis.)



Figure 24: Expected gas production rate (solid line) and cumulative production curve (dashed) for EQT Production's Marcellus Shale operations (265).

Industry economics are dominated by high initial gas production rates. For a typical well, assuming a constant price of \$176.6 per thousand cubic meters of gas (\$5/Mcf) and a \$5.3 million cost to drill and complete a new well (*265*), the internal rate of return (IRR) asymptotes near 79% after the seventh year, after which production revenue dwindles compared to that of the initial years. Assuming a 10% discount rate, 81% of the net present value (NPV) of gross revenue would be realized in 10 years. Compared to the potential revenue from gas sales, the present value of long-term shale gas liabilities, which are discounted 40-50 years, has negligible impact on near-term accounting. The problem of failing to internalize reclamation liabilities emerges when the liabilities begin to exceed the current asset value.

The steep decline in production may drive divestment of shale gas assets by primary exploration and production companies well before the expected closure of a shale gas well. The transfer of marginally-producing assets to smaller independent operators or surface owners is common practice in the oil and gas industry (*266-268*). Sometimes, surface owners take ownership of a marginally producing well for household use. In such cases, the Oil and Gas Act permits oil and gas asset transfers as long as the prospective owner satisfies the applicable bonding requirements. In Pennsylvania, there exists no formal regulatory mechanism to prevent fully-bonded owners from assuming gas production assets with reclamation liabilities substantially above their own financial means. Large liabilities covered by limited resources could lead to large-scale default, similar to the situation that spawned Pennsylvania's pervasive abandoned acid mine drainage and orphan well problems (*269*).

In Pennsylvania and other U.S. states, individual and blanket bonds may be satisfied using a number of financial instruments and often do not even require monies to be transferred. Requiring only the demonstration of assets is common, especially for large operators. When an
operator cannot demonstrate sufficient assets to cover liabilities, third party backing, usually in the form of a surety bond, may be obtained for a percentage of the bond's face value. Since surety companies or banks underwriting the bond are liable if an operator is unable to perform reclamation, bond rates are set according to an individual operator's risk of insolvency (257).

Today's low bonding levels make it possible for hundreds of independent operators to satisfy Pennsylvania's blanket bonding requirements (270). These operators are capable of producing marginal amounts of oil and gas economically, which allows them to maximize potential economic benefits by extending the productive lifetime of oil and gas wells (271). The ability to transfer well ownership to independent operators benefits the industry, but a potential consequence of increasing bonding minima could be that smaller operators may face steep risk premiums or not qualify for third party backing and be excluded from participation.

Primary exploration and production companies sometimes rely on divestment of existing assets to fund new drilling operations. Blocking independent operators from the market may force these companies to temporarily abandon their uneconomic wells and apply for inactive status instead. In Pennsylvania, non-producing wells may be granted inactive status for a period of five years, but to be granted an annual extension the operator only has to declare regulatory compliance and the capacity to produce gas in the future from the inactive well. Inactive status and similar provisions in other states grant operators the ability to temporarily abandon a gas well until technology advances or favorable gas prices improve the economics of production, though in practice the decision to re-open a well is expected to be dominated by reclamation and other liabilities (*234*).

Inactive status could be used to defer the costs of reclamation indefinitely. According to PADEP records, almost 17,000 conventional oil and gas wells did not report or produce oil or gas

for three consecutive years (2007-2009), and were listed as active at the end of 2009. While it may be the case that many of the operators of these wells simply failed to report production, poor compliance with reporting requirement prevents the PADEP from enforcing plugging requirements or administering the inactive status program. In 2009 alone, only 38% of the Commonwealth's conventional oil and gas wells reported production, which indicates a majority of the wells drilled in Pennsylvania may represent environmental liabilities as opposed to a source of revenue (*270*). Incentives (fines) are needed to improve compliance with production reporting requirements, though reporting alone will not close this loophole.

The delay between production and reclamation temporally separates revenue generation from the future liabilities. Others have recognized this undesirable trend and instituted remedies. Growth in the number of non-producing (idle) wells in Alberta and Saskatchewan led these two Canadian provinces to implement a Licensee Liability Rating Program as a measure of insolvency risk and to minimize state financial exposure to orphan wells. The program requires individual operators to provide financial assurance equivalent to the difference between the operators' assets (active wells and production facilities) and liabilities (inactive wells and abandoned assets) (*272, 273*). Some U.S. states offer tax breaks to promote marginal well production, while others require additional bonds or levy annual fees for inactive wells to incentivize new production or plugging, and to fund compliance monitoring (*246, 271*).

Regulatory policy and financial assurance options

When bonding requirements are smaller than expected liabilities, there is a financial incentive to not comply with reclamation requirements. Individual well bonding requirements that match reclamation costs would remedy this situation, especially with the blanket bonds, where misalignments with reclamation costs can be huge. Eliminating the blanket bond would be a common sense first step for Pennsylvania. However, simply increasing the bond requirement to match reclamation costs may not be the best alternative because more operators will need to obtain third party backing. In theory, reliance on third party backing favors operators that manage assets and liabilities effectively since the underwriting firms would assess the risk of insolvency of individual operators. However, the same may not be true for third party backers. Insolvency of these financial firms is a real concern and the effects may be large (*257*, *274*).

Furthermore, bonds are inherently inflexible to changes in the cost of performing reclamation, to the economics of gas extraction when wells start to lose pressure, and the way financial risk is shared in the industry. This is problematic if reclamation costs deviate dramatically from the average. For instance, following methane migration into the aquifer supplying drinking water to fourteen households in Dimock, Pennsylvania, the estimated costs for individual water filtration units and supply replacement via permanent pipeline were approximately \$8,000 and \$800,000 per household, respectively (*256, 275*). Underwriting firms will only market surety bonds when the amount and term of liability are strictly defined (*257*), so bonds are not well suited to cover uncertain liabilities. Bonds would also fail to provide funding for maintenance and monitoring of plugged and abandoned wells and the potential environmental

issues that may arise post-reclamation. After the release of a bond, recovery of additional environmental costs would require aggrieved citizens or the State to pursue civil action. The State may also block the issuance of new permits to operators with outstanding reclamation liabilities, but for operators without ongoing interests in Pennsylvania, this enforcement mechanism will be limited.

Alternatives to bonds

To pay for the long-term treatment of acid mine discharges, coal mine operators in Pennsylvania may establish trust accounts under contract with the State. Funding requirements are based on operator estimates of the present value of capital costs and operating expenses of pollution control projects, which depend on the inflation rate and the expected growth of the trust account. As irrevocable beneficiaries of the trust, the State will reimburse coal mine operators one year after the performance of work, or in the case of non-performance, the State may use accumulated funds to do the work (*276*).

If reclamation trust accounts were to be used for the shale gas industry, it would be the responsibility of the operator to determine current (time zero) reclamation costs as part of the drilling permit and the responsibility of the state to approve that figure. If the trust accounts were tied to individual wells rather than pooling them, timely plugging would become independent of the solvency of the last operator.

For the mining industry, trusts are designed so that they will be fully funded one-year after production ends. The size the trust is estimated from Equation 4, which shows the calculation for the present value of reclamation costs.

$$PV = \left[\frac{RC}{\left(1 + \left[E - I\right]\right)^{t}}\right] * (1 + Vol)$$
(4)

where:

RC = Estimated cost of reclamation in current dollars E = Expected annual earning on investments in trust I = Inflation Rate Vol = Volatility premium, proportional to amount invested in stock market t = Time in years, duration of production

For the shale gas industry, the contract between the State and individual operator would specify the firm responsible for managing the trust account and investment strategy. An inflation rate of 3.1%, bond yield of 5.25%, and market return of 11.2% are recommended by the PADEP for Equation 4. At most, 80% of the trust may be invested in stock. A 20% volatility premium is required for the portion of the trust invested in stock (*276*). It is the responsibility of the PADEP to ensure an operator's inflation, bond yield, and market return assumptions reflect current conditions. This contract would also detail the irrevocable rights held by the State to claim monies held in the trust.

Three potential mechanisms to fund well reclamation costs are estimated using Equation 4: cash bond, severance tax on gas production, and a discounted pre-drilling fee. The properly sized cash bond represents a "no risk" scenario for Pennsylvania because operators would be required to deposit the full cost of reclamation as a precondition for drilling permit approval.

Compared to the other forms of bonding allowed by the PADEP, the State Treasurer would manage the bonded monies and the risks associated with operator or third-party default or insolvency would be eliminated. A severance tax on gas production would gradually collect and reinvest monies to reach the future value of reclamation. Pennsylvania's Governor, Tom Corbett, opposes levying taxes on the natural gas industry, but has supported a one-time, per well fee to pay for local impacts of the natural gas industry. To fund a reclamation trust via a discounted pre-drilling fee, it was assumed that the fee would need to be assessed in an amount equal to the present value of expected reclamation costs at the time of well closure. The severance tax and pre-drilling fee represent delayed funding mechanisms, so the annual growth and security of the trust as well as the productive lifetime of a shale gas well are important variables. The cost to perform reclamation is compared to funds accrued in a reclamation trust by a severance tax (calculated for two different anticipated well lifespans) and a pre-drilling fee in Figure 25. To fully fund a reclamation trust by year 16, a pre-drilling fee of \$65,975 and a severance tax of \$0.87/TCM (\$0.25/Mcf) collected for five years would need to be assessed. A severance tax of \$0.15/TCM (\$0.004/Mcf) on the first five years of production would be assessed if full funding of the trust is not required until year 51. The cash bond option is not graphed because it is equivalent to the inflated reclamation cost each year. The options are fully funded when they intersect the reclamation cost line. If the well is abandoned before the reclamation trust is whole, the difference between the accumulated funds and the inflated reclamation costs will be the shortfall.



Figure 25: Comparison of financial assurance mechanisms for funding a reclamation liability costing \$100,000 at time zero. Assumptions: gas is produced according to the EQT Production type curve (Figure 24); the inflation rate is 3.1%; and monies invested in the trust have an assumed annual return of 5.25%, following PADEP guidance for bond yields (276). The "no risk" cash bond option is not shown as it is equal to the cost of reclamation. The funds collected by a pre-drilling fee and severance tax collected for five years are contrasted. Delayed collection options run the risk of collecting insufficient funds for reclamation of the well if the number of productive years is less than the number of years used to determine present value of reclamation costs. At any given year, the funding shortfall is measured as the difference between the projected reclamation cost line and the respective delayed option line.

No empirical evidence exists to suggest the economic lifetime of a shale gas well will reach generic industry predictions of 40-50 years. Well productivity and the economics of shale gas production have equal weight in an operator's decision to keep a well open. The use of unrealistic expectations of well economics has implications for the application of delayed funding mechanisms and risks underfunding reclamation trust accounts. Figure 25 shows that even if a 15-year lifetime is assumed (reclamation costs discounted from year 16), the difference between the reclamation cost and the funding levels in the trust are substantial for wells

abandoned sooner. For the purpose of estimating reclamation costs, it would be wise for Pennsylvania to require that reclamation costs by funded within 10 years, regardless of the actual life span of the well.



Figure 26: Reported cumulative production of 294 individual horizontal Marcellus Shale gas wells that began producing after 1/1/2010(270). Three continuous cumulative production curves are modeled: EQT Production's type curve (Figure 24), a 60% EQT, and 35% EQT. Cumulative production predicted by the 60% EQT and 35% EQT curves is exceeded by 50% and 75% of horizontal Marcellus Shale gas wells, respectively.

Actual production will deviate from industry type curves. Figure 26 shows the cumulative production from horizontal shale gas wells in Pennsylvania that began producing gas from January 2010 through July 2011 compared to the EQT Production type curve (Figure 24). While

nearly a quarter of the wells exceeded the EQT curve, half of the wells produced less than 60% of the EQT curve and 25% of the wells produced 35% or less of the EQT estimate. The variability in cumulative production indicates that industry type curves should not be used to set the terms of financial assurance policy. If a 5-year severance tax is calculated from EQT Production's type curve and applied to the cumulative production of all the wells in Figure 25, independent of the tax rate, the amount of money collected in a trust would only be 62% of the target funding level, assuming that excess funds are returned to the operator.

The impact of these regulatory options on the industry bottom line

From the point of view of industry finances, the different funding mechanisms have similar impacts on the internal rate of return (IRR) of a producing well, even if total production is low. Table 16 contrasts the IRRs resulting from implementation of (1) the current bond requirement (\$10,000), (2) a cash bond equivalent to the reclamation cost, (3) a pre-drilling fee, and (4) a 5-year severance tax. Revenue from production for 50 years was assumed, but a 10-year funding timeline was established to minimize the risk of underfunding the reclamation trust.

Table 16: Gross revenue internal rate of returns (IRR) incorporating the implementation cost of financial assurance mechanisms. Drilling and completion cost of \$5.3 million and \$176.6/TCM (\$5/Mcf) price of gas is assumed. The pre-drilling fee and 5-year severance tax are calculated to fully-fund the reclamation trust by the start of year 11. Two target reclamation costs are contrasted, \$100,000 and \$700,000. The pre-drilling fees are \$76,000 and \$535,000 for targets of \$100,000 and \$700,000, respectively. A severance tax rate of \$1.01/TCM (\$0.029/Mcf) is required for reclamation cost of \$100,000 and the EQT production curve. The rate increases to \$20.01/TCM (\$0.57/Mcf) for reclamation cost of \$700,000 and the 35% EQT production curve. TCM = thousand cubic meters. Mcf = thousand cubic feet

Reclamation cost	Gas production curve model	IRR with current bond	IRR with "no risk" cash bond	IRR with pre-drilling fee	IRR with 5- year severance tax
\$100,000	EQT	78.7%	76.7%	77.1%	78.1%
	60% EQT	34.3%	33.2%	33.5%	33.8%
	35% EQT	13.2%	12.7%	12.8%	12.9%
\$700,000	EQT	78.7%	65.6%	68.4%	74.3%
	60% EQT	34.3%	27.6%	29.0%	30.7%
	35% EQT	13.2%	10.2%	10.8%	11.0%

Though these are rough calculations based on simple assumptions, Table 16 shows that levying a pre-drilling fee and small severance tax on the first five years of production would quickly fund a trust account with minimal impact on the project's IRR. From the industry point of view, paying the full cost of reclamation in an up-front bond is the least attractive alternative. However, actual implementation of any financial assurance requires an industry-wide evaluation of financial assumptions.

Risks to the State

From the State's point of view, there is a risk that the well will become uneconomic prior to year 10, especially if production is much less than EQT Production's type curve. If this occurs, the shortfall of the 5-year severance tax would be greatest.

The problem of underperforming wells or dry holes, however, is not adequately addressed, and unless the "no risk" cash bond is employed, it is expected that both delayed funding options will result in inadequate funding of the reclamation trust account. In the coal industry, operators are required to make underfunded trust accounts whole either by direct payments into the trust or supplementary bonds. If regulations are strictly enforced to prevent dry holes and uneconomic wells from being granted inactive status, the risk of these wells becoming State liabilities decreases.

The risk of underfunded reclamation trusts due to dry holes or otherwise underperforming wells could be reduced if individual operators pooled monies in a reclamation trust. In this case, the severance tax would need to be based on the value of the pooled trust, aggregate production data, and total reclamation liability. To prevent operators from shirking environmental responsibility and ensure the State has adequate resources in case of insolvency, adjustments to the severance tax rate may be necessary so that pooled funds cover the sum of expected reclamation costs.

PADEP may readjust trust funding levels for the mining industry to reflect changes in pollution control costs of plus or minus 10%. However, regulatory inertia or poor oversight pose a threat to the achievement of adequate funding levels, as demonstrated by the lack of adjustment in oil and gas well bonding levels for more than a quarter-century. In theory, the potential for a downward adjustment of the required funding level incentivizes operators to invest in new technologies (or enhanced "pollution control") to lower the cost of reclamation and to have excess funds returned (*277*).

Disaggregating environmental accidents from well site restoration and closure

While bond forfeiture is commonly associated with operator failure to perform site restoration and plug abandoned wells, the intent of the current bonding system for oil and gas wells is much broader. At any time during the productive life of a well, noncompliance with the Oil and Gas Act or an order of the PADEP may be grounds for bond forfeiture. Restoration of water supplies impacted by nearby shale gas operations is an example.

The formation of a competitive bond market requires that liabilities be well defined in amount and time. Therefore, neither bonds nor trust accounts are the appropriate tool for environmental accidents that occur during production. A remedy could be for Pennsylvania to adopt financial assurance rules that separate expected liabilities from uncertain events such as casing failure or other environmental accidents. Requiring active operators to obtain liability insurance for uncertain events is a partial solution. Insurance companies would need to quantify potential risks and determine an efficient way to pool risk across multiple wells or operators. However, in the absence of a responsible operator, the State or affected citizen is likely to bear the cost in the event of an environmental issue post-reclamation.

Conclusions

The financial assurance mechanisms established by Act 13 that Pennsylvania uses to ensure compliance with Pennsylvania's Oil and Gas act of 1984 are inadequate and allow ownership transfers to entities less likely to be able to cover the expected costs of reclamation. Without

strict enforcement of gas production reporting requirements, the PADEP will be unable to monitor compliance with plugging requirements and prevent abuse of the inactive status program. Timely plugging and abandonment should be the goal of PADEP policy because the long-term environmental and human health risks of shale gas development will increase over time and with the risk of operator insolvency. However, increasing the bonding requirements to fully cover reclamation costs, which is within the PADEP's mandate, will not address wellknown limitations of environmental bonds and may limit participation in shale gas development to larger companies. Alternative mechanisms to ensure operators pay for future reclamation costs include a cash bond, a pre-drilling fee, and a severance tax. If operators were to deposit the full cost of reclamation in the form of a cash bond, the risk of underfunding approaches zero. Taxing gas production to fund an individual well trust account for future reclamation poses no additional barrier to operator entrance. This approach requires the State to assume the risk of reclaiming dry holes unless wells are pooled and a severance tax adjustable to funding levels in the trust, total reclamation liabilities, and production variability is developed. Generating funds directly from the revenue stream during the most lucrative years of gas production has the lowest impact on an operator's IRR. Though the industry generically predicts wells to operate for 40-50 years, reliance on these assumptions to define the terms of financial assurance increases the risk of underfunding and cannot be justified. Separate handling of reclamation and accidental environmental accident liabilities would promote the development of a competitive bond market if the current system is kept in place.

Abbreviations

BCF - billion cubic feet

Mcf - thousand cubic feet

TCM - thousand cubic meters

PADEP - Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection

IRR - internal rate of return

NPV - net present value

Chapter 5: Conclusion

The body of this thesis includes three analyses of health and environmental risks associated with the development of the Marcellus Shale. The radon study examined excess human lung cancer risk from exposure to radon in the natural gas delivered to Northeast U.S. homes and released to indoor environments by unvented gas combustion appliances. The surface water withdrawals study analyzed and compared the performance of regulatory frameworks designed to minimize the unconventional gas industry's impact to water resources. The well bonding study projected future costs of shale gas well plugging and site restoration, and assessed mechanisms for funding these liabilities.

Lung cancer risks

New population-level excess risk projections for domestic use of unvented gas burning appliances using locally-supplied natural gas were made. There are still many unknowns, but by accounting for a conservative range of plausible assumptions and calculating populationweighted exposure, it is unlikely that radon in natural gas poses a significant risk to public health at the population level. The scenarios most associated with elevated risk involved unvented gas appliance use in isolated and poorly ventilated spaces.

Water resources risks

The ability of the PADEP's water management plan requirements to protect streams from excessive water withdrawals for hydraulic fracturing was assessed with respect to meeting the stated goals of the program. The currently available streamflow data are sparse, and are often distant from desired surface water withdrawal locations. The combination of natural hydrologic

variability and insufficient data can introduce significant uncertainties into the process to decide when and where water can be withdrawn with minimal impact to the stream. The current approach used by the PADEP in the Upper Ohio River Basin, based on annual streamflow statistics, is more robust to sparse data than alternative methods established using monthly streamflow statistics. Regulatory use of monthly streamflow statistics without 30 or more years of streamflow data to back them up risks allowing and disallowing withdrawals inappropriately. With as little as five years of streamflow data, the annual streamflow statistics are more likely to prevent water withdrawals when streams require the most protection. It makes sense to continue using this standard given the current state of the streamgaging network in the Upper Ohio River Basin.

Orphan well risks

The PADEP's financial incentives for well site reclamation and the actual costs to properly plug and abandon a Marcellus Shale well were compared. The current well bonds are *at least* a factor of 10 lower than they should be according to the requirements of Pennsylvania's Oil and Gas Act. In the coming decades, tens of thousands of new shale gas wells are expected to be drilled in Pennsylvania. From the perspective of the taxpayer, these wells represent tens of billions in unfunded future liabilities. Because the financial incentives are so misaligned, the PADEP's current financial assurance program will do little to prevent operators from defaulting on their liabilities, leaving them to the taxpayer. Higher bonds, or better yet, individual well trust accounts, are necessary to avoid a future orphan well problem.

References

- J. L. Coleman, R. C. Milici, T. A. Cook, R. R. Charpentier, M. Kirschbaum, T. R. Klett, R. M. Pollastro, C. J. Schenk, "Assessment of undiscovered oil and gas resources of the Devonian Marcellus Shale of the Appalachian Basin Province," U.S. Geological Survey Fact Sheet No. 2011–3092 (U.S. Geological Survey, 2011). <<u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/fs/2011/3092/></u>
- A. Blohm, J. Peichel, C. Smith, A. Kougentakis, The significance of regulation and land use patterns on natural gas resource estimates in the Marcellus shale. *Energy Policy* 50, 358-369 (2012); published online Epub11// (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.07.031).
- 3. U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Rankings: Natural Gas Marketed Production," *State Profiles and Energy Estimates* (Washington, DC, 2011).
- 4. Division of Mineral Resources, "Yearly Oil and Gas Production Files," (New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, Albany, NY, 2012). accessed on 9/23/2013
- 5. Division of Oil & Gas, "2012 Combined Production," (Ohio Department of Natural Resources, Columbus, OH, 2012). accessed on 9/23/13
- 6. Office of Oil and Gas, "Oil and Gas Production Data," (West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection, Charleston, WV, 2012). accessed on 9/23/2013
- Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Jul Dec 2012 (Unconventional wells)," (Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, 2013). Commonwealth of Pennsylvania accessed on May 30, 2013
- U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Natural Gas Gross Withdrawals and Production," (U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, 1967-2011). accessed on 9/23/2013
- 9. N. Johnson, "Pennsylvania Energy Impacts Assessment," (The Nature Conservancy, Harrisburg, PA, 2010). < <u>http://www.nature.org/media/pa/tnc_energy_analysis.pdf</u>>
- P. J. Drohan, M. Brittingham, Topographic and Soil Constraints to Shale-Gas Development in the Northcentral Appalachians. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 76, 1696-1706 (2012).
- 11. P. J. Drohan, M. Brittingham, J. Bishop, K. Yoder, Early trends in landcover change and forest fragmentation due to shale-gas development in Pennsylvania: a potential outcome for the northcentral Appalachians. *Environmental Management* **49**, 1061-1075 (2012).

- 12. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (NYSDEC), "Revised Draft of the Supplemental Generic Environmental Impact Statement on the Oil, Gas and Solution Mining Regulatory Program, Well Permit Issuance for Horizontal Drilling and High-Volume Hydraulinc Fractuing to Develop the Marcellus Shale and Other Low-Permeability Gas Reservoirs," (Albany, NY, 2012). <<u>http://www.dec.ny.gov/data/dmn/rdsgeisfull0911.pdf</u>>
- 13. Shale Gas Roundtable, "Deliberations, Findings, and Recommendations," (Institute of Politics, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, 2013).
- E. T. Slonecker, L. E. Milheim, C. M. Roig-Silva, A. R. Malizia, D. A. Marr, G. B. Fisher, "Landscape Consequences of Natural Gas Extraction in Bradford and Washington Counties, Pennsylvania, 2004–2010," *Open-File Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 2012).
- Bureau of Forestry, "Guidelines for Administering Oil and Gas Activity on State Forest Lands," (Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, Harrisburg, PA, 2011).
 http://www.dcnr.state.pa.us/cs/groups/public/documents/document/dcnr_004055.pdf>
- T. J. Rawinski, "Impacts of White-Tailed Deer Overabundance in Forest Ecosystems: An Overview," (U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Newton Square, PA, 2008).
 http://www.na.fs.fed.us/fhp/special_interests/white_tailed_deer.pdf
- J. L. Gillena, E. Kiviat, ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEWS AND CASE STUDIES: Hydraulic Fracturing Threats to Species with Restricted Geographic Ranges in the Eastern United States. *Environmental Practice* 14, 320-331 (2012)10.1017/S1466046612000361).
- 18. S. M. Olmstead, L. A. Muehlenbachs, J.-S. Shih, Z. Chu, A. J. Krupnick, Shale gas development impacts on surface water quality in Pennsylvania. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **Early Edition**, (2013).
- 19. A. Vengosh, N. Warner, R. Jackson, T. Darrah, The Effects of Shale Gas Exploration and Hydraulic Fracturing on the Quality of Water Resources in the United States. *Procedia Earth and Planetary Science* **7**, 863-866 (2013); published online Epub// (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.proeps.2013.03.213).
- R. D. Vidic, S. L. Brantley, J. M. Vandenbossche, D. Yoxtheimer, J. D. Abad, Impact of Shale Gas Development on Regional Water Quality. *Science* 340, (2013)10.1126/science.1235009).
- 21. G. E. King, paper presented at the The Society for Petroleum Engineers Hydraulic Fracturing Technology Conference, The Woodlands, TX, 2012.

- 22. Division of Oil and Gas Resources Management, "Well Construction Rule Package." Ohio Department of Natural Resources, Ed. (Columbus, OH, 2012), chap. 1501:9-1-01 et seq.
- 23. Environmental Quality Board, "Oil and Gas Wells." in *Title 25 Environmental Protection*, Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Ed. (Pennsylvania Bulletin, Harrisburg, PA, 2011), vol. 41 Pa.B. 805, chap. 78.
- 24. James A. Martin, "Casing and Cementing Standards and Best Management Practices." Office of Oil and Gas, Ed. (West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection, Charleston, WV, 20112).
- 25. R. B. Jackson, A. Vengosh, T. H. Darrah, N. R. Warner, A. Down, R. J. Poreda, S. G. Osborn, K. Zhao, J. D. Karr, Increased stray gas abundance in a subset of drinking water wells near Marcellus shale gas extraction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, (2013); published online EpubJune 24, 2013 (10.1073/pnas.1221635110).
- 26. S. G. Osborn, A. Vengosh, N. R. Warner, R. B. Jackson, Methane contamination of drinking water accompanying gas-well drilling and hydraulic fracturing. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**, 8172-8176 (2011);
- 27. E. W. Boyer, B. R. Swistock, J. Clark, M. Madden, D. E. Rizzo, "The Impact of Marcellus Gas Drilling on Rural Drinking Water Supplies," (The Center for Rural Pennsylvania, Harrisburg, PA, 2012).
 http://www.rural.palegislature.us/documents/reports/Marcellus_and_drinking_water_20_12.pdf>
- L. J. Molofsky, J. A. Connor, A. S. Wylie, T. Wagner, S. K. Farhat, Evaluation of Methane Sources in Groundwater in Northeastern Pennsylvania. *Groundwater* 51, 333-349 (2013).
- 29. T. Engelder, Capillary tension and imbibition sequester frack fluid in Marcellus gas shale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **109**, E3625 (2012); published online EpubDecember 26, 2012 (10.1073/pnas.1216133110).
- N. R. Warner, R. B. Jackson, T. H. Darrah, S. G. Osborn, A. Down, K. Zhao, A. White, A. Vengosh, Reply to Engelder: Potential for fluid migration from the Marcellus Formation remains possible. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109, E3626-E3626 (2012).
- 31. R. Hammack, K. Zorn, W. Harbert, R. Capo, H. Siriwardane, paper presented at the SPE Eastern Regional Meeting, Pittsburgh, PA, 2013.
- 32. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Stray Natural Gas Migration Associated with Oil and Gas Wells," *Draft Report* (Harrisburg, PA, 2009). <<u>http://www.dep.state.pa.us/dep/subject/advcoun/oil_gas/2009/Stray%20Gas%20Migration%20Cases.pdf</u>>

- 33. S. Detrow. "In Northeast Pennsylvania, Methane Migration Means Flammable Puddles And 30-Foot Geysers." StateImpact Pennsylvania August 5, 2012: Online. https://stateimpact.npr.org/pennsylvania/2012/07/30/in-northeast-pennsylvania-methane-migration-means-flammable-puddles-and-30-foot-geysers/
- 34. T. Engelder, Personal communication. 2011
- 35. A. Litvak. "Horizontal drilling, fracking begins in old, shallow oil and gas fields." Pittsburgh Post-Gazette Online. <<u>http://www.post-</u> gazette.com/stories/business/news/horizontal-drilling-fracking-begins-in-old-shallow-oiland-gas-fields-704396/>
- B. D. Lutz, A. N. Lewis, M. W. Doyle, Generation, transport, and disposal of wastewater associated with Marcellus Shale gas development. *Water Resources Research* 49, 647-656 (2013)10.1002/wrcr.20096).
- B. G. Rahm, S. J. Riha, Toward strategic managment of shale gas development: Regional, collective impacts on water resources. *Environmental Science & Policy* 14, 12-23 (2012).
- 38. D. J. Rozell, S. J. Reaven, Water pollution risk associated with natural gas extraction from the Marcellus Shale. *Risk analysis : an official publication of the Society for Risk Analysis* **32**, 1382-1393 (2012); published online EpubAug (10.1111/j.1539-6924.2011.01757.x).
- 39. J. M. Wilson, J. M. VanBriesen, Oil and Gas Produced Water Management and Surface Drinking Water Sources in Pennsylvania. *Environmental Practice* **14**, 288-300 (2012); published online EpubDecember (10.1017/S1466046612000427).
- 40. S. States, L. Casson, G. Cypryck, J. Monnell, M. Stoner, F. Wydra, paper presented at the Water Quality Technology Conference, Phoenix, AZ, 2011.
- K. J. Ferrar, D. R. Michanowicz, C. L. Christen, N. Mulcahy, S. L. Malone, R. K. Sharma, Assessment of Effluent Contaminants from Three Facilities Discharging Marcellus Shale Wastewater to Surface Waters in Pennsylvania. *Environmental Science* & *Technology* 47, 3472-3481 (2013); published online Epub2013/04/02 (10.1021/es301411q).
- 42. L. O. Haluszczak, A. W. Rose, L. R. Kump, Geochemical evaluation of flowback brine from Marcellus gas wells in Pennsylvania, USA. *Applied Geochemistry* **28**, 55-61 (2013)<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeochem.2012.10.002</u>).
- 43. J. Wilson, Y. Wang, J. VanBriesen, Sources of High Total Dissolved Solids to Drinking Water Supply in Southwestern Pennsylvania. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, (2013)10.1061/(ASCE)EE.1943-7870.0000733).

- 44. Environmental Quality Board, "Wastewater Treatment Requirements." in *Title 25 Environmental Protection*, Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Ed. (Pennsylvania Bulletin, Harrisburg, PA, 2009), vol. 39 Pa.B. 6467, chap. 95.
- 45. D. Hopey, S. D. Hamill. "DEP asks drillers to stop disposing wastewater at plants." Pittsburgh Post-Gazette Online. <<u>http://www.post-gazette.com/stories/local/marcellusshale/dep-asks-drillers-to-stop-disposing-wastewater-at-plants-294239/</u>>
- D. L. Shaffer, L. H. Arias Chavez, M. Ben-Sasson, S. Romero-Vargas Castrillón, N. Y. Yip, M. Elimelech, Desalination and Reuse of High-Salinity Shale Gas Produced Water: Drivers, Technologies, and Future Directions. *Environmental Science & Technology* 47, 9569-9583 (2013); published online Epub2013/09/03 (10.1021/es401966e).
- 47. W.-Y. Kim, Induced seismicity associated with fluid injection into a deep well in Youngstown, Ohio. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth* **118**, 3506-3518 (2013)10.1002/jgrb.50247).
- 48. National Research Council, *Induced Seismicity Potential in Energy Technologies*. (The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2013).
- 49. A. Litvak. "Marcellus Shale waste trips more radioactivity alarms than other products left at landfills." Pittsburgh Post-Gazette Online. <<u>http://www.post-gazette.com/stories/local/marcellusshale/marcellus-shale-waste-study-shows-radioactivity-is-naturally-occurring-700313/</u>>
- 50. D. J. Allard, paper presented at the Pennsylvania Emergy Management Agency Annual Emergency Management Conference, Harrisburg, PA, September 24, 2011 2011.
- 51. E. L. Rowan, M. A. Engle, C. S. Kirby, T. F. Kraemer, "Radium Content of Oil- and Gas-Field Produced Waters in the Northern Appalachian Basin (USA): Summary and Discussion of Data," *Scientific Investigations Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 2011).
- 52. D. Allard, "TENORM Experiences and Studies in Pennsylvania." (Pittsburgh, PA, 2013).
- 53. T. Puko. "Radioactive fracking debris triggers worries at dump sites." Tribune Review Online. <<u>http://triblive.com/business/headlines/3945499-74/gas-radiation-radioactivity#axzz2feb9nhs8</u>>
- 54. A. Litvak. "DEP and EPA settle frackwater radium issue with firm." Pittsburgh Business Times Online. <<u>http://www.bizjournals.com/pittsburgh/blog/energy/2013/05/dep-and-epa-settle-frackwater-radium.html?page=all></u>
- 55. C. v. Netten, K. Kan, J. Anderson, D. Morley, Radon-222 and Gamma Ray Levels Associated with the Collection, Transmission, and Utilization of Natural Gas. *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal* **59**, 622-628 (1998).

- 56. G. Jonkers, F. A. Hartog, W. A. I. Knaepen, P. F. J. Lacee, paper presented at the International Symposium on Radiological Problems with Natural Radioactivity in the non-nuclear industry, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1997.
- 57. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, *Comprehensive Radiation Study Plan for Oil & Gas Operations* (Harrisburg, PA, 2013).
- 58. A. Litovitz, A. Curtright, S. Abramzon, N. Burger, C. Samaras, Estimation of regional air-quality damages from Marcellus Shale natural gas extraction in Pennsylvania. *Environmental Research Letters* **8**, 014017 (2013).
- 59. A. A. Roy, P. J. Adams, A. L. Robinson, Air pollutant emissions from the development, production and processing of Marcellus Shale natural gas. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, null-null (2013)10.1080/10962247.2013.826151).
- 60. A. Maykuth. "Marcellus Shale producers making the switch to cleaner rigs." The Inquirer Online. <<u>http://articles.philly.com/2012-11-26/business/35348940_1_natural-gas-rig-natural-gas-marcellus-shale</u>>
- 61. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Oil and Natural Gas Sector: New Source Performance Standards and National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants Reviews. Final Rule." in *Federal Register volume 77, number 159* (2012), vol. RIN 2060–AP76, pp. 110.
- 62. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Reduced Emissions Completions for Hydraulically Fractured Natural Gas Wells " (Washington, DC, 2011). <<u>http://www.epa.gov/gasstar/documents/reduced_emissions_completions.pdf</u>>
- 63. A. Armendariz, "Emissions from Natural Gas Production in the Barnett Shale Area and Opportunities for Cost-Effective Improvements," (Environmental Defense Fund, Austin, TX, 2009). <<u>http://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/9235_Barnett_Shale_Report.pdf</u>>
- 64. P. Jaramillo, W. M. Griffin, H. S. Matthews, Comparative Life-Cycle Air Emissions of Coal, Domestic Natural Gas, LNG, and SNG for Electricity Generation. *Environmental Science & Technology* **41**, 6290-6296 (2007); published online Epub2007/09/01 (10.1021/es063031o).
- 65. A. Venkatesh, P. Jaramillo, W. M. Griffin, H. S. Matthews, Uncertainty in life cycle greenhouse gas emissions from United States natural gas end-uses and its effects on policy. *Environ Sci Technol* **45**, 8182-8189 (2011); published online EpubOct 1 (10.1021/es200930h).
- 66. R. Howarth, R. Santoro, A. Ingraffea, Methane and the greenhouse-gas footprint of natural gas from shale formations. *Climatic Change* **106**, 679-690 (2011); published online Epub2011/06/01 (10.1007/s10584-011-0061-5).

- 67. J. Mohan, W. M. Griffin, H. Chris, J. Paulina, V. Jeanne, V. Aranya, Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of Marcellus shale gas. *Environmental Research Letters* **6**, 034014 (2011).
- 68. C. L. Weber, C. Clavin, Life Cycle Carbon Footprint of Shale Gas: Review of Evidence and Implications. *Environmental Science & Technology* **46**, 5688-5695 (2012); published online Epub2012/06/05 (10.1021/es300375n).
- 69. D. T. Allen, V. M. Torres, J. Thomas, D. W. Sullivan, M. Harrison, A. Hendler, S. C. Herndon, C. E. Kolb, M. P. Fraser, A. D. Hill, B. K. Lamb, J. Miskimins, R. F. Sawyer, J. H. Seinfeld, Measurements of methane emissions at natural gas production sites in the United States. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, (2013); published online EpubSeptember 16, 2013 (10.1073/pnas.1304880110).
- 70. J. Parsons, "Western PA Streams Emptied By Natural Gas Drilling." (WTAE-TV, Pittsburgh, PA, 2008).
- J. Johnson, Raymond H., D. E. Bernhardt, N. S. Nelson, J. Calley, Harry W.,
 "Assessment of Potential Radiological Health Effects from Radon in Natural Gas," (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, 1973).
- 72. C. J. Barton, R. E. Moore, P. S. Rohwer, "Contribution of radon in natural gas to the natural radioactivity dose in homes," (Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN, 1973).
- 73. T. F. Gesell, R. H. Johnson Jr., D. E. Bernhardt, "Assessment of Potential Radiological Health Effects from Radon in Liquified Petroleum Gas," (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 1977).
- 74. C. V. Gogolak, "Review of ²²²Rn in Natural Gas Produced from Unconventional Sources," (U.S. Department of Energy, Environmental Measurements laboratory, New York, 1980). <<u>www.osti.gov/bridge/product.biblio.jsp?osti_id=6732903</u>>
- 75. M. Resnikoff, "Radon in Natural Gas from Marcellus Shale," (2012). <<u>http://www.radonleaders.org/sites/default/files/Marcellus_Radon.pdf</u>>
- 76. D. Krewski, "An Assessment of the Lung Cancer Risk Associated with the Presence of Radon in Natural Gas Used for Cooking in Homes in New York State " (Ottawa, Ontario, 2012).
- 77. L. R. Anspaugh, "Scientific Issues Concerning Radon in Natural Gas Texas Eastern Transmission, LP and Algonquin Gas Transmission, LLC New Jersey–New York Expansion Project, Docket No. CP11-56 " (2012).
- 78. National Research Council, *Health Risks of Exposure to Radon: BEIR VI.* Board on Radiation Effects Research (National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 1999).

- 79. International Agency for Research on Cancer, "Man-made mineral fibres and radon," *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans* (World Health Organization, Lyon, France, 1988).
- 80. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "EPA Assessment of Risks from Radon in Homes," (Office of Radiation and Indoor Air, United States Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, 2003).
- 81. M. C. Turner, D. Krewski, Y. Chen, C. A. Pope, S. Gapstur, M. J. Thun, Radon and Lung Cancer in the American Cancer Society Cohort. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* **20**, 438-448 (2011); published online EpubMarch 1, 2011 (10.1158/1055-9965.epi-10-1153).
- 82. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Why is radon the public health risk that it is?" 2013: Web
- 83. A. V. Nero, W. W. Nazaroff, Charaterising the Source of Radon Indoors. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry* **7**, 23-39 (1984).
- J. D. Ayotte, J. A. M. Gronberg, L. E. Apodaca, "Trace Elements and Radon in Groundwater Across the United States, 1992–2003," *Scientific Investigations Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 2011).
- 85. National Council on Radiation Protection and Measurements, "Evaluation of Occupational and Environmental Exposures to Radon and Radon Daughters in the United States," (Bethesda, MD, 1984).
- 86. B. L. Cohen, Test of the Linear-No Threshold Theory of Radiation Carcinogensis for Inhaled Radon Decay Products. *Health Phys.* **68**, 157-174 (1995).
- 87. B. L. Cohen, Updates and Extension to Tests of the Linear-No Threshold Theory. *Technology* **7**, 657-672 (2000).
- M. C. Turner, D. Krewski, Y. Chen, C. A. Pope, S. M. Gapstur, M. J. Thun, Radon and Nonrespiratory Mortality in the American Cancer Society Cohort. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 176, 808-814 (2012); published online EpubNovember 1, 2012 (10.1093/aje/kws198).
- 89. M. Al-Zoughool, D. Krewski, Health effects of radon: A review of the literature. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* **85**, 57-69 (2009).
- 90. D. Krewski, J. H. Lubin, J. M. Zielinski, M. Alavanja, V. S. Catalan, R. W. Field, J. B. Klotz, E. G. Letourneau, C. F. Lynch, J. I. Lyon, D. P. Sandler, J. B. Schoenberg, D. J. Steck, J. A. Stolwijk, C. Weinberg, H. B. Wilcox, Residential radon and risk of lung cancer: a combined analysis of 7 North American case-control studies. *Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.)* 16, 137-145 (2005); published online EpubMar (

- 91. D. Krewski, J. H. Lubin, J. M. Zielinski, M. Alavanja, V. S. Catalan, R. W. Field, J. B. Klotz, E. G. Letourneau, C. F. Lynch, J. L. Lyon, D. P. Sandler, J. B. Schoenberg, D. J. Steck, J. A. Stolwijk, C. Weinberg, H. B. Wilcox, A combined analysis of North American case-control studies of residential radon and lung cancer. *Journal of toxicology and environmental health. Part A* 69, 533-597 (2006); published online EpubApr (10.1080/15287390500260945).
- 92. F. Marcinowski, R. M. Lucas, W. M. Yeager, National and regional distributions of airborne radon concentrations in U.S. homes. *Health physics* **66**, 699-706 (1994).
- 93. C. A. V. Straeten, in *From Rodinia to Pangea: The Lithotectonic Record of the Appalachian Region*, R. P. Tollo, Ed. (The Gological Society of America, Boulder, CO, 2010), vol. Memoir 206, pp. 251-282.
- S. M. Lev, J. K. Filer, Assessing the impact of black shale processes on REE and the U– Pb isotope system in the southern Appalachian Basin. *Chemical Geology* 206, 393-406 (2004).
- 95. R. F. Anderson, M. Q. Fleisher, A. P. LeHuray, Concentration, oxidation state, and particulate flux of uranium in the Black Sea. *Gechimica et Cosmochimica Acta* **53**, 2215-2224 (1989).
- 96. J. K. Cochran, in *Uranium Series Disequilibrium: Applications to Environmental Problems*, M. Harmon, R. S. Ivanovich, Eds. (Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1992).
- 97. G. P. Klinkhammer, M. R. Palmer, Uranium in the oceans: Where it goes and why. *Geochemica et Cosmochimica Acta* **55**, 1799-1806 (1991).
- 98. B. B. Sageman, A. E. Murphy, J. P. Werne, C. A. Ver Straeten, D. J. Hollander, T. W. Lyons, A tale of shales: the relative roles of production, decomposition, and dilution in the accumulation of organich-rich strata, Middle-Upper Devonian, Appalachian basin. *Chemical Geology* 195, 229-273 (2003).
- 99. K. K. Turekian, K. H. Wedepohl, "Distribution of the Elements in some major units of the Earth's crust." in *Geological Society of America Bulletin*. (1961), vol. 72, pp. 175-192.
- 100. J. S. Leventhal, Pyrolysis gas chromotography-mass spectrometry to characterize organic matter and its relationship to uranium content of Appalachian Devonian black shales. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta* **45**, 883-889 (1981).
- 101. J. W. Schmoker, Determination of organic matter content of Appalachian Devonian shales from gamma-ray logs. *AAPG Bulletin* **65**, 1285-1298 (1981).
- 102. G. Wang, T. R. Carr, Methodology of organic-rich shale lithofacies identification and prediction: A case study from Marcellus Shale in the Appalachian basin. *Computers & Geosciences* **49**, 151-163 (2012).

- 103. E. L. Rowan, T. F. Kraemer, "Radon-222 Content of Natural Gas Samples from Upper and Middle Devonian Sandstone and Shale Reservoirs in Pennsylvania: Preliminary Data," *Open-File Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 2012).
- T. K. Ball, D. G. Cameron, T. B. Colman, P. D. Roberts, Behaviour of radon in geological environment: a review. *Quarterly Journal of Engineering Geology* 24, 169-182 (1991).
- 105. K. Satomi, P. Kruger, "Radon Emanation Mechanism from Finely Ground Rocks," (Stanford University, Stanford, CA, 1982).
- 106. A. Y. Sakakura, C. Lindberg, H. Faul, "Equation of Continuity in Geology with Applications to the Transport of Radioactive Gas," (U.S. Geological Survey, 1959).
- 107. H. B. van der Heijde, H. Beens, A. R. de Monchy, The Occurrence of Radioactive Elements in Natural Gas. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety* **1**, 49-87.
- 108. C. V. Gogolak, "Review of 222-Rn in Natural Gas Produced from Unconventional Sources," (U.S. Department of Energy, New York, 1980).
- 109. B. T. Wilkins, "The Assessment of Radon and its Daughters in North Sea Gas Used in the United Kingdom," (National Radiological Protection Board, United Kingdom, 1977).
- 110. D. W. Dixon, Radon Exposures from the Use of Natural Gas in Buildings. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry* **97**, 259-264 (2001).
- 111. M. Wojcik, Long-term Measurements of Rn and Short-lived Rn Daughter Concentrations in Natural Gas From Distribution Line. *Health Phys.* **57**, 989-991 (1989).
- W. W. Delp, B. C. Singer, Performance Assessment of U.S. Residential Cooking Exhaust Hoods. *Environmental Science & Technology* 46, 6167-6173 (2012); published online Epub2012/06/05 (10.1021/es3001079).
- 113. American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air Conditioning Engineers, "ASHRAE Position Document on Unvented Combustion Devices and Indoor Air Quality." (Atlanta, GA, 2012), pp. 15.
- N. M. Hassan, T. K. Ghosh, A. L. Hines, S. K. Loyalk, Adsorption of Radon and Water Vapor on Commercial Activated Carbons *Separation Science and Technology* 30, 565-583 (2006)10.1080/01496399508225610).
- 115. Hearth Patio & Barbecue Association, "State of the Hearth Industry Report," (Arlington, VA, 2011). <<u>http://www.hpba.org/media/hearth-industry-prs/2011-state-of-the-hearth-industry-report</u>>

- T. D. Sterling, D. Kobayashi, Use of Gas Ranges for Cooking and Heating in Urban Dwellings. *Journal of the Air Pollution Control Association* **31**, 162-165 (1981)10.1080/00022470.1981.10465207).
- A. Zota, G. Adamkiewicz, J. I. Levy, J. D. Spengler, Ventilation in public housing: implications for indoor nitrogen dioxide concentrations. *Indoor Air* 15, 393-401 (2005)10.1111/j.1600-0668.2005.00375.x).
- 118. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "Use of Unvented Residential Heating Appliances -- United States, 1988-1994." in *MMWR*. (Atlanta, GA, 1997), vol. 46, pp. 1221-1224.
- 119. K. J. Harris, "Letter order granting Texas Eastern Transmission, LP's et al 5/17/13 request to commence construction re the Final Notice to Proceed for the New Jersey- New York Expansion Project under CP11-56." Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, Ed. (2013).
- 120. ICF International, "Assessment of New York City Natural Gas Market Fundamentals and Life Cycle Fuel Emissions," (Fairfax, Virginia, 2012). <<u>http://www.nyc.gov/html/om/pdf/2012/icf_natural_gas_study.pdf</u>>
- 121. Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, "Major Pipeline Projects Pending (Onshore) " (Washington, DC, 2012). <<u>http://www.ferc.gov/industries/gas/indus--</u> act/pipelines/pending--projects.asp>
- 122. U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Consumption by End Use." (U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, 2013).
- 123. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Jan Jun 2013 (Unconventional wells)," (Harrisburg, PA, 2013). Commonwealth of Pennsylvania accessed on 9/5/2013
- 124. E. W. McAllister, *Pipe Line Rules of Thumb Handbook: a manual of quick, accurate solutions to everyday pipeline problems.* (Gulf Publishing Company, Houston, Texas, ed. 4th, 1998), pp. 602.
- 125. National Grid, "Natural Gas FAQs (Frequently Asked Questions)." 2005: Web
- 126. G. W. Traynor, J. R. Girman, M. G. Apte, J. F. Dillworth, P. D. White, Indoor Air Pollution Due to Emission from Unvented Gas-Fired Space Heaters. *JAPCA* **35**, 231-237 (1985).
- 127. G. W. Traynor, M. G. Apte, J. F. Dillworth, C. D. Hollowell, E. M. Sterling, The Effects of Ventilation on Residential Air Pollution Due to Emissions from a Gas-Fired Range. *Environment International* **8**, 447-452 (1982).
- 128. P. W. Francisco, J. R. Gordon, Measured concentrations of combustion gases from the use of unvented gas fireplaces. *Indoor Air*, 370-379 (2010).

- 129. Agnes B. Lobscheid, Neil E. Klepeis, Brett C. Singer, "Modeling Population Exposures to Pollutants Emitted from Natural Gas Cooking Burners," (Ernest Orlando Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, 2011).
- 130. Energy Information Administration, "Residential Energy Consumption Survey," (Washington, DC, 2009). U.S. Department of Energy
- 131. C. Berry, Personal communication. 2013
- 132. Vent-Free Gas Products Association, "TECHNICAL/CODES & STANDARDS." 2007: Web
- 133. I. American National Standards Institute, "National Fuel Gas Code." I. American National Standards Institute, Ed. (New York, NY, 2012), vol. ANSI Z223.1/NFPA 54.
- 134. Vent-Free Gas Products Association, "New York Sizing Guidelines." (1998).
- 135. Vent-Free Gas Products Association, "New Poll: Consumers Expect to Pay More for Home Heating This Winter." 2011: Web
- 136. Hearth Patio & Barbecue Association, "Gas Fireplaces, Stoves, Inserts and Log Sets: Efficient ways to zone heat your home." (Hearth, Patio & Barbecue Association, 2006).
- 137. L. Du, S. Batterman, C. Godwin, J.-Y. Chin, E. Parker, M. Breen, W. Brakefield, T. Robins, T. Lewis, Air Change Rates and Interzonal Flows in Residences, and the Need for Multi-Zone Models for Exposure and Health Analyses. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 9, 4639-4661 (2012).
- 138. C. Howard-Reed, L. A. Wallace, W. R. Ott, The effect of opening windows on air change rates in two homes. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association (1995)* **52**, 147-159 (2002).
- 139. D. Etheridge, M. Sandberg, *Building ventilation: Theory and measurement*. (John Wiley & Sons, Chichester and New York, 1996).
- 140. A. R. Ferro, N. E. Klepeis, W. R. Ott, W. W. Nazaroff, L. M. Hildemann, P. Switzer, Effect of interior door position on room-to-room differences in residential pollutant concentrations after short-term releases. *Atmospheric Environment* 43, 706-714 (2009)<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.09.032</u>).
- 141. M. S. Breen, B. D. Schultz, M. D. Sohn, T. Long, J. Langstaff, R. Williams, K. Isaacs, Q. Y. Meng, C. Stallings, L. Smith, A review of air exchange rate models for air pollution exposure assessments. *J Expos Sci Environ Epidemiol*, (2013); published online Epub05/29/online (10.1038/jes.2013.30).

- W. R. Chan, W. W. Nazaroff, P. N. Price, M. D. Sohn, A. J. Gadgil, Analyzing a database of residential air leakage in the United States. *Atmospheric Environment*, 3445-3455 (2005).
- 143. V. Fabi, R. V. Andersen, S. Corgnati, B. W. Olesen, Occupants' window opening behaviour: A literature review of factors influencing occupant behaviour and models. *Building and Environment* 58, 188-198 (2012); published online Epub12// (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.buildenv.2012.07.009</u>).
- 144. W. R. Chan, J. Joh, M. H. Sherman, Analysis of air leakage measurements of US houses. *Energy and Buildings* 66, 616-625 (2013); published online Epub11// (http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2013.07.047).
- 145. D. M. Murray, D. E. Burmaster, Residential Air Exchange Rates in the United States: Empirical and Estimated Parametric Distributions by Season and Climatic Region. *Risk Analysis* **15**, 459-465 (1995).
- 146. N. L. Nagda, M. D. Koontz, I. H. Billick, paper presented at the 6th Air Infiltration Centre Conference, Netherlands, September 16-19 1985.
- 147. P. W. Francisco, J. R. Gordon, W. B. Rose, "Development of a Model of Cycling Unvented Fireplace Use." in *Buildings XI Conference*. (Clearwater Beach, FL, 2010).
- 148. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, "United States Cancer Statistics, 1999–2009 Cancer Incidence and Mortality Data," (Atlanta, GA, 2011).
- 149. J. M. Logue, M. H. Sherman, I. S. Walker, B. C. Singer, Energy impacts of envelope tightening and mechanical ventilation for the U.S. residential sector. *Energy and Buildings* **65**, 281-291 (2013)<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enbuild.2013.06.008</u>).
- D. Marr, M. Mason, R. Mosley, X. Liu, The influence of opening windows and doors on the natural ventilation rate of a residential building. *HVAC&R Research* 18, 195-203 (2012); published online Epub2012/02/01 (10.1080/10789669.2011.585423).
- S. Entrekin, M. Evans-Whte, B. Johnson, E. Hagenbuch, Rapid expansion of natural gas development poses a threat to surface waters. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 9, 503-511 (2011).
- 152. T. Myers, Potential Contaminant Pathways from Hydraulically Fractured Shale to Aquifers. *GroundWater* **50**, 872–882 (2012).
- 153. N. R. Warner, R. B. Jackson, T. H. Darrah, S. G. Osborn, A. Down, K. Zhao, A. White, A. Vengosh, Geochemical evidence for possible natural migration of Marcellus Formation brine to shallow aquifers in Pennsylvania. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science* **109**, 11961–11966 (2012)10.1073/pnas.1100682108).

- 154. G. E. King, "Hydraulic Fracturing 101: What Every Representative, Environmentalist, Regulator, Reporter, Investor, University Researcher, Neighbor and Engineer Should Know About Estimating Frac Risk and Improving Frac Performance in Unconventional Gas and Oil Wells." in *SPE Hydraulic Fracturing Technology Conference*. (Society of Petroleum Engineers, The Woodlands, Texas, 2012).
- 155. S. Detrow, In Northeast Pennsylvania, Methane Migration Means Flammable Puddles And 30-Foot Geysers. *StateImpact Pennsylvania*. 2012.
- 156. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, *Stray Natural Gas Migration Associated with Oil and Gas Wells* (Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, 2009).
- 157. R. Hammer, J. VanBriesen, "In Fracking's Wake: New Rules are Needed to Protect Our Health and Environment from Contaminated Wastewater," NRDC Document (National Resources Defense Council, 2012). <<u>http://www.nrdc.org/energy/files/Fracking-</u> <u>Wastewater-FullReport.pdf</u>>
- 158. D. Hopey, "DEP reviewing permit for hauler charged with illegal dumping." in *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*. (2011).
- 159. S. States, L. Casson, G. Cypryck, J. Monnell, M. Stoner, F. Wydra, "Bromide in the Allegheny River and THMs in Pittsburgh Drinking Water: A link with Marcellus shale drilling." in *Water Quality Technology Conference*. (American Water Works Association, Phoenix, Arizona, 2011).
- 160. M. DePhilip, T. Moberg, "Ecosystem Flow Recommendations for the Susquehanna River Basin," (The Nature Conservancy, Harrisburg, PA, 2010). <<u>http://www.srbc.net/policies/docs/TNCFinalSusquehannaRiverEcosystemFlowsStudyReport_Nov10_20120327_fs135148v1.PDF</u>>
- 161. T. C. Annear, *Instream Flows for Riverine Resource Stewardship (rev. edition)*. (Instream Flow Council, Cheyenne, Wyoming, 2004).
- 162. T. L. Denslinger, D. R. Jackson, W. A. Gast, G. J. Lazorchick, J. J. Hauenstein, J. E. McSparran, D. W. Heicher, T. W. Stoe, J. Henriksen, L. M. Young, "Instream flow studies Pennsylvania and Maryland," (Susquehanna River Basin Commission, Harrisburg, PA, 1998).
 http://www.srbc.net/pubinfo/techdocs/publications_1998/ifimreport_191.pdf
- 163. N. L. Poff, J. D. Allan, M. B. Bain, J. R. Karr, K. L. Prestegaard, B. D. Richter, R. E. Sparks, J. C. Stromberg, The Natural Flow Regime. *BioScience* **47**, 769-784 (1997).
- S. E. Bunn, A. H. Arthington, Basic Principles and Ecological Consequences of Altered Flow Regimes for Aquatic Biodiversity. *Environmental Management* **30**, 492-507 (2002)10.1007/s00267-002-2737-0).

- 165. A. E. Curtright, K. Giglio, "Coal Mine Drainage for Marcellus Shale Natural Gas Extraction," (RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA, 2012). <<u>http://www.rand.org/pubs/conf_proceedings/CF300.html</u>>
- 166. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Utilization of Mine Influenced Water for Natural Gas Extraction Activities " (Harrisburg, PA, 2013). <<u>http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Mining/Abandoned%20Mine%20Reclamation/AbandonedMinePortalFiles/MIW/Final_MIW_White_Paper.pdf</u>>
- 167. Department of Environmental Conservation, "Revised Draft SGEIS on the Oil, Gas and Solution Mining Regulatory Program," (Albany, NY, 2011). <<u>http://www.dec.ny.gov/energy/75370.html</u>>
- 168. The General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Act of Feb. 14, 2012, P.L. 87, No. 13, HB 1950, OIL AND GAS (58 PA.C.S.), (2012)
- 169. Environmental Resources Research Institute, "Networked streams of Pennsylvania," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Harrisburg, PA, 1998). The Pennsylvania Geospatial Data Clearinghouse accessed on 2/8/2013
- 170. K. Carter, "Well Record and Completion Reports," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Pittsburgh, PA, 2012). Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, accessed on 2/7/12
- 171. T. W. Beauduy, "Shale Gas Production and Water Resources to the Eastern United States." in *US Senate Water and Power Subcommittee*. (Susquehanna River Basin Commission, Harrisburg, PA, 2011), pp. 11.
- 172. J. F. Kenny, N. L. Barber, S. S. Hutson, K. S. Linsey, J. K. Lovelace, M. A. Maupin, "Estimated Use of Water in the United States in 2005," (U. S. G. Survey, Reston, Virginia, 2011). U.S. Geological Survey accessed on December 29, 2011
- 173. J. P. Nicot, B. R. Scanlon, Water use for shale-gas production in Texas, US. *Env. Sci. & Tech.* **46**, 3580-3586 (2012).
- 174. J. D. Arthur, M. Uretsky, P. Wilson, "Water Resources and Use for Hydraulic Fracturing in the Marcellus Shale Region," (ALL Consulting).
- 175. C. Abdalla, J. Drohan, B. Rahm, J. Jacquet, J. Becker, A. Collins, A. Klaiber, G. Poe, D. Grantham, "Water's Journey Through the Shale Gas Drilling and Production Processes in the Mid-Atlantic Region," (Penn State Extension, University Park, PA, 2012). <<u>http://pubs.cas.psu.edu/freepubs/pdfs/ee0023.pdf</u>>
- 176. U.S. Geological Survey, "Pennsylvania StreamStats." 2012: Web
- 177. J. Drohan, C. Abdalla, "Valuing Pennsylvania's Water Resources," (Pennsylvania State University, State College, PA, 2000). <<u>http://pubs.cas.psu.edu/freepubs/pdfs/ua345.pdf</u>>

- 178. H. C. Riggs, "Low-Flow Investigations," *Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations Reports No. Book4: Hydrologic Analysis and Interpretation* (U.S. Geological Survey, 1972).
- 179. M. H. Ehlke, L. A. Reed, "Comparison of Methods for Computing Streamflow Statistics for Pennsylvania Streams," *Water-Resources Investigations Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Lemoyne, PA, 1999). <<u>http://wilkes.edu/Include/WaterResearch/PDFs/3676/Geological/Stream%20Flow%20G</u> <u>eology.pdf</u>>
- 180. Susquehanna River Basin Commission, "Guidelines for Using and Determining Passby Flows and Conservation Releases for Surface-Water and Ground-Water withdrawal Approvals." (Harrisburg, PA, 2002), vol. 2003-01.
- 181. D. Jostenski, Personal communication. 2012
- 182. D. L. Tennant, Instream flow regimens for fish, wildlife, recreation and related environmental resources. *Fisheries* **1**, 6-10 (1976).
- K. D. Bovee, "A Guide to stream habitat analysis using instream flow incremental methodology, informatin paper 12," (US Fish and Wildlife Service, Fort Collins, CO, 1980).
- 184. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Environmental Protection." in 25, P. D. o. E. Protection, Ed. (Harrisburg, PA, 1999), vol. § 93.4b. Qualifying as High Quality or Exceptional Value Waters.
- 185. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, *Draft Policy for Protecting* Aquatic Resources and Related Stream Uses in Processing Approvals for Water Rights Acquisitions in Certain Waters of the Commonwealth (Harrisburg, PA, 2007).
- 186. Susquehanna River Basin Commission, "Technical Guidance for Low Flow Protection Related to Withdrawal Approvals," (Susquehanna River Basin Commission, Harrisburg, PA, 2012). <<u>http://www.srbc.net/policies/docs/2012-</u> 01_LFPP_Technical_Guidance_for_Low_Flow_Protection_Related_to_Withdrawal_App rovals_12-14-12_fs170477.PDF>
- 187. B. Moyer. "Laurel Hill Creek: Almost a river, it's a stream of multiple personalities." Pittsburgh Post-Gazette March 16: Online. <<u>http://www.post-gazette.com/stories/sports/hunting-fishing/laurel-hill-creek-almost-a-river-its-a-stream-of-multiple-personalities-385240/</u>>
- 188. Bureau of Watershed Management, "Water Allocation Application and Instructions." Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Ed. (Harrisburg, PA, 2001).
- 189. J. R. Stedinger, R. M. Vogel, E. Foufoula-Georgiou, in *Handbook of Hydrology*, D. Maidment, Ed. (McGraw-Hill, New York, New York, 1993), pp. 18.11–18.66.

- 190. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Computing Low-Flow Statistics for Ungaged Locations on Pennsylvania Streams By Use of Drainage-Area Ratios," (2002). http://paapps.er.usgs.gov/flowstats/revised_deplowflow.pdf
- 191. J. R. Stedinger, W. O. Thomas, Jr, "Low-flow frequency estimation using base-flow measurements," *Open-File Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA, 1985).
- 192. R. M. Hirsch, A comparison of four streamflow record extension techniques. Water Resources Research 18, 1081-1088 (1982); published online EpubAugust (10.1029/WR018i004p01081).
- 193. K. Eng, J. E. Kiang, Y. Chen, D. M. Carlisle, G. E. Granato, Causes of systematic overor underestimation of low streamflows by use of index-streamgage approaches in the United States. *Hydrological Processes* **25**, 2211-2220 (2011).
- 194. M. H. Stuckey, "Low-Flow, Base-Flow, and Mean-Flow Regression Equations for Pennsylvania Streams," *Scientific Investigations Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, New Cumberland, PA, 2006).
- 195. G. D. Tasker, J. R. Stedinger, An operational GLS model for hydrologic regression. *Journal of Hydrology* **111**, 361-375 (1989).
- 196. M. H. Stuckey, E. H. Koerkle, J. E. Ulrich, "Estimation of baseline daily mean streamflows for ungaged locations on Pennsylvania streams, water years 1960–2008," *Scientific Investigations Report* (U.S. Geological Survey, New Cumberland, PA, 2012).
- 197. M. Hill, "Water Management Plan," (Pennsylvania Spatial Data Access, 2012). Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection
- Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Requirements for Water Withdrawal Registration & Reporting." in 25 Pa. Code Chapter 110. (Harrisburg, PA, 2008).
- 199. V. U. Smakhtin, Low flow hydrology: a review. Journal of Hydrology, 147-186 (2001).
- 200. S. A. Wade, "Stream Flow Characterization Over Longwall Coal Mines in Pennsylvania, Ohio, and West Virginia." Department of Geology and Geography, Morgantown, WV (2008).
- 201. J. J. Chaplin, C. A. Cravotta III, J. B. Weitzel, K. M. Klemow, "Effects of Historical Coal Mining and Drainage from Abandoned Mines on Streamflow and Water Quality in Newport and Nanticoke Creeks, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, 1999-2000," (U.S. Geological Survey, New Cumberland, PA, 2007). <<u>http://pubs.usgs.gov/sir/2007/5061/</u>>
- 202. Environmental Resources Research Institute, "Major watershed boundaries for Pennsylvania conservation gap analysis," (Pennsylvania Gap Analysis Program, University Park, PA, 1998). The Pennsylvania State University

- 203. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Mined Out Areas," (Bureau of District Mining Operations, Harrisburg, PA, 2012). The Pennsylvania Geospatial Data Clearinghouse accessed on 8/7/12
- 204. B. o. D. M. O. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Longwall mining panels," (2012). Pennsylvania Spatial Data Access accessed on 8 August 2012
- 205. V. Fortin, B. Bobee, Nonparametric bootstrap confidence intervals for the Log-Pearson type III distribution. *Transactions on Ecology and the Environment* **6**, 351-358 (1994).
- 206. D. P. Ames, Estimating 7Q10 Confidence Limits from Data: A Bootstrap Approach. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management* **132**, 204-208 (2006).
- J. Mobley, T. Culver, Design of Outlet Control Structures for Ecological Detention Ponds. J. Water Resour. Plann. Manage., (2012)10.1061/(ASCE)WR.1943-5452.0000266).
- 208. R. M. Vogel, N. M. Fennessey, Flow duration curves: II. A review of applications in water resources planning. *Water Resour. Bull.* **31**, 1029-1039 (1995).
- 209. R. M. Vogel, J. Sieber, S. A. Archfield, M. P. Smith, C. E. Apse, A. Huber-Lee, Relations among storage, yield and instream flow. *Water Resour. Res.* 43, (2007)10.1029/2006WR005226).
- 210. M. DePhilip, T. Moberg, "Ecosystem Flow Recommendations for the Upper Ohio River Basin in Western Pennsylvania," (The Nature Conservancy, Harrisburg, PA, 2013). <<u>http://www.nature.org/media/pa/ecosystem-flow-recommendations-upper-ohio-river-pa-2013.pdf</u>>
- 211. Groundwater Protection Council, Interstate Oil and Gas Commission Compact, "FracFocus Chemical Disclosure Registry." (<u>http://fracfocus.org/</u>, 2013).
- 212. Asce, Task Committee on low-flow evaluation, methods, and needs of the Committee on Surface-Water Hydrology of the Hydraulics Division. *ASCE Journal of Hydraulics* **106**, 717-731 (1980).
- 213. S. Huh, D. A. Dickey, M. R. Meador, K. E. Ruhl, Temporal analysis of the frequency and duration of low and high streamflow: years of record needed to characterize streamflow variability. *Journal of Hydrology*, 78-94 (2005).
- 214. B. D. Richter, J. V. Baumgartner, R. Wigington, D. P. Braun, How much water does a river need? *Freshwater Biology* **37**, 231-249 (1997).
- 215. J. Whitacre, "Carnegie Museum of Natural History Pennsylvania Unconventional Natural Gas Wells Geodatabase (v. 2012.07)," (Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 2013). Carnegie Museum of Natural History accessed on February 8, 2013

- 216. Natural Resources Conservation Service, "10 Digit Watershed Boundary Dataset in HUC10," (U.S. Department of Agriculture, Fort Worth, TX, 2012). National Geospatial Management Center
- 217. Environmental Systems Research Institute, "U.S. Counties," (Redlands, CA, 2012). Environmental Systems Research Institute
- 218. V. B. Sauer, R. W. Meyer, "Determination of Error in Individual Discharge Measurements," (USGS, Norcross, GA, 1992).
- 219. M. L. Soupir, S. Mostaghimi, J. C. E. Mitchem, A Comparative Study of Stream-Gaging Techniques for Low-Flow Measurements in Two Virginia Tributaries1. *JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association* **45**, 110-122 (2009)10.1111/j.1752-1688.2008.00264.x).
- 220. I. Westerberg, J. L. Guerrero, J. Seibert, K. J. Beven, S. Halldin, Stage-discharge uncertainty derived with a non-stationary rating curve in the Choluteca River, Honduras. *Hydrological Processes* **25**, 603-613 (2011)10.1002/hyp.7848).
- 221. J. R. Dymond, R. Christian, Accuracy of discharge determined from a rating curve. *Hydrological Sciences Journal* **27**, 493-504 (1982); published online Epub1982/12/01 (10.1080/02626668209491128).
- 222. S. E. Rantz, "Measurement and computation of streamflow Volume 2, computation of discharge," (U. S. Geological Survey, 1982).
- 223. C. Hittle, Personal communication. 2010
- 224. I. Borthwick, "Environmental management in oil and gas exploration and production : an overview of issues and management approaches," UNEP IE/PAC Technical Report 37 (The United Nations Environment Programme Industry and Environment Centre, Paris, France, 1997). <<u>http://www.ogp.org.uk/pubs/254.pdf</u>>
- 225. T. R. Angradi, Fine Sediment and Macroinvertebrate Assemblages in Appalachian Streams: A Field Experiment with Biomonitoring Applications. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* **18**, 49-66 (1999).
- 226. H. Berkman, C. Rabeni, Effect of siltation on stream fish communities. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **18**, 285-294 (1987).
- 227. A. MacFarlane, "Revegetation of Wellsites and Seismic Lines in the Boreal Forest." Honour's Thesis University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta (1999).
- 228. S. K. Robinson, F. R. Thompson Iii, T. M. Donovan, D. R. Whitehead, J. Faaborg, Regional Forest Fragmentation and the Nesting Success of Migratory Birds. *Science* 267, 1987-1990 (1995).

- 229. Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources: Bureau of Forestry, "Pennsylvania Statewide Forest Resource Assessment," (Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural Resources, Harrisburg, PA, 2010). <<u>www.dcnr.state.pa.us/forestry/farmbill/pdfs/assessment.pdf</u>>
- 230. Railroad Commission of Texas, Well Plugging Primer (Austin, TX, 2000).
- 231. A. E. Gurevich, B. L. Endres, J. O. Robertson Jr, G. V. Chilingar, Gas migration from oil and gas fields and associated hazards. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering* **9**, 223-238 (1993).
- 232. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Orphan Oil and Gas Wells and the Orphan Well Plugging Fund," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, 2007). <<u>http://www.elibrary.dep.state.pa.us/dsweb/Get/Document-</u> <u>82185/5500-FS-DEP1670.pdf</u>>
- 233. National Energy Technology Laboratory, "Methane Emissions Project Borough of Versailles, Pennsylvania," (U.S. Department of Energy, Pittsburgh, PA, 2007). <<u>http://www.netl.doe.gov/newsroom/versailles/Versailles%20Methane%20Emissions%2</u> <u>0Project%20-%20Final%20Report.pdf</u>>
- 234. L. Muehlenbachs, "Internalizing Production Externalities: A Structural Estimation of Real Options in the Upstream Oil and Gas Industry." Doctor of Philosophy University of Maryland, College Park, MD (2009).
- 235. J. R. Nichol, S. N. Kariyawasam, "Risk Assessment of Temporarily Abandoned or Shutin Wells," (Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service, C-FER Technologies, 2000). <<u>www.boemre.gov/tarprojects/329/329AA.pdf</u>>
- 236. R. K. Khandka, "Leakage Behind Casing." Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Department of Petroleum Engineering and Applied Geophysics Trondheim, Norway (2007).
- 237. M. B. Dusseault, M. N. Gray, paper presented at the International Oil and Gas Conference and Exhibition, Beijing, China, 7-10 November 2000.
- 238. S. E. Gasda, S. Bachu, M. A. Celia, Spatial characterization of the location of potentially leaky wells penetrating a deep saline aquifer in a mature sedimentary basin. *Environmental Geology* **46**, 707-720 (2004).
- 239. S. Ghoweri, Personal communication. 2011
- 240. Bureau of Land Management, *Coalbed Methane Development in the Northern San Juan Basin of Colorado* (San Juan, CO, 1999).
- 241. G. V. Chilingar, B. Endres, Environmental hazards posed by the Los Angeles Basin urban oilfields: an historical perspective of lessons learned. *Environmental Geology* **47**, 302-317 (2005).
- 242. S. L. Stafford, T. J. Weaver, R. S. Hedin, paper presented at the National Meeting of the American Society of Mining and Reclamation, Morgantown, WV, 2004.
- 243. H. Rabinowitz, "Economic effects of groundwater contamination on real estate," (University of Wisconsin, Water Resources Center, Madison, WI, 1995). <<u>http://digital.library.wisc.edu/1711.dl/EcoNatRes.WRCGRR9506</u>>
- P. Boxall, W. Chan, M. McMillan, The impact of oil and natural gas facilities on rural residential property values: a spatial hedonic analysis. *Resource and Energy Economics* 27, 248-269 (2005).
- 245. C. G. Leggett, N. E. Bockstael, Evidence of the Effects of Water Quality on Residential Land Prices. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* **39**, 121-144 (2000).
- 246. Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission, "Protecting Our Country's Resources: The states Case," (The Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission, Oklahoma City, OK, 2008). <<u>http://iogcc.myshopify.com/products/protecting-our-countrys-resources-the-states-case-orphaned-well-plugging-initiative-2008</u>>
- 247. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, "Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change," (2007). <<u>http://ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/ar4/wg1/en/contents.html></u>
- 248. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection: Bureau of Oil and Gas Management, "Abandoned & Orphan Wells Listing," (Bureau of Oil and Gas Management, Harrisburg, PA, 2011). Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection
- 249. Bureau of Oil and Gas Management, *Pennsylvania's Plan for Addressing Problem Abandoned Wells and Orphaned Wells* (550-800-001, Harrisburg, PA, 2000).
- 250. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Second Year Growing Greener II Report," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Harrisburg, PA, 2007).
 ">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/server.pt?open=18&objID=503089&mode=2>">http://www.portal.state.pa.us/server.pt
- 251. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Third Year Growing Greener II Report," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Harrisburg, PA, 2008). <<u>http://www.portal.state.pa.us/portal/server.pt?open=18&objID=503088&mode=2</u>>
- 252. Department of Community and Economic Development, *Orphan or Abandoned Well Plugging Program Guidelines* (Harrisburg, PA, 2013).

- 253. New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, *Well Permit Issuance for Horizontal Drilling And High-Volume Hydraulic Fracturing to Develop the Marcellus Shale and Other Low-Permeability Gas Reservoirs* (Albany, NY, 2009).
- 254. "Clean Streams Law." in 35. (U.S.A., 1987), chap. §§ 691.1 et seq.
- 255. M. Andersen, R. Coupal, paper presented at the National Meeting of the American Society of Mining and Reclamation, Billings, MT, 2009.
- 256. Cabot Oil & Gas Corporation, "Exhibit B: Summary of Cabot's Good Faith Efforts." (Cabot Oil & Gas Corporation 2010).
- 257. J. Boyd, "Financial Responsibility for Environmental Obligations: Are Bonding and Assurance Rules Fulfilling Their Promise?," (Resources for the Future, Washington, DC, 2001). < <u>www.rff.org/documents/RFF-DP-01-42.pdf</u>>
- 258. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Assessment of Pennsylvania's Bonding Program for Primacy Coal Mining Permits," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection Office of Mineral Resources Management Bureau of Mining and Reclamation, Harrisburg, PA, 2000). <<u>http://www.dep.state.pa.us/dep/deputate/minres/bmr/bonding/</u>>
- 259. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, "2010 National Priority Review – Adequacy of Bonding in the Approved Pennsylvania Program," (U.S. Office of Surface Mining Reclamation and Enforcement, Pittsburgh, PA, 2010). <<u>http://www.arcc.osmre.gov/Divisions/PFD/PDFs/2010/2010_Pennsylvania_Bonding_A</u> <u>dequacy_Study.pdf</u>>
- 260. U.S. General Accounting Office, "Surface Mining: Difficulties in Reclaiming Mined Lands in Pennsylvania and West Virginia," (General Accounting Office, Washington, DC, 1986). <<u>http://www.gao.gov/products/RCED-86-221></u>
- 261. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Conventional Bonding for Land Reclamation - Coal," (Department of Environmental Protection Bureau of Mining and Reclamation, Harrisburg, PA, 2006). <<u>http://www.elibrary.dep.state.pa.us/dsweb/Get/Document-72980/Draft%20563-2504-001.pdf</u>>
- 262. STATOIL, "Marcellus shale gas." 2010: Web
- 263. Department of Conservation of Natural Resources, *OIL AND GAS LEASE FOR STATE FOREST AND PARK LANDS, 2007 Standard Oil and Gas Lease* (Harrisburg, PA, 2007).
- 264. Department of Conservation of Natural Resources, *Gov. Rendell says responsible* planning generates \$128.4 million from state forest land lease, safeguards natural resources (Harrisburg, PA, 2010).

- 265. E. Q. T. Production, "Marcellus Decline Curve." in Events & Presentations. (2011).
- 266. D. Koplow, A. Martin, "Fueling Global Warming: Federal Subsidies to Oil in the United States," (Industrial Economics Inc, Cambridge, MA, 1998). http://archive.greenpeace.org/climate/oil/fdsuboil.pdf
- 267. A. V. Hager, K. L. Shaw, "Idle and Deserted Wells: Who Plugs and Who Pays?" in Proceedings of the Annual Institute of the Rocky Mountain Mineral Law Foundation. (1999), vol. 45
- 268. U.S. General Accounting Office, "Alaska's North Slope Requirements for Restoring Lands After Oil Production Ceases," (U.S. General Accounting Office, Washington, DC, 2002). <<u>http://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-02-357</u>>
- 269. J. A. Tarr, *Devestation and Renewal: An Environmental History of Pittsburgh and Its Region*. (University of Pittsburgh Press, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 2003).
- 270. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Production Reports 2003-2011," (Office of Oil and Gas Management, Harrisburg, PA, 2011). Commonwealth of Pennsylvania accessed on October 19, 2011
- 271. Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission, "Marginal Wells: Fuel For Economic Growth," (The Interstate Oil and Gas Compact Commission Oklahoma City, OK, 2008). <<u>www.energy.psu.edu/swc/news/2008-Marginal-Well-Report.pdf</u>>
- 272. The Energy Resources Conservation Board, *Directive 006 Licensee Liability Rating* (*LLR*) *Program and License Transfer Process* (Calgary, 2009).
- 273. The Ministry of Energy and Resources, *Guideline PD-G01: Saskatchewan Licensee Liability Rating (LLR) Program Guideline* (Saskatchewan, 2010).
- U.S. General Accounting Office, "Surface Mining Cost and Availability of Reclamation Bonds," (U.S. General Accounting Office, Washington, DC, 1988).
 <<u>http://www.gao.gov/products/PEMD-88-17</u>>
- 275. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, *Consent Order and Settlement Agreement Cabot Oil & Gas* (Harrisburg, PA, 2010).
- 276. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "Financial Assurance and Bond Adjustments for Mine Sites with post-mining Discharges," (Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection 2007). <<u>http://www.elibrary.dep.state.pa.us/dsweb/Get/Document-64460/563-2504-450.pdf</u>>
- 277. J. F. Shogren, J. A. Herriges, R. Govindasamy, Limits to environmental bonds. *Ecological Economics* **8**, 109-133 (1993).